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Ricardo is a leading provider of product innovation, technology, engineering and strategic consulting. 
Our advanced and well-equipped technical centres in the US, Europe and Asia serve a wide and 
balanced customer base which includes the world’s leading automakers, vehicle component and system 
manufacturers, government agencies and industry regulatory bodies. Ricardo has an enviable record for 
research-led product innovation and programme delivery expertise, which is deployed across a range of 
market sectors, including passenger car, motorcycle, commercial vehicle, off highway, marine, military, 
locomotive, and motorsport. We are also increasingly active in related markets such as new energy, 
power generation and transportation & infrastructure planning.

With a clear focus on delivering profit-enhancing “clean-tech” solutions, Ricardo addresses all the current 
core automotive industry drivers of international competition, globalisation and the developing power 
of the emerging economies, climate change, safety and maximisation of natural energy resources. Two 
key imperatives face the industry: the reduction of exhaust pollutants as regulators world-wide seek to 
improve air quality, and the improvement of vehicle fuel economy with the aim of both reducing global 
CO2 emissions and making best use of the earth’s finite oil reserves. These, along with automotive safety, 
provide the greatest impetus for Ricardo’s self-funded research programme. Along with our proven ability 
to attract the best of industry talent, it is this research programme that has seen Ricardo maintain its 
technical edge. The fruit of this consistent innovation may be seen in the leading worldwide brand position 
Ricardo now occupies in the development of advanced clean diesel technology, hybrid vehicle systems, 
fuel efficient gasoline engines, efficient transmission systems  – including dual clutch technology – and 
vehicle electronic systems integration.

Our commitment is to excellence and professionalism in all we do, and our industry leadership in 
technology and knowledge is primarily attributable to our most important asset – the Ricardo team of 
highly qualified multi-disciplined professional engineers, strategic consultants and technicians. Together, 
our vision is to be the first-choice partner for our clients in all sectors: and to deliver this we rely on the 
professional excellence and commitment of the entire Ricardo organisation.
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Five year performance record 2003
UK GAAP

£m

2004
UK GAAP

£m

2005
IFRS

£m

2006
IFRS

£m

2007
IFRS

£m

Revenue 136.6 146.2 158.1 171.9 171.5

Underlying profi t before tax 16.1 1.8 8.6 10.8 12.2

Profi t before tax 15.8 (2.8) 8.6 14.5 12.2

Net assets 64.9 56.2 36.7 50.1 61.7

pence pence pence pence pence

Earnings per share 24.8p (2.6)p 14.8p 24.0p 29.6p

Dividends per share (paid and proposed) 9.0p 9.0p 9.0p 9.4p 10.0p

The years ended 30 June 2005, 2006 and 2007 have been prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The two years ended 30 
June 2004 have been prepared under UK GAAP, and exclude the FRS 17 pensions defi cit from net assets.

Profi t before tax and earnings per share for 2006 include the eff ect of a pensions credit of £3.7m due the capping of future increases in pensionable sala-
ries to RPI.  Profi t before tax and earnings per share under UK GAAP include the eff ects of exceptional redundancies and goodwill amortisation.

Financial Highlights

Revenue level £171.5m

Underlying profi t before tax (excluding pensions credit £3.7m - 2006) increased  13% to £12.2m

Profi t before tax (including  pensions credit £3.7m - 2006) reduction  16% to £12.2m

Earnings per share increased  23% to 29.6p

Dividends per share (paid and proposed) increased 6.4% to 10.0p

Underlying profi t before tax (£m)

14.5

Profi t before tax(£m)

8.6

(2.8)

15.816.1

1.8

8.6

10.8

2006 20072005200420032006 2007200520042003

12.212.2 18.8

Underlying earnings per share (p)

14.8

4.3

25.4

2006200520042003 2007

29.6

24.0

Earnings per share (p)

14.8

(2.6)

24.8

2006200520042003 2007

29.6

Signifi cant retrospective R&D tax credits drove an overall taxation benefi t shown in the income statement of £2.9m (2006: a taxation charge of £2.3m), 
also with a positive impact on earnings per share.
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“Global business 

development 

continues with 

further order book 

growth in overseas 

markets”.

Chairman’s Statement
Marcus Beresford CBE

I am pleased to report that the last year has been 
characterised by three things. Firstly, the strategy 
put in place in the previous year by our Chief 
Executive Officer, Dave Shemmans, has proved to 
be well founded and is bearing fruit.  Secondly, the 
increasingly important issues of emissions reduction 
and new energy are areas of core strength for 
Ricardo and the team has responded well to the 
new challenges.  Thirdly, we have made a number 
of key new appointments during the year and a 
stronger team  is now in place to take the business 
on to the next level.

In Europe, the UK business performed strongly and 
it is pleasing to see our German business developing 
following investment in its human and capital 
resources.  The US and Ricardo Strategic Consulting 
businesses performed better in the second half, 
after reduced order books in the first half.

Ricardo has continued its order book growth 
in the markets it serves, not just in the western 
hemisphere but also in the Far East, particularly 
in Japan.  As expected, SAIC Motor Company Ltd 
exercised their option to take ownership of Ricardo 
2010 to further develop their engineering capability 
for their home market.

Financial Performance and Dividend
This year, the financial year to 30 June 2007, 
underlying profit before tax increased to £12.2m, 
compared to £10.8m in the previous year 
(underlying profit before tax, excluding last year’s 
pensions credit). Earnings per share has increased 
to 29.6p compared to 24.0p last year (18.8p 
underlying, excluding the pensions credit), due in 
part to significant retrospective R&D tax credits.

We are pleased to be able to recommend an 
increase in the final dividend to 7.1p per share, 
compared to the previous year of 6.7p per share. 
Together with the interim dividend of 2.9p, and 
2.7p in the previous year, this represents an 
increase of 6.4%.    

People
In October 2006 we were delighted to welcome 
Paula Bell to the Board of Directors as Group 
Finance Director.  Her prior experience with 
Rolls Royce plc, AWG plc and BAA plc will be very 
valuable to Ricardo. Jeremy Holt resigned from 
Ricardo, Inc. and the Board of Directors in May 
2007, and we thank him for his commitment over 
the years to getting Ricardo established in the US 
marketplace.  He has been replaced as President of 
Ricardo, Inc. by Dean Harlow, previously at General 
Motors and with extensive experience in the US and 
Chinese marketplaces. There have been a number 
of other important promotions and recruitments 
during the year, some of which are covered in 
the Business Review in this document.  These are 
already making a significant contribution in leading 
Ricardo towards our strategic growth targets.  

Ricardo has a strong order book and the outlook is 
positive.  As usual, there is plenty of challenge and 
opportunity ahead.  Ricardo’s success is absolutely 
dependent on the skill, flair and dedication of its 
teams around the world.  My thanks, and those of 
the Board, go to them all.

Marcus Beresford
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Roads2HyCom

With the increasingly pressing global issues of climate 
change, energy security and oil and gas reserves which 
are both diminishing and subject to surging demand 
from emerging economies, it is unsurprising that 
automakers, governments and energy companies 
alike are researching the potential of hydrogen for 
the future energy needs of both transport and small 
stationary power applications.  A major imperative 
of the European Commission in this respect is to 
ensure that such research efforts are coordinated in 
an effective manner throughout the EU.  In particular, 
the Commission wishes to ensure that the next stage 
of large-scale demonstration projects, to be known as 
‘Hydrogen Communities’, are planned in such a way as 
to ensure the best outcome in terms of research results 
and value for money for the European tax payer.

A Hydrogen Community is a group of bodies or legal 
entities who have a common interest in hydrogen 
and related fuel cell technologies as potential users, 
suppliers or conveyors, and who together constitute 
a cluster of inter-related and mutually supportive 
activities.  In practice such Communities could be 
regions, cities, remote locations such as islands, or 
self-contained entities such as airports and industrial 
complexes.  The Roads2HyCom project was 

established in October 2005 to coordinate hydrogen 
and fuel cell technology research at a European level 
and advise the European Commission in its task of 
planning the Hydrogen Communities demonstration 
projects.  Ricardo was chosen to lead the initiative, 
which brings together a total of 29 partners from the 
energy and transportation industries as well as from 
a range of related sectors. This high profile position 
represents a significant opportunity to showcase 
Ricardo’s expertise.

In essence, Roads2HyCom is a high level advisory 
body designed to provide the best possible data on 
which planning of the future of European hydrogen 
research can be based. Its overarching brief is to set 
future strategy for bringing hydrogen and fuel cell 
technology closer to market by investing in research, 
and its findings are tailored both for decision-makers 
and for specialists in the field of hydrogen fuel cell 
research.  In its initial work, the research efforts 
of over 400 organisations have been collated and 
analysed to discover what work is being done, who is 
doing it and who funds it.  

It is well documented that on a well-to-wheels basis, 
today’s hydrogen-powered vehicles are barely more 

The selection of Ricardo to lead this important Europe-wide 

initiative is a testament to its reputation for anticipating 

future technology trends, and having solutions in place 

to meet them

Charting Europe’s Hydrogen Future
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efficient than those powered by a modern diesel 
engine.  However if the hydrogen fuel is generated 
from renewable or carbon-captured sources, and 
the fuel cell technology reaches its potential, it is 
potentially a zero CO2 emissions solution.  The 
identification of the most efficient and sustainable 
means to produce hydrogen is therefore a key 
issue, and there are numerous possibilities, including 
generation through wind, solar, nuclear, geothermal 
energy, or from coal with carbon capture.  For 
intermittent energy sources such as wind turbines in 
particular, the manufacture of hydrogen also offers 
the prospect of providing a valuable means of energy 
storage. Other key issues of active and current 
research include the mechanisms for distribution of 
hydrogen fuel, as issues of storage, particularly for 
vehicular applications. 

The selection of Ricardo to lead this important 
Europe-wide initiative is a testament to its reputation 
for anticipating future technology trends, and having 
solutions in place to meet them. The company 
won leadership of this project not least due to its 
established track record in technology planning 
and strategy.  Ricardo has developed and applies 
world-class processes in technology road mapping 

and planning, and was able to demonstrate to the 
Commission that these would be of immense benefit 
in sifting and analysing the vast quantity of information 
available – much of it contradictory – in the field of 
hydrogen and fuel cells.

The early work of Roads2HyCom demonstrates 
that given the current state of the technology and 
associated economics, it is highly probable that 
the earliest practical applications of the hydrogen 
fuel cell will be for stationary power.  Whatever 
the application however, it is highly probable that 
Ricardo’s involvement in fuel cell development 
– particularly in the company’s specialist area of 
system integration and control – will be central to the 
development of future technological solutions both in 
Europe as well as globally.

An initial focus of the project has been 
the collation and analysis of the hydrogen 
research efforts of over 400 organisations 
worldwide, including those of major 
automakers such as Ford and Roads2HyCom 
members Daimler Chrysler and Fiat.
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In almost all aspects of Ricardo’s business, an 
understanding both of the future drivers of the 
markets in which its customers operate, and of the 
likely development of the technologies on which 
those customers’ products are based, are crucial 
inputs to effective strategic management in an 
increasingly competitive world.  

With many predicting a new dawn for fuel-efficient 
cars in the face of concerns over global warming 
and energy security, Ricardo and international 
investment bank UBS carried out an extensive 
programme of research aimed at charting the key 
automotive battleground of the US market.  The 
project was carried out as a close collaboration 
between representatives of the Technology and 
Strategic Consulting teams of Ricardo and the 
Global Equity Research team of UBS.  Drawing 
upon the extensive technology road mapping 
and futuring work of Ricardo and the expertise in 
international equity markets of UBS, the research 
project set out to provide insights to the corporate 
investment community regarding the potential 
automotive investment opportunities arising from 
the increasing interest in fuel-efficient technologies.

Published on 24 May 2007, the report was given 
widespread coverage by the news media.  Its 
conclusions were controversial but well argued: 
challenging the broad consensus outlook which 
had long held that hybrids were the future for 
the US market, the report forecast that diesel, 
all but ignored for 20 years, has a pivotal role to 
play.  The Financial Times could not have summed 
things up better with its headline: Hybrid cars 
face challenge from new diesel breed. But while 
the report does indeed predict that sales of diesel 
cars will significantly outstrip those of hybrids in 
North America by 2012, it includes good news for 
the proponents of both clean diesels and gasoline 
hybrids. 

Gasoline-hybrid powertrains already benefit from 
some regulatory and commercial advantages in the 
US. They are fully compliant with strict tailpipe 
emissions regulations (such as for particulates and 
NOx) and perhaps equally importantly, hybrids 

also allow owners to visibly demonstrate their 
green credentials thanks to the extensive positive 
publicity surrounding the technology. Hybrids also 
avoid the stigma of ‘dirty diesel’ in the minds of US 
consumers and can be filled at normal gas station 
pumps: in many US filling stations, the diesel pump 
infrastructure is laid out for commercial vehicles. In 
evaluating which type is right for a given driver or a 
given OEM’s target market however, the intended 
duty cycle is the determining factor. For an urban 
delivery vehicle or a small city car perennially stuck 
in stop-and-go traffic, a stop/start system may 
well in itself generate significant fuel savings. For a 
more varied pattern of usage, a mild- or full-hybrid 
powertrain may be more appropriate, whereas 
for predominantly high-speed freeway operation 
hybridisation may have little or no benefit. This 
sensitivity of fuel efficiency to duty cycle is at least 
in part the reason for some of the controversy in 
the US surrounding unfulfilled public expectations of 
hybrid fuel economy. 

The modern diesel powertrain offers consumers 
some significant advantages over its gasoline 
counterpart. It can offer similar real-world fuel 
economy to a gasoline hybrid and can even exceed 
this for users who drive predominantly long 
distances at high speed in freeway conditions. It 
also has a superior torque characteristic to gasoline 
engines, which gives a more responsive fun-to-
drive experience; additionally, it provides better 
towing performance. As a result, modern diesels 
often outshine their gasoline equivalents not just on 
fuel economy, but on acceleration performance. 
If recent trends continue as expected, this 
performance gap with gasoline may well increase 
further, banishing once and for all the idea that 
diesels sacrifice performance for fuel economy. 

One of the biggest obstacles to diesel in the US will 
be in meeting the stringent tailpipe NOx emissions 
standards. However as research and development 
work by Ricardo and others has shown, the US 
Tier 2 standards are achievable for diesels using the 
latest generation of fuel injection systems, advanced 
air handling such as two-stage inter-cooled turbo-
charging, and NOx aftertreatment such as lean NOx 

Hybrids and diesels: a fuel-effi  cient future for North America

Understanding Technologies and Markets
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trap (LNT) or selective catalytic reduction (SCR) 
technologies. While there is considerable debate 
as to which NOx aftertreatment system will take 
precedence in the US market, it appears clear that 
the challenges of each (including, for example, the 
implementation of a urea distribution network for 
the SCR technology currently favoured in Europe) 
can be overcome.

Ricardo and UBS present the case that the 
conditions are right for a boom in demand for both 
clean diesels and gasoline hybrids in the US. Growth 
is predicted from the current level of 800,000 
(545,000 diesel and 255,000 hybrid) to 2.7 million 
units in 2012 (15 per cent market share). Of this 
total, diesel sales (1.5 million) are predicted to 
outstrip hybrids (1.2 million) for the simple reason 
that while both offer similar fuel economy, the 
diesel comes at a lower cost to the consumer:  even 
with US compliance technology included, the clean 
diesel’s cost penalty versus a standard gasoline car is 
half that carried by a gasoline hybrid. 

The pace of uptake is likely to depend on a 
multiplicity of factors and will be strongly influenced 
by fuel prices and other macro-economic 
developments. In this particular battleground, 
therefore, Ricardo and UBS predict that both low-
carbon powertrain technologies will emerge as 
winners. 

Ricardo and UBS present the case that the conditions 

are right for a boom in demand for both clean diesels 

and gasoline hybrids in the US
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Greaves engine and transmission

Serving Emerging Markets

The emerging markets of Asia and in particular, of 
India and China, are increasingly important to the 
core business of Ricardo. The company’s customer 
base in these markets includes the overseas 
subsidiary operations of the world’s leading 
automakers and their associated local suppliers, 
but increasingly it numbers many of the emerging 
domestic suppliers too. This sector presents its 
own unique challenges but the application of the 
‘One Ricardo’ approach, leveraging resources in an 
appropriate manner from throughout the Ricardo 
divisions, can enable the company to offer high 
quality engineering incorporating an appropriate 
level of technology and practical value for money 
even in the most competitive of environments. 

Greaves – developing the Cheetah engine and 

transmission

Greaves Cotton Limited was established in 1859 
and remains one of India’s leading and most well-
diversified engineering companies. It manufactures 
a wide range of industrial products for a number 
of sectors such as diesel and gasoline engines, 

generator sets, and agricultural and 
construction 

equipment. One of the core markets for Greaves is 
in the manufacture and sale of small diesel engines 
for low cost, light commercial vehicles, a sector 
in which it is market leader by volume. Small 
commercial vehicles represent a significant part of 
the Indian automotive market in which there is a 
clear trend towards four-wheeled vehicles in place 
of the ubiquitous three-wheelers which have long 
been a feature of Indian roads.

In 2004 Greaves approached Ricardo with a 
requirement to produce a completely new two-
cylinder diesel engine to be known as ‘Cheetah’. 
The Cheetah would need to be of a modular design 
so as to enable a single cylinder derivative to be 
offered in the three-wheeler sector, replacing 
a previous single-cylinder design. In addition to 
increased power, the Cheetah engine was to offer 
good fuel economy, improved standards of NVH 
(noise, vibration and harshness), and crucially, 
low emissions. This last requirement arose 
from the fact that the category into which these 
vehicles fall is required to be homologated to the 
Indian Bharat Stage 3 emissions regulations (the 
equivalent of Euro 3) for sales in the major cities and 
conurbations of India. 

For such a low cost utility vehicle application it was 
of crucial importance to Greaves that the product 
design would achieve its full functional specification 
while at the same time offering low cost of 
manufacture. Moreover, it was also extremely 
important that the design programme itself offered 
value for money as well as the opportunity for 
technology transfer from Ricardo, itself a major 
development objective of Greaves.

Responding to these challenging requirements 
Ricardo established a programme which enabled 
Greaves to draw upon an appropriate mix of 
engineering staff, resources and technologies from 
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across the company. The initial concept design 
was carried out at the Shoreham Technical Centre 
by some of Ricardo’s most experienced engine 
designers. Once this stage was concluded and the 
basic elements of the design were set, the project 
was transferred to the Prague Technical Centre 
and underwent a comprehensive and thorough 
optimisation using computer aided design (CAD) 
and computer aided engineering (CAE) methods 
in a similar manner to any mainstream automotive 
engine programme. The detailed design work was 
carried out using 3D CAD and CAE tools such as 
Ricardo WAVE and VECTIS were used to refine 
the combustion system and ensure that durability 
targets were met. Prague offers seamless integration 
and an identical level of service to the other Ricardo 
technical centres. Greaves engineers were based at 
the secure project office within the Prague Technical 
Centre, both to assist with the programme and 
benefit from training and other technology transfer 
activities. The participative consultancy approach 
helped manpower availability for the project and, 
with the setting up of Greaves state-of-the-art 
Technology Centre in India, major optimisation, 
durability and vehicle packaging tasks were also 
conducted in India.

A year into the Cheetah programme Greaves also 
commissioned Ricardo to design a new five-speed 
automotive transmission to be used both with an 
existing product as well as with the Cheetah engine. 
With the strong Ricardo transmissions capability 
at Prague it was possible to resource the entire 
programme for this product from the local Ricardo 
organisation. For development testing, facilities at 
both the Ricardo Shoreham and Midlands technical 
centres in the UK were used. Care was taken 
to ensure that the needs of a Euro 3 equivalent 
programme were met through the use of the lowest 
cost, appropriate technology facilities available. 

With the formal opening on 7 August 2007 of 
the brand new Greaves engine and transmission 
production plant at Aurangabad, India, which 
will manufacture the Cheetah engine and its 
transmission, the programme is now in its final 
stages and moving towards production. The 
resulting Cheetah engine is likely to be an ideal 
product for the markets in which Greaves 
operates. It is an all aluminium structure, two-
cylinder, 15kw, 900cc engine with low cost direct 
injection equipment and closed-loop exhaust gas 
recirculation. It provides a robust, fuel-efficient and 
cost-effective solution which will prove a compelling 
offering in this highly competitive market.   With 
its wet liner design incorporating primary balancer 
shafts, the engine and its automotive-style 
transmission will offer a much improved driving 
experience for customers too.  As such it is 
highly likely that following market launch in 2008, 
Ricardo’s services will be in demand from a number 
of Greaves’ potential global customers requiring 
assistance with the integration of the Cheetah into 
many new products. 

For such a low cost utility vehicle application it was of 

crucial importance to Greaves that the product design 

would achieve its full functional specifi cation while at the 

same time off ering low cost of manufacture.

‘Three-wheelers - so long a familiar 
feature of Indian roads - are being 
increasingly superseded by four 
wheeled vehicles. Engines such 
as the Greaves Cheetah (main 
image) therefore look set to find an 
attractive market’
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Since its first launch in 1989, the Dodge Viper 
established itself as arguably the ultimate American 
sports car. In a legend which continues, the 2008 
model year Viper incorporates an 8.4 litre engine 
delivering a massive 600 horsepower, thanks in 
part to the assistance provided by Ricardo in the 
redesign of the Viper’s awesome V10 power unit.

The Ricardo team worked alongside their colleagues 
in Chrysler’s SRT (Street and Racing Technology) 
division at the American company’s headquarters 
in Auburn Hills, Michigan. The integration was 
seamless: ‘When we brought in the guys, they 
became part of the Viper team and that was their 
identity’, explains Kraig Courtney, SRT engine team 
supervisor. The selection of Ricardo as project 
partner undoubtedly owed much to the success 
of previous collaborations with Chrysler – on both 
the 5.7 litre V8 HEMI™ engine and more recently 
on its 6.1 litre SRT version. The latter project was 
undertaken with the SRT division, and particularly 
demonstrated the ability of Ricardo engineers to 
emulate the imaginative, race-team ethos of their 
Chrysler colleagues. Another positive, according 
to Dick Winkles, SRT supervisor for engine 
development and testing, was the known capacity of 
Ricardo personnel to ‘hit the ground running’. 

Originally conceived as an evolutionary upgrade, the 
project soon became – partly thanks to Ricardo’s 
creative input – a thoroughgoing revision of the V10 
architecture: only three small engine parts were left 
unaltered. Among the features of the redesigned 
engine are stronger connecting rods and pistons, 
a new oil circuit, improved water jacket design for 
better cooling, and a completely new cylinder head. 

The rationale for the new cylinder head was in 
accordance with the tried-and-tested racing formula 
that an increase in the intake and output of air, 
mixed with the correct amount of fuel, will generate 
more power. Since its showroom debut, sheer 
engine power has been the key to the Viper’s strong 
consumer appeal, and it was vital that the redesign 
met this expectation.

A particular challenge – partly arising from the 
requirement to meet more stringent US emissions 
regulations – was to reduce the instance of engine 
misfire when idling, a common problem with larger, 
high power engines. Various available solutions were 
considered but the one adopted was a Variable 
Valve Timing (VVT) system based on an articulated 
camshaft. This innovative VVT concept uses two 
concentric camshafts, thus making it particularly 
suited to push-rod engines such as the Viper V10, 
which cannot easily accommodate twin camshafts.  
The system allows the intake and exhaust valves 
to be separately phased and electronically adjusted 
together with fuel injection, thus enabling improved 
breathing and clean, efficient combustion under all 
conditions.

Ricardo engineers played an important part in the 
application of this new technology to the Viper 
engine redesign. The VVT system offers several 
options for independent phasing but for the Viper 
V10 engine the decision was made to vary exhaust 
valve timings only. Development testing validated 
this approach as being the most cost-effective way 
to avoid roughness when the engine is idling while 
maximizing performance at high speed.

Helping Chrysler take the Dodge Viper to 600 hp

Powering a Premium Product
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The new Dodge Viper’s 8.4 litre engine develops 
600 hp at 6100 revs per minute – 90 hp up on 
the previous model – and produces 760 Nm of 
torque at 5000 revs per minute. This represents 
an exceptional specific output of 72 hp per litre, 
which enables the car to reach 60 mph in less 
than four seconds, and – under test conditions 
– to achieve a top speed of over 200 mph. These 
impressive figures bear testimony to a further 
successful collaborative endeavour for Ricardo, 
which has helped to set a new benchmark for high 
performance American sports cars.

The selection of Ricardo 

as project partner 

undoubtedly owed much 

to the success of previous 

collaborations with 

Chrysler
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Driveline and transmission systems for BAE Systems Hägglunds

Advanced Military Driveline Solutions

Ricardo has a well-earned reputation in the 
engineering, development and adaptation of high 
quality, advanced technology military vehicles in 
support of a wide range of leading defence sector 
clients.  Two such programmes are the SEP and SEP 
8X8 families of tracked and multi-wheel vehicles 
under development by Sweden’s Hägglunds, a 
subsidiary of BAE Systems plc.  BAE Systems 
Hägglunds AB is one of Europe’s largest and most 
successful manufacturers of armoured vehicles, 
infantry fighting vehicles and turret systems, and 
makes the successful BV series all-terrain vehicles 
with their innovative four-track drive layout.  For 
this demanding defence sector customer, Ricardo 
engineers have developed sophisticated driveline 
and traction power management solutions as well 
as assisting in vehicle integration and the design of 
suspension and steering systems.

The SEP programme
Developed jointly by the Swedish Defence Materiel 
Administration and BAE Systems Hägglunds, SEP 
is an innovative and highly advanced concept 
among next-generation tactical military vehicles. 
Interchangeable mission modules mean that the 
same basic mechanical platform can perform a 
wide variety of roles, while a range of traction 
configurations – including tracked, 6x6 and 8x8 
wheeled formats – ensure the optimum solution 
for each application.  Ricardo’s assistance has been 
in the design and engineering of an ultra compact 
cross-drive transmission system which drives the 
tracks via a diesel-electric hybrid system. In addition 
to its conventional duty, this system can also give 
the vehicle a stealth capability – running silently so 
as to escape detection in combat situations.

Ricardo’s expertise in hybrid systems for light 
vehicles provided useful read-across for this 
programme. SEP is configured as a series hybrid, 

with the diesel engine powering a generator which 
in turn supplies current for the motors powering 
the tracks or wheels. Early (tracked) concepts 
had a single large electric motor each side to 
provide steering control, but Ricardo were tasked 
with developing a more sophisticated mechanical 
arrangement utilising much more compact 
motors and power inverters to effect traction 
and steering control. This approach improved 
driving performance and eliminated the need for a 
large high current motor with massive torque for 
each side of the vehicle. The hybrid arrangement 
provides the added bonus of a generous supply of 
on-board power for future heavy electrical loads 
such as electric armour and weapons systems, and 
the cross-drive also includes the braking, lubrication 
and cooling systems.

The SEP family of vehicles is expected to be 
ordered in significant numbers for the Swedish 
army for service by 2014 and is already attracting 
the attention of military analysts and defence 
procurement agencies around the world seeking 
flexibility, engineering standardisation and cost-
effective future upgradeability in their next 
generations of tactical land systems.

The SEP 8X8 programme
The SEP 8X8 programme is for a larger and heavier 
8x8 military vehicle which follows on from the 
proven success of the SEP concept. An initiative, 
once again, of BAE Systems Hägglunds, SEP 8X8 
follows a similar architecture to SEP with twin 
engines but uses a novel mechanical driveline 
in place of the original series-hybrid electrical 
system. The SEP 8x8 is designed so as to meet all 
requirements for the Utility Vehicle requirement 
within the British Ministry of Defence’s Future 
Rapid Effects System (FRES) vehicle procurement 
programme.
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Features

1. Front [97053].indd   141. Front [97053].indd   14 20/9/07   16:49:2420/9/07   16:49:24



Ricardo was asked to take responsibility for the full 
driveline system and is also providing assistance 
in the areas of steering, suspension and braking 
design. For engineers in each of these domains 
the programme presented important challenges. 
Perhaps the most notable of these is the task of 
blending the outputs of the two diesel engines 
into the driveline, while at the same time allowing 
single-engine operation of the vehicle in the event 
of one power unit failing. With maximum versatility 
and flexibility being central to the Hägglunds vehicle 
concept, a key feature of SEP 8X8 is to provide as 
much uncluttered space in the interior of the vehicle 
as possible by locating the two engines in raised 
positions on each side at the front of the vehicle, 
thus leaving a large uninterrupted interior space for 
crew, communications systems, weapons or other 
payloads. 

The chosen solution was a summary differential 
combining the engines’ power outputs; this feeds 
in turn to a high-low transfer gearbox, with a high 
torque capacity in low range for severe terrain. The 
four drive axle units have locking differentials and 
incorporate a further novel feature: a special mode 
which makes left and right wheels turn in opposite 
directions, allowing the vehicle to turn about its own 
axis for exceptional manoeuvrability.

The SEP 8X8 programme has been implemented at 
short notice and with extreme rapidity by a group 
of elite engineers working with the benefit of the 
latest analytical and simulation techniques. From 
the initial discussions with BAE Systems Hägglunds 
in Sweden in October 2005 the design concept and 
supporting analyses were presented for a gateway 
review in February 2006. The go-ahead was then 
given to complete the design programme and supply 
working prototypes for the end of the year, with 
a further target to present complete vehicles for 
customer trials during 2007.  A potential customer 
for this highly innovative vehicle is the UK Ministry 
of Defence, which is gearing up for the multi-
billion pound light/medium armoured FRES vehicle 
procurement programme. 

The SEP and SEP 8X8 programmes are just 
two examples of the way in which Ricardo is 
bringing some of the most advanced automotive 
technologies and innovative engineering skill to 
bear on some of the most pressing transportation 
demands of today’s defence forces. 

The SEP 8X8 programme has been implemented at 

short notice and with extreme rapidity by a group of 

elite engineers working with the benefi t of the latest 

analytical and simulation techniques.
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Ricardo Motorsport

In another exciting year in motorsport, Ricardo again 
saw its customers achieving race-winning success 
at the very highest levels of competition. In this 
feature we describe just a few of Ricardo’s sporting 
successes, about which our customers have kindly 
allowed us to publish details. 

Ricardo transmissions help Mitsubishi 
to victory at Dakar
In January 2007 for the fifth year in succession a 
Ricardo transmission was used by Team Repsol 
Mitsubishi Ralliart in the successful defence of its 
winning position at Dakar, the world’s toughest and 
most famous off-road rally.  Stéphane Peterhansel 
and Jean-Paul Cottret of France won the event for 
the third time in four years, ahead of team mates 
and defending champions Luc Alphand and Gilles 
Picard by just seven minutes 26 seconds. The team’s 
two Mitsubishi Pajero/Montero Evolutions with 
their Ricardo transmissions had a winning margin of 
over 1.5 hours ahead of their third placed rival.  The 
gruelling Dakar rally took place over 15 days across 
Portugal, Morocco, Mauritania, Mali and Sénégal.

The Ricardo transmission used by the Mitsubishi 
Pajero/Montero Evolutions of Team Repsol 
Mitsubishi Ralliart is the third generation of the unit 
first introduced in 2002.  Updated year on year 
using the latest CAD systems and Computer Aided 
Engineering (CAE) technology such as Ricardo SABR 
transmission design package, the transmission is 
specifically designed for the intense and punishing 
operating loads typical of the Dakar rally.  These can 
include frequent airborne moments for example, 

which can generate huge loads as the inertia of a 
spinning drivetrain is absorbed in rapid deceleration 
as the vehicle regains contact with rocks or soft sand. 
In addition to being designed and manufactured by 
Ricardo, the company also provides technical back-
up to the team for the transmission throughout the 
season in order to ensure its faultless operation 
even in the most demanding of circumstances. As 
such the Mitsubishi Pajero/Montero Evolutions of 
Team Repsol Mitsubishi Ralliart and their advanced 
purpose-designed and event-supported Ricardo 
transmissions, make an impressive and winning 
combination. 

Stunning first Le Mans season for 
Peugeot 908 HDi FAP diesels
With wins in all three of the Le Mans series events 
in which they have competed and second place at 
the Le Mans 24 hours classic, the two 908 HDi FAP 
diesels of the Team Peugeot Total organisation have 
proved a stunning success in their debut season. 
The massive torque of the endurance performance 
V12 diesel provides possibly one of the greatest 
challenges in motorsports transmission engineering: 
to cope with these prodigious forces the Peugeot 
908 HDi FAP is equipped with an advanced bespoke 
gearbox designed and manufactured by Ricardo. 
The selection of Ricardo as transmissions partner 
was the least surprising aspect of this collaboration: 
Ricardo was perhaps uniquely experienced to 
design and develop such an advanced transmission, 
having been responsible for the transmissions which 
powered Audi to five Le Mans 24 hours victories in 
the past eight years. 

Winning Through Technology
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“The FIA is working closely with the automotive 

manufacturers to develop energy-effi  cient and 

environmentally relevant regulation changes for the 

future of Formula One. Ricardo has a vast amount of 

experience in automotive research and development 

and will be an invaluable addition to this process.”

Following victories at Monza in April and again 
at Valencia three weeks later in early May, Team 
Peugeot Total took second place at the gruelling Le 
Mans 24 hours, a particularly promising achievement 
for a team whose objective in contesting the world 
famous endurance classic this year was to gain 
valuable experience for its return in 2008.  With 
the first one-two finish for the two 908 HDi FAP 
diesels at the Nürburgring 1000km race on July 
1, this has been a spectacular start to their debut 
season. Reliability and performance are everything 
in endurance racing, something that Ricardo’s 
motorsport engineers know all about. 

Assisting with the present and future 
needs of Formula One
Ricardo is active in many aspects of Formula 
One, from the licensing of Ricardo Software 
products such as WAVE to leading race teams 
and manufacturers, through to the provision of 
engineering assistance and manufacture of bespoke 
driveline and transmission system precision 
components.  Many Formula One customers select 
Ricardo in order to utilise the company’s advanced 
manufacturing expertise, and hence value its 
commitment to investing in the latest manufacturing 
technology necessary for the production of the very 
ultimate in motorsports transmissions. 

In addition to supporting customers with their 
needs for the current season, Ricardo is also 
providing expertise and guidance regarding the 
future.  Drawing upon its extensive knowledge 
and expertise in hybrid powertrains for example, 

Ricardo is assisting those evaluating the use of 
Kinetic Energy Recovery systems which are 
allowed by the sport from 2009.  The company 
has also been appointed by motorsport’s 
international governing body, the FIA, to provide 
technical support and advice on the development 
of future regulations in the FIA Formula One 
World Championship to apply for the 2011 season 
and beyond. In particular, Ricardo will assist the 
FIA in the consideration and application of energy-
saving and environmentally efficient technologies. 
“The FIA is working closely with the automotive 
manufacturers to develop energy-efficient and 
environmentally relevant regulation changes for 
the future of Formula One” said FIA President Max 
Mosley. “Ricardo has a vast amount of experience 
in automotive research and development and will 
be an invaluable addition to this process.”  

- Max Mosely, FIA President
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Unprecedented change in a very 

dynamic automotive industry
In our 2006 Annual Report and Accounts we 
stated that: far from being a mature, static industry, 

one could consider the automotive sector to be in 

its global infancy, with opportunity and challenge 

abounding.

In 2007, this observation applies with even greater 
force:  environmental considerations, issues 
of energy security, shifts in market share and 
changes in developing markets have intensified 
still further – and are subject to continued global 
focus, expectation and scrutiny. The automotive 
industry (covering the passenger car, military, 
off-highway, motorsport, commercial vehicle and 
motorcycle sectors) continues to evolve as new 
company ownership structures arise; this includes, 
in particular, the advent of bold moves from 
private equity firms entering the marketplace. In 
such a competitive and dynamic sector that is so 
demanding in terms of legislation and consumer 
requirements, there are significant opportunities 
ready to be grasped by globally minded companies 
which can exploit leading-edge technology and 
provide value-enhancing innovation, particularly in 
the arena of efficient energy management.

Global warming, oil prices and 

energy security have become more 

than political agendas
Increasing education, greater press coverage and 
wider public discussion have meant that subjects 
that were previously confined to analysts, scientists 
and politicians have now become firmly established 
on the agenda of the general population worldwide. 
There is now a growing acceptance of these issues 
and of the catastrophic costs of not addressing them 

quickly enough. Oil prices remain high, instability 
continues in the oil-rich regions of the world and 
adverse climatic effects are increasingly linked 
to CO2 emissions:  these factors have prompted 
consumers worldwide to respond with different 
purchasing patterns and industry and governments 
to develop increasingly energy efficient automotive 
product portfolios and stricter emissions legislation 
respectively. Hybrid vehicles are now accepted as 
core products, alternative biofuels from a variety 
of sources are under evaluation and clean diesel 
technology is moving into the markets in the US 
and Asia that have historically resisted diesel. The 
momentum for technological change in this arena 
is significant: market share and corporate brand 
image benefits are available for the successful 
manufacturers, suppliers and engineering providers.

Consumers are demanding high 

quality, safe, feature-rich vehicles at 

no additional cost
In addition to the cost impact of introducing 
environmentally responsible technologies, vehicle 
manufacturers are also having to accept the reality 
of a competitive marketplace where the on-cost 
of innovation and feature content cannot always 
be passed on to the consumer. Quality and safety 
have moved quickly from being a differentiator on 
a brand-value level to an entry ticket expected by 
the marketplace. With continued governmental 
pressures worldwide to significantly reduce the 
number of road deaths, increases in active safety 
technology – where the avoidance of collisions is the 
central objective – will be commonplace on all levels 
of vehicles, not just those in the premium sector. 
Active safety is enabled by sophisticated electronics 
both on and off the vehicle. These systems allow 
the vehicle to interact with its surroundings, 
predict the road conditions and hazards it is likely 

Marketplace

“The industry off ers 

unprecedented levels 

of opportunity, change 

and challenge for 

those who have the 

technology, aspiration 

and speed of response”

Dave Shemmans Chief Executive
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to encounter, and then react to this information. 
The result is a safer driving experience. To absorb 
the cost of technology, vehicle manufacturers have 
to continually refine their development processes, 
supply bases and technical architectures. Technical, 
strategic and management consultancies are seeing 
increasing activity levels assisting in the resolution of 
this highly complex but essential profit equation.

Shifting market shares, developing 

markets and the exploitation of 

global suppliers are changing the 

global power base
As consumer demand and product education 
become more sophisticated, the marketing 
advantages of nationalistic sentiment are weakening, 
allowing a reduction in the barriers to geographical 
entry and market success for non-domestically 
owned manufacturers. Product performance, safety, 
price, quality and brand values are key features in 
the purchasing process: manufacturers who can use 
low cost bases and lean manufacturing processes to 
deliver great products with great environmental and 
driving performance are securing significant market 
share increases. 

Major players once considered as core operators in 
the market are finding previously dominant positions 
under threat and in some cases disappearing 
altogether. Japanese and Korean manufacturers have 
moved strongly into the global arena, with huge 
success. Chinese manufacturers are now hungry to 
do more than simply exploit their rapidly expanding 
domestic market: they have clear focus on export 
to Europe and the US. Indian manufacturers are 
following suit and Russian automotive companies 
are also active. With the advent of these rapidly 
developing markets, particularly in Asia, European 

and US manufacturers have looked to increase 
the volumes and the longevity of their products by 
extracting additional value from these regions. These 
western producers have positioned themselves as 
premium players of quality and have captured good 
market share against less mature players. 

The global marketplace is becoming homogenous, 
with few boundaries to those with global aspirations. 
Automotive manufacturers are becoming truly 
dispersed in terms of market, development centres 
and supply chains: against the background of such 
complexity, strategies for organisation, commonality, 
outsourcing and supplier footprint  are of the 
highest importance, as are fast-track and robust 
development processes. For the core players there 
is little alternative but to be very active in this global 
arena. The marketplace can only become more 
competitive as the developing regions expand 
and the new entrants on the world stage become 
more competent with higher quality vehicles from 
extremely low cost bases. 

Experienced and innovative 

engineers capable of solving the 

industry issues are in demand 
The global demand for high quality engineering 
resource, technology innovation and production-
feasible solutions is increasing. This demand is 
driven not only by the need to develop highly 
sophisticated products to meet the ever more 
stringent environmental and safety legislation, 
but also by consumer preferences for a broader 
portfolio of products and the increasing number 
of manufacturers now active in a very competitive 
global marketplace. Products for different regions 
of the world have different technical specifications, 
different legislation to meet, different supply 
chains and different competitive positions. With 
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an increasing number of manufacturers supplying 
into an increasing number of regional and product 
markets, and with an increasing number of products 
which have to be updated on a regular basis to 
meet fresh legislation, it is clear that the shortage 
in engineering resource and the resultant demand 
for fast-track assured programme delivery will 
continue for some time. Moreover, as developing 
regions look to catch up rapidly with their more 
mature counterparts, the buying in of technology 
and training rather than organic self development 
can be a more expedient route to becoming 
a competent player on the world stage. This 
provides opportunities for licensing and long term 
relationships for those companies with technology, 
experience and knowledge to offer. 

Other established and new markets 

seek the skills and resources of high 

quality automotive engineering
With a reputation for quality, innovation, energy 
efficiency, durability and low cost solutions, the 
automotive industry and those within it are seen 
as useful sources to assist with the development of 
other synergistic markets. Marine propulsion, power 
generation and industrial and consumer sectors 
have all for some time and to great effect tapped in 
to the internal combustion engine and transmission 
expertise within the automotive industry. With 
embedded software and power electronics having 
become  commonplace in automotive designs such 
as hybrids, new avenues of opportunity can open 
up: one example is the new energy sector where 
such expertise can be coupled with traditional 
combustion and transmissions know-how for 
distributed small scale power generation – be 
it from fuel cells, alternative biofuels, synthetic 
fuels or wind energy. As markets and sectors 
interact it is likely that new technical solutions and 
breakthroughs will be generated to the benefit of all.

The industry off ers unprecedented 

levels of opportunity, change and 

challenge for those who have the 

technology, aspiration and speed of 

response

Most industries tend to experience a change in 
only one of their core drivers at any one time. 
The automotive industry, however, is currently 
experiencing changes in five of its core drivers 
simultaneously: technical, legislative, geographical, 
market share and structural drivers are all changing 
at the same time. This is a period of unparalleled 
change in the 100-year history of the industry and, 
once again, our observation from 2006 applies with 
redoubled potency: far from being a mature, static 
industry, one could consider the automotive sector 
to be in its global infancy with opportunity and 
challenge abounding.
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The global premium deep content 

automotive consultancy 
To exploit the opportunities provided by the 
changing automotive landscape, in 2005 Ricardo 
put in place a new strategy and direction to firmly 
establish itself as “The global premium deep-content 
automotive consultancy”. The company continually 
reviews and enhances its strategy, its technology and 
its product offerings to ensure that Ricardo retains 
its position as the natural first choice at the heart of 
the value-added automotive consulting market. By 
applying its intellectual capital to industry issues and 
focusing on profit-enhancing solutions for the global 
automotive industry, Ricardo succeeds in delivering 
its mission to add value through innovation and 
technology, with professionalism in all it does.

Uniquely positioned with offerings ranging from 
blue chip management consultancy and strategic 
consulting to advanced research, model-year 
product development and post-production 
support, Ricardo can apply itself to solving the most 
challenging global strategic and delivery issues – and 
this applies equally well whether at the component/
system level (such as engine, transmission, driveline, 
electronics, chassis) or at the whole vehicle level. 
Ricardo prides itself on flexibility, innovation, 
technical excellence and fast-track assured delivery.

The current strategy and direction are essentially 
unchanged from those reported in detail in the 
2006 Annual Report and Accounts. The strategy 
of the business is built on four cornerstones which 
reflect the changing and challenging nature of the 
automotive industry: 
• Avoidance of cyclicality and dependency, whether 

that be geographical, technical or customer-
related. This ensures a balanced spread of activity, 
de-linking Ricardo performance from possible 
negative tendencies of any one specific area

• Focused growth through the careful analysis and 
selection of key sectors, geographies, products 
and customers. This offers a platform for 

sustained profitable growth with deep penetration 
potential, enabling Ricardo to bring increased 
value to those customers over an extended 
period of time

• In-demand services, offering a high value-added 
content, which bring the maximum benefit to 
the customer and Ricardo, always focusing on 
innovation in technology, delivery and strategy

• Low costs through global operation, using low-
cost regions of the world to extend the profitable 
life of products, enhance competitive position and 
also to maximise the profit on current products, 
whether that be with components or engineering 
resource

These four cornerstones of the strategy are 
delivered through an integrated framework 
of “Global”, “Premium brand”, “World class 
technologies and products”, “One firm”, 
“Right team, right culture” and “World class 
infrastructure”. We are pleased to report that there 
have been a number of significant events, which 
demonstrate the delivery of this strategy.

a) Global
The “Global” framework reflects the importance 
of being geographically diverse both from a market 
and from a delivery perspective. Ricardo facilities 
are matched to the region not only to ensure these 
facilities reflect customer needs for local engineering 
and liaison services but also to take advantage of the 
ever-changing global cost base and changing patterns 
in the supply of high quality engineering resource. 

The Shanghai office has expanded through the 
recruitment of local engineers and has obtained 
Wholly Owned Foreign Enterprise status, which 
now enables local engineering delivery into the 
Chinese client base. The Tokyo office has relocated 
and expanded to be closer to globally important 
Japanese customers and to realign itself with the 
growing levels of business opportunities as these 
customers adopt a wider outsourcing philosophy. 

Strategy

1

KPI regarding client dependency

Number of clients generating revenue for 
Ricardo exceeding 10% of revenue.

2

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007

2

KPI regarding geographical spread

Number of continents for which Ricardo 
revenue exceeds 20%.

3

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007
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We have increased our business levels from India 
in the year. Russia has also become a focus of 
attention, and on the back of this we have secured 
a number of good sized programmes. In the US 
we have changed leadership to provide a more 
entrepreneurial approach as we look to expand 
our activities and client base and address sectors, 
customers and geographies in the US which remain 
largely unexploited. 

The increased integration, value-added capability 
and focus on our business in Germany has continued 
bringing wider acceptance of Ricardo from the core 
German automotive client base. We have further 
expanded Ricardo’s Eastern European development 
centre in Prague, offering high-quality engineering 
and back-office services from a lower-cost base. 
In this vein the Chinese operation is also being 
developed to supplement engineering resource from 
an excellent academic, low-cost base. All engineers 
from these regions undergo long-term training 
and development to increase their experience and 
expertise, often including placements in a number of 
the other international divisions.

b) Premium brand
Ricardo’s “Premium brand” framework not only 
reflects the history, the professionalism of service 
and future direction of the company but also 
serves as a catalyst for new customers and enables 
Ricardo to recruit the very best of engineering and 
strategic consulting talent. It is a key part of the 
strategy to uphold the Ricardo brand by maintaining 
the highest professionalism in all actions and to 
promote the Ricardo brand more widely. Activities 
have been increased in areas such as white paper 
publication, technical presentations at congresses, 
exhibitions at industry conferences, the hosting of 
senior executive industry workshops, technology 
ride-and-drive events and articles and press releases 
across the world which maximise the publicity 
value of customer sanctioned programmes. Our 
publications, including our quarterly journal RQ, are 
now regularly translated into the many languages 
of our clients to ensure easy and professional 

accessibility. Furthermore, our continued 
investment in technology, thought leadership, 
recruitment and development of the best talent has 
positioned us as the world authority in many areas 
of expertise, competing with and winning against 
many of the most professionally respected names in 
the industry globally.

c) World class technologies and 

products
The framework for “World class technologies and 
products” is a key differentiator for Ricardo and 
one which benefits from internal investment and 
collaborative funding by international governments 
and clients alike. Innovation and technology are at 
the heart of the Ricardo value proposition and the 
excellence of delivery of this expertise is core to the 
Premium Brand. 

We have increased our investment in R&D and 
have continued the delivery, development and 
launch of world-leading innovative technology 
throughout the year. Specifically, these have been 
in the areas of low-emission diesel technology, 
fuel-efficient gasoline engines, low-cost dual 
clutch transmission technologies, advanced 
torque vectoring transmissions (as launched at the 
prestigious International CTI-Symposium in Berlin), 
performance diesel (as demonstrated in
 the DieselMax which broke the land speed 
record early in the financial year) and in 
sophisticated electronic architectures which enable 
advanced safety and driving enhancement features 
to be added to vehicles. 

In addition we continue to look at synergistic 
markets where we can apply these leading-edge 
technologies such as new energy markets, marine 
power, power generation, military vehicles, 
motorsport and more. We are also delighted 
to be supporting international motor racing’s 
governing body, the FIA, with technical advice on 
energy management systems to support the future 
regulations of F1 motorsport, again reinforcing 
Ricardo’s position at the centre of the automotive 
industry.

Ricardo Strategic Consulting is at the forefront 
of addressing some key challenges of our clients 
including product functionality and the cost of 
stringent emission and fuel economy legislation. 
Working together, our strategy and technical 
consulting teams provide unparalleled ability to 
address both the technical challenges and costs 
associated with warranty which allow us to assist 
clients with managing down the life cycle costs of 
products and improve quality and reliability. We are 
also helping clients grow their businesses through 
new market entry strategies, through support of 

Order intake by sector 
(year ended 30 June 2007)

58%

14%

28% Commercial
Vehicle

Special 
Vehicles

Passenger 
Car

Order intake by 
geographical source
(year ended 30 June 2007)

53%

21%

26% Asia

USA

Europe

 

28
Order intake by customer
(year ended 30 June 2007)

1. Global key customer 1
2. Global key customer 2
3. Global key customer 3 
4. Asian key customer 1
5. Asian key customer 2
6. Asian key customer 3
7. European key customer 1
8. European key customer 2
9. European key customer 3

10. Rest of Europe 
11. Rest of USA
12. Rest of Asia
13. Rest of Japan
14. Rest of China

1

2

3

4

5
6

7
89

12

13
14

10

11
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8

KPI regarding Premium brand

Customer Satisfaction using customer satisfaction 

ratings out of ten across a range of measures

year to 30 June 2007

their evaluation of mergers and acquisitions, new 
technology and new market evaluation. Ricardo 
provides deep industry knowledge and a strong 
emphasis upon delivering tangible results building 
our reputation as people who make a significant 
contribution to our clients businesses.

d) One fi rm
For a globally operating organisation, both in terms 
of market and delivery, Ricardo has adopted a “One 
firm” approach to reflect the need for flexibility, 
teamwork, speed and global mobility. All these 
are enablers for geographical growth and global 
connectivity. In respect of business development 
and order winning, all divisions across the group 
have been re-aligned into a common market-facing 
organisational structure made up of key product 
groups, led by a Global Product and Engineering 
Director, who ensures that we drive the business 
globally both from a product perspective and from a 
geographical perspective. In addition, his mission is 
to drive through efficiency and quality directives in 
our engineering functions. There are also increased 
levels of interdivisional delivery of programmes 
and the sharing of leads and mobility of staff – all 
contributing to greater business volumes, improved 
speed, effectiveness, efficiency and communications, 
and clearer career paths for staff. We have also 
aligned our marketing activities to ensure that good 
news is shared in all of our active markets and not 
restricted to domestic locations. 

e) Right team, right culture
Underpinning all of the above is the core strength 
of Ricardo – its people. This is encapsulated in our 
strategy of “Right team, right culture”. For any 
professional services business it is imperative that 
the company should recruit the best, retain the 
best and develop the best within an environment of 
“One firm” teamwork. 

We continue to have success in recruiting the 
best talent, as evidenced in the year by the strong 
additions to the senior management team in the 
form of a new Group Finance Director, a new 
President of Ricardo US, and new Group Directors 

for IT and for HR. Over the last two years the 
senior leadership team has been strengthened 
significantly and the company has built a robust 
platform for growth, entrepreneurial drive and 
succession planning. We have also expanded and 
strengthened significantly the strategic, technical 
and delivery capability across the board, taking 
on high quality, internationally experienced 
engineers and consultants in the US, UK, Japan, 
China and Germany. As important as recruitment 
is the development of the existing team: here, 
we continue to develop the career paths through 
promotion, mentoring, coaching, redeployment, 
international mobility and training. Just as the global 
marketplace is becoming increasingly homogenous, 
so is Ricardo: the divisions around the world 
welcome team members from other divisions on a 
regular basis. 

f ) World class infrastructure

This, finally, is the machinery of our operations: it 
provides management, global connectivity, flexibility 
and responsiveness to the customers, employees 
and shareholders. Closely aligned to the “One Firm” 
and “Global” strategies, we have been streamlining 
our infrastructure where appropriate and 
expanding where required to ensure that we get 
the best return from our investments and prepare 
the business in order that it can truly operate 
globally in a controlled and effective way. We have 
strengthened the finance function globally with a 
number of external Divisional Finance Director 
appointments and have further developed our 
Group legal function and standardised many 
contracting processes. 

As with most functions, the underpinning tools are 
heavily IT-based and we are pleased to welcome 
our new IT Director whose experience and vision 
will not only help internally but also open up new 
avenues in the marketplace to deliver greater 
value to our customers. Through other parts of 
our strategy we are driving a growth agenda and 
our plan is to be ready to serve that agenda with 
professionalism in all we do.

9

KPI regarding technology dependency

Number of product groups exceeding 
£10m p.a. revenue

9

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007

8

year to 30 June 2006
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Research planning is a key element in Ricardo 
business strategy. A sophisticated process is used 
to guide and analyse internal investments to create 
added-value technologies with clear benefits. 
This process has proved popular with our 
customers, creating a premium service that can 
support research and product roadmap planning. 

The key global driver for the majority of Ricardo 
research has been the demand for lower carbon 
emissions; a demand which directly translates into 
improved fuel efficiency. The European Commission 
has recently announced plans to mandate lower 
fleet average fuel consumption from passenger cars 
sold in member states. A similar pattern is emerging 
in the United States, where the government is also 
now proposing a more regulated approach to lower 
fuel consumption in road transport. Japan, too, has 
set targets for improved fuel economy by 2010 and 
has also been the first to introduce fuel economy 
legislation for heavy-duty vehicles.

Another key driver that has been growing in priority 
for a number of years has been safety and security. 
Around 30-40,000 people are killed in road traffic 
accidents in both Europe and the US every year. 
Even more fatalities occur in developing countries 
such as China and India. There is no simple solution 
to improved safety: however, an integrated 
approach to driver training, road design and vehicle 
technology is emerging as the most likely approach 
to deliver real improvements. This has driven a 
need for so-called smart vehicles that can interact 
more intelligently with the driver and surrounding 
infrastructure and traffic, reducing travel times 
caused by congestion and also reducing the risk of 
collisions.

Most internally funded research at Ricardo now 
attracts collaborative support from automotive 
customers and sometimes involves additional 
government grant funding from the United 
States, Europe or the UK. The combined R&D 
programme at Ricardo is organised into a portfolio 
of Technology Platforms. These platforms align 
with key product areas and allow a more integrated 
approach. They have delivered some excellent 
results during the past year:

• Following on from initial single-cylinder tests, our 
low-NOx heavy duty diesel engine programme 
has now delivered emissions from a prototype 
multi-cylinder engine consistent with the Euro 6 
requirements scheduled for 2013, using a very 
advanced, flexible fuel injection system. 

• Our programme to develop an advanced light 
duty diesel combustion system compatible with 
the Tier 2 emissions requirements in the US 
has also made very good progress and has now 
been implemented in a driveable vehicle. This 

Research and Development

KPI regarding technology development

Research spend (£m) on research projects funded by 
Ricardo or part-funded by government grants

8.9
8.7

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007
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combines an innovative gas exchange system and 
advanced combustion and aftertreatment systems 
to deliver the minimum-cost solution for US Tier 
2 standards. This programme has proved to be a 
key factor in developing customer programmes in 
this field.

• Our fuel-efficient gasoline programme includes a 
switching 2-stroke to 4-stroke boosted gasoline 
engine targeting a 25 per cent improvement 
in vehicle fuel consumption. This has been 
implemented in a 2-litre V6 configuration with 
a camless, Ricardo-designed electro-hydraulic 
valve actuation system and specially modified 
engine management hardware. A collaborative 
programme with Robert Bosch in the United 
States has also delivered a downsized boosted 
twin-turbocharged direct injection V6 engine 
installed in a Cadillac CTS. This has delivered a 10 
per cent improvement in fuel economy compared 
with a conventional powertrain.

• Our process to production platform includes a 
programme to create a virtual engineering tool 
set for low-emissions diesel vehicles. This 
collaborative programme has enabled 
the release of the first version of 
software that links analysis process 
together into a more seamless 
system. The first release of 
our engine simulation model 
that can run in real time as an 
engine controller has also been 
completed.

• The first year of our collaborative 
European-funded programme to 

support planning of future hydrogen communities 
has also been completed. This has included 
analysis of hydrogen and fuel cell research drivers 
and funding sources in collaboration with the 
European Investment Bank.

• Our integrated safety platform has delivered a 
new active torque vectoring unit, varying the 
torque from left to right rear wheels under 
electronic control in an Audi A6 demonstration 
vehicle. This patented technology has been very 
successfully demonstrated to customers and has 
created very good opportunities for Ricardo in 
this market.
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Trading Performance
Delivering against our strategic objectives which 
include broadening our customer and geographic 
reach has resulted in continued profit growth, 
improved margins and a strong closing order book at 
£92m, which was up 28% on last year. The content 
of the order book includes orders spanning more 
than 12 months underpinning longer term business 
growth.

Revenue for the financial year to 30 June 2007 was 
level at £171.5m (2006: £171.9m). Strong business 
growth in the UK was offset by an expected revenue 
reduction for Strategic Consulting as a result of the 
completion of three major contracts in the previous 
year and a slower start to the year in the US business. 

Underlying operating profit increased to  £13.2m 
(2006: £12.1m excluding the pensions credit of 
£3.7m), representing a 7.7% operating margin 
on revenue (2006: 7.0%). This increase was 
underpinned by a trend of improved business mix and 
efficiency in the UK. 

Also, within Technical Consulting, as Germany 
continues to develop its engineering consultancy 
business through investment into facilities, talent and 
business development activities, it has generated 
operating profit which is a turnaround from last year’s 
performance. 

The US business had a slower start to the year 
and although the full year profit fell from last year, 
second half profit performance improved. This 
was despite £0.4m of management change costs to 
increase customer focus and further build business 
development activities. 

This financial year, Strategic Consulting has 
concentrated on extending its client base globally to 
underpin future business growth.

Underlying Group profit before tax was £12.2m, 
which was 13% up on last year (2006: £10.8m).

Ricardo 2010
In May 2005, Ricardo signed an agreement with 
SAIC (Shanghai Automotive Industry Corporation) 
to set up a UK research and development centre 
for them at our Leamington premises. A new wholly 
owned subsidiary named Ricardo (2010) Consultants 
Limited (“Ricardo 2010”) recruited a team of 
approximately 150 engineers. Ricardo has provided 
management and administrative support. Under 
the terms of the agreement, SAIC exercised its 
option to acquire Ricardo 2010 for £1 in May 2007. 
This was anticipated in our previous Report and 
Accounts and as a consequence there is no significant 
financial impact on the consolidated results. SAIC 
intend to remain at our Leamington premises for 
the foreseeable future and Ricardo will continue to 
provide some administrative services. Relationships 
with SAIC continue to strengthen.

Tax
The income statement shows an overall taxation 
credit in the year of £2.9m (2006: a charge of £2.3m). 
Ricardo has been claiming UK R&D tax credits since 
they were introduced in 2002. During the year the 
basis for calculating the UK R&D claim was revisited 

Paula Bell Group Finance Director

Performance Review

“Delivering against our 

strategic objectives is 

yielding improved margin 

and profi t, coupled with a 

strong closing orderbook at 

£92m, up 28% on last year.”

£92.1 Million

92

72

KPI regarding the outlook

Order book (£m) being the value of contracts received but 

not yet taken into revenue

30 June 2006 30 June 2007
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resulting in increased claims for 2004 to 2006. In 
addition, we undertook a major project to prepare 
an R&D tax claim in respect of the US business. The 
claim covers the period 2000 to 2006. Together with 
£0.5m from other successful revenue claims, the 
benefits total £5.2m. Excluding this significant impact 
from our tax calculation this year, and a related small 
impact last year of £0.7m, results in a tax charge of 
19% compared to 18% (on a similar basis) for the 
prior year.

Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share has significantly 
benefited from the overall taxation credit in the 
income statement this financial year and has increased 
to 29.6p (2006: 24.0p, 18.8p excluding the pensions 
credit). However, we do not expect to benefit to 
the same extent in future periods from significant 
retrospective R&D tax allowances which will 
therefore impact on the future earnings per share 
comparisons.

Dividend
We are proposing to increase the total dividend (paid 
and proposed) to 10.0p per ordinary share (2006: 
9.4p) following a year of further earnings growth.  
The dividend cover will be almost three times. The 
final proposed dividend of 7.1p, (2006: 6.7p) will be 
paid on 23 November 2007 to all shareholders on the 
register at the close of business on 26 October 2007, 
subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting on 
9 November 2007. 

Net Assets
Net assets at 30 June 2007 were £61.7m, compared 
with £50.1m a year earlier. This movement was 
primarily driven by ordinary trading, the reduction 
in our pensions deficit and the reduction in our tax 
liabilities resulting from R&D allowances.

Capital expenditure in the year was £9.5m, which 
included £4.1m to upgrade test cells to satisfy the 
increasing demand to meet new emissions legislation. 
As a lease expired at one of our German properties 
we chose to acquire the building for £1.2m as a 
more cost effective option. The balance of the capital 
expenditure was necessary to maintain our facilities 
and keep our information technology systems up 
to date. At the year end our capital commitments 
totalled £0.5m.
 
Work is under way to upgrade our office buildings at 
Shoreham-by-Sea some of which have become rather 
dated.  Our capital expenditure is likely to increase 
marginally as a result, as we continue to invest in our 
test and IT software systems to support our growth 
agenda.
 

Working Capital
We continuously manage and monitor the level and 
quality of debts and work in progress as we deliver 
our customer diversification strategy. In the full year, 
working capital grew by £3.9m reflecting our growing 
order book which has increasing content from Asia 
where clients payments tend to be slower. The net 
debt balance has more than halved since the half year, 
to £7.2m, which represents only a small increase 
since June 2006 of £1.4m.

Treasury
At the year end the Group had borrowing facilities 
of around £39m, which included two Euro loans 
totalling €20m repayable over the next five years, 
which act as a hedge against the net investment in our 
German business.

As some of the work carried out in the UK  for 
European customers is contracted in Euros, we 
have an exposure to the Euro, which we hedge as 
appropriate. Most of the work we carry out for our 
North American customers is undertaken by our 
US subsidiary. Our exposure to the dollar primarily 
relates to the translation of our dollar earnings and 
the net investment in our US business. 

Pensions
The deficit in our defined benefit pension scheme 
as measured in accordance with IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits, reduced from £23.6m to £16.7m due mainly 
to a better than anticipated return from the equity 
investments in the fund, an improved bond yield and 
additional cash payments into the fund. The reduction 
was despite the adverse  impact of assuming current 
mortality factors. We continue with our 9 year 
plan to substantially eliminate the deficit by making 
additional cash payments.

KPI regarding pension commitments

Pension defi cit (£m) valued in accordance with IAS 19

KPI regarding liquidity

Net borrowings (£m)

-7.2
-5.8

30 June 2006 30 June 2007

30 June 2006 30 June 2007

16.7

23.6
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UK
Our UK business, which includes engine, 
transmission, electronic and vehicle engineering, 
increased its order intake, order book, revenue and 
profits against the prior year. The area showing the 
strongest growth was our engines and transmission 
businesses, driven by activity from European and 
Asian clients. In response, we have increased the 
size and capacity of our engineering teams in the UK 
and the Czech Republic engineering centre which 
supports it.

The engines business benefited from an increase 
in demand for advanced diesel technology in both 
the commercial and passenger car sectors, driven 
heavily by three principal factors: pending 
emissions legislation, the global drive for fuel 
economy and the emergence of the US as a new 
market for diesel passenger cars. The commercial 
vehicle sector was also strong in our Asian markets, 
particularly India, driven by emissions legislation and 
fuel economy improvements. We have also entered 
the Russian market and secured two good size 
programmes in the diesel engineering sector and see 
more opportunities in this developing market. 

The gasoline engine business continued to benefit 
from our reputation and track record in on-time, 
production-ready, high quality delivery capability, 
with business in passenger car, motorcycle and 
power generation markets. 

The controls & electronics business has continued 
to grow and is underpinned by interest in hybrid 
vehicles and pending global legislation in the areas of 
on-board diagnostics and emissions.  It is central to 

the delivery of low-emissions, fuel-economic engine 
and transmission technology aimed at meeting 
worldwide legislative and consumer demands. We 
continue to see growth in this area with sustained 
recruitment of skilled control and electronics 
engineers in the UK and the Czech Republic 
remaining a key priority.

The transmissions business continues to enjoy 
success on a global basis, with sustained growth 
in the demand for advanced, fuel-efficient and 
performance-enhancing technologies. The portfolio 
of projects continues to expand across a wider 
range of sectors and now includes off-highway, 
military and commercial vehicle applications in 
addition to the traditional automotive products. 
Research investment remains focused on advanced 
dual clutch technology and advanced safety 
performance utilising torque vectoring, a technique 
which increases driving performance and safety 
by sharing torque between the four wheels in 
real time. The motorsport transmissions business 
has grown its customer base with successful 
programmes in Formula 1 and World Rally Car, 
and has made a significant impact in the Japanese 
motorsport market. The business continues to build 
and supply Bugatti transmissions. 

The vehicle engineering business has benefited from 
growth in the military sector, with the traditional 
mainstream activities enjoying the growing and 
rapidly expanding Asian market. During the year 
the vehicle engineering business has increased 
its emphasis on providing military vehicle system 
solutions in response to the significant growth in this 
sector. 

Technical Consulting

Divisional results Revenue Earned Operating Profit

2006
£m

2007
£m

2006
£m

2007
£m

Technical Consulting

UK*

US*

Germany

95.0
38.9
24.1

102.0
37.4
24.2

7.8
2.2

(0.5)

9.8
1.2
0.9

158.0 163.6 9.5 11.9

Strategic Consulting 13.9 7.9 2.6 1.3

171.9 171.5 12.1 13.2

*restated to include within the UK the overseas offices serving the UK, and for the re-classification of an immaterial subsidiary.
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Following a very successful 20-month period from 
start-up to the successful market introduction of 
vehicle and engine product in China under the 
Roewe brand, the planned sale of Ricardo 2010 
was successfully completed on 10 May 2007. With 
Ricardo support Shanghai Automotive Industry 
Corporation (SAIC) has, in a remarkably short 
period of time, established a UK technical centre 
of some 250 engineers, situated at our Midlands 
facility. In parallel, it has developed and introduced 
high quality products into the Chinese market. 
Ricardo’s relationship with SAIC is still flourishing, 
with continued outsourced business and strategic 
advice. 

US (including Ricardo Software)
Our US operation was profitable but 
underperformed in relation to our aspirations; 
this was mainly due to a slow start to the year as 
a result of a poor opening order book. However, 
major efforts were put into place to reorganise 
the business to make it more customer focused, 
more entrepreneurial and better aligned with the 
organisational structure of the rest of the Group. 
This has led to an improved second half of the year 
and a stronger year-end order book. Towards the 
end of the year, we implemented a key part of the 
restructuring – the recruitment of Dean Harlow 
as the new President of our US business, with a 
clear focus on innovation-led, value-added growth. 
Further business improvements are currently being 
implemented. Dean Harlow is an experienced, 
entrepreneurial business leader with a proven track 
record of international business development in the 
automotive sector.

Energy security and climate change have now 
taken centre stage in the US debate, providing 
opportunities for Ricardo to leverage its core 
competencies. President Bush’s “20 in 10” initiative, 

a 20 per cent reduction in gasoline consumption 
over 10 years, is providing a new impetus for 
growth and diversification. We have seen a 
significant growth in our US diesel business for US 
automotive passenger car markets. In addition, we 
are seeing good opportunities in the small engine 
sector and in new markets such as alternative fuels 
and the electrification of the vehicle – including 
hybrids, plug-in hybrids and electric vehicles. The 
controls & electronics business is rapidly expanding 
in the US with order intake doubling in the year 
and we continue to recruit aggressively. This 
development is due to increased electronics content 
in vehicles, more complex and more efficient 
powertrains and the expansion into vehicle safety 
improvements. 

Military spending in the US market remains at 
record levels, with key initiatives to advance the 
technology and fuel economy of tactical and support 
vehicles. We continue to align our operations with 
military initiatives in an effort to increase Ricardo’s 
presence and ultimately our market share. 

Ricardo Software, one of our smaller operations, 
which develops and commercialises leading-edge 
engineering software for the automotive industry, 
had a very good year, delivering higher levels of 
revenue and profit growth than previously. These 
software products reduce time to market while 
improving design robustness through accurate and 
validated simulation. 

Germany
Our operation in Germany continues its turnaround 
into profitability while maintaining its investment 
in growth through increasing engineering facility 
capability and the recruitment of further high 
quality engineers. Our order book, prospects list 
and client base continue to grow and develop, with 
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opportunities increasing in size and breadth to 
match our growing capabilities and high value-added 
services. We continue to invest in people, facilities 
and the latest tools and techniques to increase the 
pace of growth, especially in some key product 
areas such as controls & electronics, light duty diesel, 
vehicle engineering and transmissions development. 
Our more established product areas of commercial 
vehicle diesel, production/prototyping, gasoline 
engineering and testing all continued to perform 
well in the year as we cement our reputation in the 
German market and start to capture market share. 
The engineering organisation is now aligned with the 
group structure and we are achieving good levels 
of programme sharing and joint delivery with other 
divisions, which improves efficiency and delivery to 
the demanding German client base.

During the year we have significantly broadened our 
penetration into the German motor industry, with 
a growing client base within the premium OEMs 
and Tier 1 players in all automotive industry sectors 
(motorcycle, off-highway, commercial vehicle, marine 
and passenger car). We are now a well recognised 
and accepted part of the high-end engineering 
services sector, increasingly bidding for, and winning, 
complete turnkey multi-million Euro projects. 

Asia
Japan: Business for Technical Consulting from the 
globally important and successful Japanese client 
base continues to grow as a result of our increased 
presence through our Japanese office. In the year 
we have secured sizeable turnkey outsourced 
programmes from highly demanding clients as they 
move to a model of increased outsourcing. In a 
market which is led by relationship, innovation and 
delivery, it is pleasing to see that investments over 
many years in terms of technology and local presence 
have built us a good platform from which to exploit 
this significant move. 

Transmissions, diesel and electronics were 
particularly successful areas this year, with order 
intake tripling compared to the orders we saw last 
fiscal year. To further increase our support to the 
clients we have relocated our Japanese office to gain 
better access to our customers’ R&D facilities and to 
improve our service levels. The core of the work was 
conducted in the UK and US.

China: In the year we have transitioned from a sales 
to an engineering office and have moved into larger 
premises as we recruit local engineering talent. The 
technical centre in Shanghai has been well received 
by clients and we are now delivering engineering 
services from this WOFE (Wholly Owned Foreign 
Enterprise). In addition to the Chinese domestic 
brand companies we are now demonstrating the 
benefit of our presence to our established Western 
customers as they look to engineer systems either 
for China or with their Chinese partners. Several 
new companies have joined the Ricardo client base 
this year, yet we are also seeing high levels of follow 
on business from existing customers, seeking to 
become truly world class by accessing leading-edge 
technology and realise the value that Ricardo offers. 
Gasoline engineering and hybrid technology remain 
key activities in China; however, we have also 
added vehicle and transmissions programmes to the 
portfolio.

India: We have increased our business levels and 
presence on the ground and will be formally opening 
an office in November 2007.
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Following two years of very rapid growth, 
as anticipated, the year started slowly as we 
successfully completed and ramped down major 
projects from the prior year and focused on building 
more diversified business streams. As a result, a 
number of new high quality clients were added to 
our customer portfolio whilst our work in support 
of our existing clients continued. Our services for 
business strategy, acquisition support, business 
turnaround and business performance improvement 
continue to be valued and in demand by investors, 
vehicle manufacturers and suppliers. 

We have extended our client base in both diversity 
and geographic reach, adding major commercial 
vehicle manufacturers in Europe and Asia as well as 
off-highway manufacturers and suppliers in North 
America. In the year we have undertaken our first 
strategic projects for clients in China and Korea 
whilst adding additional clients to our customer 
portfolio in the expanding market in India.

As the ownership structure of the automotive 
industry changes particularly in the supply base, 
our strategy consultants have become very active 
in providing consulting services to companies 
and institutional investors in Europe and North 
America both pre and post acquisition. Our deep 
knowledge of the industry makes us an ideal partner 
for evaluation of companies and improving their 
businesses post acquisition. In addition our activity in 
support of Asian investors looking towards growth 
in more mature markets continues to increase.

We continue to invest in our service offerings to 
ensure that we remain at the forefront of thought 
leadership in the industry and have the solutions to 

address some of the industry’s most critical issues. 
As a result, our service offerings have now been 
extended to fuels and oils companies together with 
established companies as well as new investors 
looking at the impacts of new energy on the 
industry. We see this interest as a growing driver of 
new activity in the sector.

The offering of deep-content management 
consultancy focused upon delivering tangible results 
is well received and valued by our clients and 
remains unique. We continue to take business from 
the more traditional management consulting firms 
and this, together with the diversification of our 
clients and service offerings, will generate growing 
demand.

Strategic Consulting
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Principal Risks

This section addresses the principal risks and 
uncertainties to which the Group is exposed 
– factors which could affect the Group’s business, its 
performance or its financial condition.

Customers and markets
The Group is largely dependent on a dynamic 
marketplace which is exposed to many external 
pressures, competition and structural change caused 
by cost-base and capacity concerns. These can 
cause delays in projects and in the placement of 
orders, and redirection or curtailment of contracts 
due to changes in client product plans. These risks 
are mitigated by the strategy of broadening the 
base of the business to reduce exposure to any 
one specific client, territory or market sector, and 
the success of this strategy is measured by the key 
performance indicators for client dependency, 
geographical spread and technology dependency 
shown on pages 23 and 25.

Contracts
The majority of the Group’s revenue arises from 
fixed-priced engineering contracts. This has always 
been the case for Ricardo. The risks in these 
contracts are that more work than estimated is 
required to deliver the projects, thus impacting 
on margins. These risks are managed by clearly 
defined bidding and project management processes 
whereby projects are categorised according to 
their risk level, which in turn dictates the level of 
review or approval required. Failure to perform on 
a contract or the infringement of the rights of others 
could also potentially subject the business to a claim 

from a customer. Internal procedures are in place to 
ensure that the technical content of our output is of 
good quality and meets client requirements without 
infringing the rights of others. The spreading of 
client, territory and sector risks has led to no single 
contract with a client or supplier being essential to 
the business of the Group as a whole.

People
Ricardo is a business that is knowledge-driven 
and people-led. The loss of or failure to develop 
or recruit Ricardo employees would restrict 
growth and impact client relationships. Recruiting, 
developing and retaining talent and knowledge 
is important. Mitigation of these risks is by 
actively developing staff, encouraging mobility, 
professional development and providing appropriate 
remuneration and working conditions. Employees 
as stakeholders are reviewed further on pages 36 
to 38.

Technology
The business is driven by changes in technology 
to meet the needs of markets and regulators on 
varying time scales. If the group invests in the wrong 
technologies it could lose marketplace advantage 
as business levels would reduce. Our R&D 
programmes are developed in consultation with 
clients and many programmes are collaborative. It is 
also possible that the time taken to deliver returns 
from R&D programmes could change if delays occur 
in the implementation of new regulations which 
would in turn delay client programmes dependant 
on new technology.
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Compliance with laws and 
regulations
The Group’s operations are subject to a wide range 
of domestic and international laws, regulations and 
restrictions, and non-compliance with these laws, 
regulations and restrictions could expose the Group 
to fines, penalties or loss of reputation, or result 
in trading restrictions which could have a material 
adverse effect on the business. To mitigate these 
risks the group has a number of defined policies, 
authority limits and operating procedures to ensure 
that employees and others act with the highest 
ethical standards and within local legal requirements.

Defi ned Benefi t Pension Scheme
Ricardo in the UK has a defined benefit pension 
scheme. The projected liabilities are higher than 
the value of the assets in the scheme. This deficit 
is recorded on the balance sheet and contributions 
towards eliminating the deficit are being made 
in accordance with an agreement reached with 
the trustees of the scheme. The amount of the 
contributions required could be affected by a 
number of factors including investment returns, 
interest rates and mortality rates. The scheme has 
been closed to new entrants, and future increases in 
pensionable salaries have been capped to inflation. 
Further details of this scheme are given in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements.

Other risks and risk management 
Additional risks and uncertainties currently unknown 
to the Group, or which the Group currently 
deems not to be principal risks, may also have an 
adverse effect on the financial condition or business 
of the Group. The Group has risk management 
and internal audit processes in place for contract 
risk and other business risks. Contract risks are 
managed through a project management process, 
which is closely linked to financial performance 
measurement. Non-contract risks are controlled 
by the leaders of global product groups and group 
functions and by divisional managing directors. 
These risks are analysed and reviewed regularly 
and are recorded in the Group’s risk register in 
liaison with the Group’s Risk Manager who has an 
independent reporting line to the board via the 
Company Secretary. These risk management and 
internal audit processes and their effectiveness are 
reviewed annually by the Audit Committee. Further 
information on risk management processes is given 
on page 49.
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Corporate Social Responsibility 

Commitment to stakeholders

Ricardo aims to manage its relationships with 
its stakeholders and communicate with them 
professionally and responsibly. The board recognises 
its principal stakeholders as shareholders, clients, 
employees, suppliers and local communities and 
also recognises its responsibility to the environment. 
Responsibility to the board for relations with all our 
stakeholders lies with the Chief Executive Officer. 
The board as a whole review key CSR elements at 
least annually.

To underline the importance of integrity in all 
relationships between employees and stakeholders, 
we have ethics, fraud and whistle-blowing policies 
which are communicated to all employees. We do 
not permit bribery, anti-competition or corrupt 
business practices in any dealings. 

Shareholders
Ricardo is fully committed to achieving a sustainable 
increase in the value of the business for its 
shareholders, and recognises the importance 
of demonstrating progress in this objective in 
terms of business performance, dividends and 
clear communications with shareholders. Ricardo 
recognises that good relationships with other 
stakeholders are key to achieving a sustainable 
increase in the value of the business, and that a 
sustainable increase in the value of the business 
ultimately protects the long-term interests of all 
appropriate stakeholders. We also recognise that 
our shareholders give us an independence that 
reassures our clients of our integrity.

Clients
Our commitment to our clients is fundamental to 
the future success of the business. We work hard 
to understand our clients, anticipate their needs 
and deliver outstanding solutions that give client 

satisfaction and improve client performance. We 
care about our clients, enjoy working with them, 
and want them to enjoy working with us. We aim 
to be quick and flexible in our response and easy 
to work with and regularly survey their views on 
our performance. We rigorously uphold client 
confidentiality.

Employees
Communications and involvement
The Group continues to place significant emphasis 
on communicating the strategy and results of 
Ricardo to all employees worldwide. Briefings of 
the full and half year results are made to employees 
on our main sites by the Chief Executive Officer 
and local Managing Directors, and regular monthly 
briefing meetings are given by local managers. 
All senior managers receive twice a year a CD 
containing recordings from results presentations 
highlighting commentary, questions and reactions 
from analysts and selected interviews with staff 
worldwide on current projects and developments 
that enable knowledge sharing across the Group.

The group’s intranet R-World is accessible by 
all employees worldwide and is widely used to 
disseminate information and provide a platform for 
employees to communicate openly and provide 
feedback to executives. We also conduct employee 
surveys to help identify ways in which we can 
improve job satisfaction and performance.

Employee representative structures have been 
extended in the UK with the introduction of a works 
council at the Midlands Technical Centre and a 
similar forum at the Cambridge Technical Centre.

To encourage share ownership amongst employees, 
a Share Incentive Plan was launched in the UK in 
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KPI regarding employee and knowledge retention

Employee turnover p.a.

May, enabling employees to purchase Ricardo shares 
from gross income with favourable tax breaks on 
retention, subject to certain holding requirements. 
Alternative share purchase options are being 
examined for other countries.

Diversity
The Group remains committed to its policy of 
encouraging diversity in its workforce, as it believes 
that this will lead to greater creativity and ensure 
that Ricardo accesses the best talent available. The 
company’s practices are designed to ensure that 
all recruitment and development is conducted 
irrespective of gender, age, disability, race, religion 
or sexual orientation, with talent being the deciding 
factor.

In the past two years Ricardo has noticeably 
increased representation of women in its executive 
population worldwide and will continue to seek 
to improve its population of under-represented 
sectors, subject to ability and in the context that 
some of key skill areas in the population already have 
some inherent biases, particularly in gender.

For people with disability, opportunities in 
recruitment and career development are provided 
as far as possible on an equal basis to other 
employees. For employees becoming disabled, every 
effort is made to ensure that they remain within 
the employment of the Group by the use of flexible 
working practices or redeployment.

Employee brand
As part of our strategy to be a global premium 
brand we position our internal employee brand 
to reflect and support this strategy. To achieve 
this we want to ensure that all employees have a 
common understanding worldwide of our culture 
and values in order that we can demonstrate 
consistency across the world and deliver high quality 
performance wherever we serve customers. This 
is being delivered through the introduction of a 
global induction process, a global performance 
management system, reward mechanisms for senior 
management and the introduction of a CEO’s 

recognition award that will be made quarterly for 
outstanding team performance.

To recognise different and changing lifestyles and 
the increasing diversity of employees’ needs from 
company benefit programmes, we have introduced 
a Flexible Benefits programme in the UK. This gives 
existing and new employees greater choice of how 
they wish to allocate their personal and company-
funded benefits, as well as a minimum level of Life 
Assurance and Personal Disability Income protection 
irrespective of their status within the organisation.

Developments in the year
With the prime purpose of supporting Ricardo’s 
strategic goals over the next few years, a number 
of senior management changes occurred in the last 
year. Decisions are taken on the basis of continually 
reviewing the quality of existing management 
and making changes where improvement is 
necessary, where new skills are required or when 
increasing resource is necessary through growth. 
Internal development is the preferred route to 
appointments: external appointments are only made 
where there is a lack of suitable internal candidates. 

Paula Bell joined Ricardo in October 2006, took 
up her appointment as Group Finance Director in 
November 2006 and has strengthened the finance 
function with a number of external Finance Director 
appointments to support UK divisions, Germany and 
Asia.

In the USA it was felt necessary to make a change 
in leadership to further enhance its business 
development focus. Dean Harlow was appointed 
externally in May 2007 to replace Jeremy Holt, who 
left the company at the same time.

To reinforce the significance of IT to Ricardo’s 
strategy, a new Group IT Director, Manvinder 
Singh, was appointed externally in May. Malcolm 
Greenslade, Group HR Director, will be retiring in 
September 2007 and Sarah Murphy joined in August 
as his replacement. To provide greater co-ordination 
of Ricardo’s Global Product Groups, Mark Garrett 

11%11%

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007
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was appointed Group Engineering and Products 
Director after successfully managing the Ricardo 
2010 project.

In Germany, Detlev Baudach, who had been 
Managing Director for seven years, resigned 
for personal reasons and to take up another 
appointment; he has been replaced by Dr Peter 
Heuser who has successfully grown our Heavy Duty 
Diesel business and has been a catalyst for growth in 
Germany. 

Health and Safety
Ricardo is committed to compliance with local health 
and safety legislation, maintaining a safe working 
environment, continuous improvement and striving 
towards a reduction in the level of reportable 
accidents over time. Training in health and safety 
awareness, impending changes in relevant legislation 
and other specialist subjects is fully supported. 
Health and safety activities are verified by regular 
internal audits and inspections. During the year a 
group-wide health and safety policy was launched, 
the approach to external verification was changed 
and an objective was set to achieve certification 
for our UK, German and US businesses to OHSAS 
18001 by early 2008. To date, the UK and German 
businesses have achieved this and the US is expected 
to deliver to plan. This improves our governance and 
shows additional commitment to being an employer 
of choice. Good relationships are maintained with 
local regulators in the main territories in which we 
operate.

Safe systems of work have been further developed 
for hybrid vehicles as new technologies come into 
the business. The effects of an increasingly wide 
geographic base and the need for increased staff 
flexibility and travel have led to updates of policy and 
employee support when away from home. Ricardo 
is focusing improvement effort on the development 
of policies on work related driving and stress, where 
new approaches have been launched in the UK and 

will be transferred to other divisions. Feedback from 
an employee survey has also been used to develop 
health and safety improvements. We recognise the 
level of reportable accidents as a key performance 
indicator. Whilst we aim for even lower levels, the 
low level of accidents reflects the success of our 
health and safety policies.

Additionally, our research agenda recognises 
active safety as a technology platform for research 
projects, and progress has been made in this area in 
the year.

Environment
The board is committed to keeping the 
environmental impact of the Group’s facilities and 
activities to a minimum. The board’s commitment 
is embodied in the Ricardo environmental policy, 
which is widely available via notice boards and the 
intranet and to the public via the www.ricardo.
com website. The drivers for the policy are the 
need continually to improve and to be responsible 
members of the local communities in which 
Ricardo operates. Many of Ricardo’s clients require 
certification to ISO 14001, the environmental 
management system standard, for their key 
suppliers. The application of the policy is described 
by appropriate processes and procedures as part of 
the quality system in each division. Many of these are 
closely linked to both quality and health and safety 
procedures. Business processes within the ISO 9001 
certifications are used to ensure staff are appraised, 
objectives are set and training needs are identified.

8

KPI regarding health and safety

Reportable accidents 
number based on UK RIDDOR defi nitions

11

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007

The UK Health & Safety team receiving the OHSAS 18001 
certificate from Lloyds Register Quality Assurance
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As planned, in May 2007 the German business 
achieved certification to ISO 14001. As a result, all 
major facilities are now certified to ISO 14001. Best 
practice is shared between divisions via discussions 
between Quality Managers and internal audits. The 
suite of certifications and the supporting internal 
and external audit programmes are used to check 
policy effectiveness and identify improvement 
opportunities. 

Ricardo has three principal areas of environmental 
impact. The first area is based around the core 
business of engineering automotive products for the 
future, where key business drivers are emissions, 
fuel consumption and noise reduction. This includes 
Ricardo and client-funded projects and engineering 
products where technology is developed to provide 
low emissions and high-efficiency technologies 
for anticipated emissions and fuel economy 
requirements across the world.

Material selection is the second key impact area. 
Ricardo supports the European Union End of Life 
Directive via close co-operation with its clients 
in selecting and testing materials for products it 
designs and develops. These decisions are normally 
led by client corporate standards for materials and 
manufacturing processes.

The third impact area is the testing operations, 
which is the area of the business where the majority 
of the risks of direct impact on the environment 
exist. Our testing for customer and research 
programmes uses fuels and electrical energy. 
The resulting negative environmental impacts are 
mitigated by research into improving test methods, 
particularly for vehicle testing in calibration 
programmes. Also it should be noted that, 
indirectly, these programmes may lead to a positive 
environmental impact.

Other impacts include the conventional waste 
streams, which are monitored to identify potential 
improvement opportunities and to ensure legislative 

compliance. Higher risk parts of the facilities, such as 
fuel stores, have containment and inspection regimes 
which meet local legislative requirements. 

In order to support our customers and develop 
relationships, we travel to their sites when 
necessary. We attempt to minimise this impact by 
the use of video, audio and internet conferencing, 
however face to face contact is essential to the 
business. The choice of airline routing and number 
of travellers is generally based on cost and timetable 
availability, direct flights and modern aircraft being 
preferred.
 
The process used to identify these risks is derived 
from ISO14001, where we are required to 
identify areas with potential for significant negative 
environmental impact. These impacts are reviewed 
during internal and external audits and subjected to 
specialist risk assessments. 

Projects to reduce energy consumption are actively 
encouraged. During the year the proportion 
of regenerative dynamometers in the UK, US 
and Germany has been increased. Regenerative 
dynamometers enable the re-use of electricity 
generated by testing operations and thereby lead to 
savings and environmental benefits. 

To test our environmental focus we measure energy 
usage in terms of the tonnes of CO2 produced by 
the business from the use of diesel and gasoline fuels 
for testing and gas and energy use in our facilities. 
This is expressed as a ratio to headcount for ease 
of understanding. Whilst a continuous reduction in 
CO2 tonnes per head is targeted, this  is not at the 
expense of taking on testing business that inevitably 
uses fuels, and only the energy used directly by 
the Group is measurable. The indirect benefits 
to the environment from Ricardo’s work are not 
measurable, but almost certainly far outweigh any 
direct negative impacts.
Good relationships are maintained with national 

7.67.2

1.0

3.8

1.0

1.3

2.1

1.0

Gasoline

Diesel

Gas

Electricity

Total

KPI regarding the environment

CO2 tonnes per employee calculated using factors from 

the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development

year to 30 June 2006 year to 30 June 2007
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and local regulatory organisations such as the 
Environment Agency and Environmental Health 
Departments in the UK and the EPA and MDEQ 
(Michigan Department of Environmental Quality) in 
the US. Processes are in place to keep up to date 
on regulatory issues and are the subject of regular 
audits. The amount of environmental legislation 
is growing, resulting in increasing training and 
compliance costs. Staff training in health, safety and 
environmental matters is a priority and is reviewed 
annually as part of normal appraisal processes.

Suppliers
Relations with the supplier community are regarded 
as an essential ingredient in achieving client and 
shareholder satisfaction. It is preferred that key 
suppliers have been certified to ISO 9001 and ISO 
14001 as a minimum. All suppliers are encouraged 
to achieve ISO 9001 certification. It should be noted 
that suppliers for some project and low volume 
production materials are nominated by clients, 
which is normal industry practice. Where choice in 
suppliers is possible, various procurement methods 
are used: these depend upon the type of product 
or service being procured. Local suppliers for 
service functions on our main sites are used where 
commercially practical. There are no significant 
supply contracts which are essential to the business 
of the Group. We are not tied to any suppliers in 
such a manner as to jeopardise the independence of 
the business.

Local Communities
It is our policy to try to make a positive contribution 
to all countries and communities in which we 
operate, particularly targeted towards education and 

children local to our main sites. All Ricardo offices 
support local community activity and give charitable 
donations, particularly where employees participate 
in community or charitable fund-raising activities. 
Charitable and community donations in the year 
were £8,002 (2006: £20,040), reducing primarily 
because a long term commitment which did not fit 
with the desired focus for charitable donations came 
to an end during the year.

Where suitable opportunities are presented, the 
focus is on creating links that are sustainable, and 
on improving the image and understanding of the 
business and the engineering profession in the 
community. Examples include the provision of work 
experience placements for local schools supporting 
Formula Student (see pictures), the use of facilities 
for charitable activities on a benefit in kind basis, 
employees acting as school governors and engaging 
with local economic regeneration organisations. 
The Midlands Technical Centre also supports a local 
athlete with Olympic potential, Sarah McGreavey 
(see picture). The effectiveness of these policies 
is informally measured by feedback from the 
communities in which we engage.

The Group does not intentionally support political 
activities, but cannot guarantee that community 
involvement and charitable donations will not be 
perceived as having a political ingredient.

Sarah McGreavey
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Cautionary statement
This business review and certain other sections of this annual report contain forward-looking statements that have been made by the directors 
in good faith based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report. However they should be treated with 
caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors, underlying any such forward-looking information.

Dave Shemmans (Chief Executive Offi  cer) Paula Bell (Group Finance Director)

Conclusion

This year Ricardo finished with a strong order book, 
increased management strength and an exciting 
pipeline of technology. Trading performance was 
in line with expectations despite restructuring costs 
in the US and weaker performance in our US and 
Strategic Consulting operations overall. Our strategy 
to broaden the business mix and concentrate on 
margins for the work that we undertake has resulted 
in continued development of the profitability of the 
business.

The global automotive industry is active with new 
product offensives driven by stringent emissions 

legislation, desire to improve fuel economy and the 
need to reduce CO2 emissions. Ricardo is benefiting 
by having the strategy, technology and presence to 
exploit these growing demands and global industry 
drivers. 

We have had a satisfactory start to the new financial 
year, benefiting from the strong order book and 
continued good order intake. The continuing delivery 
of our strategy to increase geographic, customer and 
sector spread, together with the implementation of 
a US business improvement plan, gives us confidence 
for continued progress in the new financial year.

Conclusion
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Board Members

David Hall 
(Non-Executive)

David Hall was appointed a non-ex-
ecutive director on 21 February 2006. 
He is 60 years old. He was formerly 
at the Boston Consulting Group, the 
international strategic and manage-
ment consulting firm, where he started 
and built up the financial services 
practice, served on the worldwide 
Executive Committee, was Chairman 
of BCG’s ten global practice groups 
and had global responsibility for HR. 
David is also Chairman of the Financial 
Services Compensation Scheme and 
a consultant to the Board of Hoare & 
Co, a private bank.

Stephen Parker 
(Executive Director)

Aged 54, Stephen Parker joined Ricardo 
on 1 August 2002 as the Managing Direc-
tor of Ricardo Strategic Consulting from 
A. T. Kearney, one of the world’s leading 
management consulting practices, and 
was appointed to the Board on the same 
day. At A. T. Kearney he was employed 
as a Vice President of their Global Auto-
motive Practice, having responsibility for 
the provision of strategy and operational 
consulting to the executive teams of 
both automotive manufacturers and 
Tier 1 suppliers. Previous roles include 
Director of Business Development and 
General Manager for Perkins Technology 
Ltd at Perkins Engine Group, a position 
he held for eight years, as well as eight 
years at PSA Peugeot Citroën.

Michael Harper 
(Non-Executive)

Michael Harper was appointed a 
non-executive director on 24 June 
2003. He is 62 years old. He was 
Chief Executive of Kidde plc until he 
retired from that position in March 
2005, and more recently was acting 
Chief Executive of BBA Aviation 
plc until June 2007. He is currently 
Chairman of BBA Aviation plc, 
Chairman of The Vitec Group plc, and 
a non-executive director of Catlin plc.

Paula Bell 
(Group Finance Director)

Paula Bell joined Ricardo plc and the 
board on 9 October 2006 and took 
up the position of Group Finance 
Director following the Annual General 
Meeting in November 2006. She is 40 
years old. Paula joined Ricardo from 
BAA plc where she was the Finance 
and Property Director for Gatwick 
Airport. She was previously the 
Director of Finance for AWG plc and 
over a ten year period at Rolls-Royce 
plc, Paula was Finance Director for 
various divisions before becoming 
the Business Development Director 
for their international Transmission 
and Distribution division leading on 
strategy and a global merger and 
acquisition programme. Paula is a 
fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants.

From left to right:
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David Oglethorpe 
(Company Secretary)

David Oglethorpe is 45 years old and 
qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
with Deloitte, Haskins and Sells in 
1988. He joined Ricardo in 1990, and 
has had various divisional finance direc-
tor and head office positions before his 
appointment as Company Secretary in 
December 2005. 

Marcus Beresford CBE 
(Chairman)

Marcus Beresford was appointed a 
non-executive director on 1 October 
2003 and Chairman on 1 January 
2004. He is 65 years old. He has had 
a long and distinguished career in 
the engineering industry, principally 
with Smiths Industries, Siemens and 
GKN. He joined the Board of GKN 
plc in 1992 and was Chief Executive 
from August 2001 until he retired in 
December 2002. He is currently a 
non-executive director of Cobham 
plc. He is a fellow of the Institution of 
Engineering and Technology. Outside 
industry he has held various posts, 
including being a member of the 
Advisory Committee on Business 
and the Environment, a member of 
the Engineering Technology Board 
and a Council Member of the Open 
University.

Ian Percy, CBE (Non-
Executive Deputy Chairman)

Ian Percy was appointed a non-execu-
tive director on 1 July 2000 and is the 
senior independent director. He is 
65 years old. He has held a number 
of non-executive directorships, and 
former positions have included being 
Chairman of Kiln plc, Companies 
House and the Accounts Commission 
for Scotland. He was President of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Scotland, and has acted in a number of 
capacities for both the profession and 
government in relation to professional 
standards. He is presently Deputy 
Chairman of the Weir Group plc and 
Cala Group Ltd, and a member of 
the Market Participants Group of the 
Financial Reporting Council. He is also 
Honorary Professor of Accounting at 
Aberdeen University and Chair of the 
Court of Queen Margaret University.

Dave Shemmans 
(Chief Executive Offi  cer)

Dave Shemmans, aged 41, joined 
Ricardo in 1999 as Senior Business De-
velopment Manager for Ricardo Con-
sulting Engineers (“RCE”). In 2002 he 
was appointed Business Development 
Director for the Ricardo Group and in 
December 2003, Managing Director of 
RCE. He was appointed to the Board as 
Chief Executive Officer Designate and 
Managing Director International Opera-
tions in February 2005, and became the 
Chief Executive Officer of Ricardo plc 
on 4 November 2005. Prior to joining 
Ricardo he was Operations Director 
and co-founder of Wavedriver Limited 
(a subsidiary of PowerGen plc). He has 
also gained consulting and management 
experience in both listed and private 
companies. He holds a degree in elec-
tronics from UMIST and is a graduate of 
the Harvard Business School.

Photo location: Ricardo Midlands Technical Centre
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Corporate Governance in Practice

46 Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in July 2003 (“the Code”) applies to
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 November 2003. Section 1
of the Code applies to companies. Under the UK Listing Authority’s
Listing Rules which apply to the London Stock Exchange’s main
market, Ricardo plc is required to report on how it has applied the
principles set out in Section 1 of the Code, and either to confirm that
it has complied with the provisions of Section 1 of the Code or to
provide an explanation of where it has not.

This part of the Annual Report, together with the Directors’
Remuneration Report set out on pages 50 to 57, describes how the
Company has applied the principles contained in Section 1 of the
Code. An explanation of the few areas where the Company has not
complied with Section 1 of the Code during the twelve months ended
30 June 2007 is given on page 49. In June 2006, the Code was revised,
effective for reporting years beginning on or after 1 November 2006.
The directors consider that the Company has been fully compliant
with Section 1 of the June 2006 version of the Code since October
2006 when the Chairman stood down as a member of the Audit
Committee, in line with the Code’s guidance that the chairman of a
company should not be a member of its audit committee.

The Board of Directors

The Board, which is headed by the non-executive Chairman, Marcus
Beresford, also included three other non-executive and three
executive members as at 30 June 2007, and throughout the period
complied with the Code’s provision that a smaller company should
have at least two independent directors. (Ricardo was below the
FTSE 350 throughout the year immediately prior to the year ended
30 June 2007.) The Board met regularly throughout the year with ad
hoc meetings also being held.

The role of the Board is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the
Company within a framework of effective controls which enables risk
to be assessed and managed. The Board sets strategic aims, reviews
management performance and ensures that the necessary financial
and human resources are in place to meet its objectives and its
obligations to its shareholders and others. The Board has agreed a
schedule of matters reserved for the Board, which includes approval
of the Group’s strategy, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, the
annual financial budgets, major capital expenditure, major proposals
and certain key policies. The Board approves interim dividends and
recommends final dividends. It receives recommendations from the
Audit Committee in relation to the appointment of auditors, their
remuneration and the policy relating to non-audit services and from
the Nomination Committee it receives recommendations regarding
Board appointments. The Board agrees the policy for executive
directors’ remuneration with the Remuneration Committee and
determines fees paid to non-executive directors. Board papers are
circulated before Board meetings in sufficient time to be meaningful.
The Board delegates to management, through the Chief Executive
Officer, the implementation of strategy, the overall performance of
the Group and the management of the business in a fit and proper
manner in keeping with its values and policies.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer is clearly defined and has been approved by the
Board. The Chairman’s primary responsibility is ensuring the
effectiveness of the Board and setting its agenda. The Chief Executive
has direct charge of the Group on a day to day basis and is
accountable to the Board for the financial and operational
performance of the Group. The Chief Executive also chairs the

Ricardo Operating Board which deals with operational issues. It
usually meets quarterly and includes the Managing Directors of
subsidiary companies and other senior executives. The minutes of the
meetings are circulated to the Board.

The performance of the Board is evaluated each year by a rigorous
process based around a detailed questionnaire which each director
completes. The areas covered include: the quality of leadership and
the setting of strategy and values; the board’s setting of its own
objectives and review of its progress against those objectives; the
composition of the Board, the appropriateness of its skill level and
mix of experience and the effectiveness of the various roles; how well
the board members work and communicate together and with
others; the appropriateness of board and senior management
succession planning and the induction and training of board members;
the way Board meetings are conducted, the content of those
meetings and related processes; the effectiveness of the various
committees; and the appropriateness of its risk and control
frameworks. The questionnaire also reviews the performance of each
individual non-executive director. The results of the questionnaire are
analysed and reviewed by the Board and appropriate improvements
agreed and implemented.

Each director is appraised through the normal appraisal process. The
Chief Executive Officer is appraised by the Chairman, the other
executive Board members are appraised by the Chief Executive
Officer, and the non-executive Board members other than the
Chairman are appraised by the Chairman. Under the leadership of the
senior independent director, the non-executive Board members hold
a meeting without the Chairman being present to appraise the
Chairman’s performance.

A new director, on appointment, is briefed on the activities of the
Company, and receives a full, formal and tailored induction. Non-
executive directors are briefed on issues arising at Board meetings if
required and non-executive directors have access to the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer at any time. Ongoing training is
provided as needed including presentations by the operating units on
specific aspects of the business, supplemented by visits to key
locations and meetings with key senior executives. Directors are
updated continually on the Group’s business and by means of Board
presentations on matters including insurance, pensions, social, ethical,
environmental and health and safety issues. In the furtherance of their
duties or in relation to acts carried out by the Board or the Company,
each director has been informed that they are entitled to seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company. The
Company maintains appropriate cover under a Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance policy for legal action taken against any
director. Each director has access to the services of the Company
Secretary if required.

The non-executive directors are considered by the Board to be
independent of management and are free to exercise independence
of judgement. They have never been employees of the Company nor
have they participated in any of the Company’s share schemes,
pension schemes or bonus arrangements. They receive no other
remuneration from the Company other than the directors’ fees and
travel expenses. Confirmation has been sought and received from
each non-executive director that he:
● does not have, and has not had within the last three years, a

material business relationship with the Company, either directly
or as a partner, shareholder, director or senior employee of a
body that has such a relationship with the Company;

● has no close family ties with any of the Company’s advisers,
directors or senior employees;
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Board Committee meetings
meetings Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of meetings in the year 8 3 4 2

Number attended by each member:
Marcus Beresford 8 1 4 2
Ian Percy 8 3 4 2
Michael Harper 8 3 4 2
David Hall 8 3 3 1
Dave Shemmans 8 2
Paula Bell (appointed 9 October 2006) 6
Steve Parker 8
Andrew Goodburn (resigned 5 January 2007) 4
Jeremy Holt (resigned 16 May 2007) 7

● holds no cross-directorships or significant links with other
directors through involvement in other companies or bodies; and

● does not represent a significant shareholder.

Confirmation of the above was also sought and received from the
Chairman at the date of his appointment. Directors are subject to
election at the Annual General Meeting following their appointment
and are subject to re-election at least every three years. 

The Chairman met during the year with the other non-executives and
without the executive directors being present. The non-executive
Deputy Chairman, Ian Percy, is the senior independent director who
is available to shareholders if contact through normal channels is
inappropriate or has failed to resolve an issue.

The table above shows the number of Board meetings (excluding
those held to deal with minor administrative matters) and Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings held during the
year and the attendance of each director.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is established by and is responsible to the
Board. It has written terms of reference. Its main responsibilities are:

● to monitor and be satisfied with the truth and fairness of the
Company’s financial statements before submission to the Board
for approval, ensuring their compliance with the appropriate
accounting standards, the law and the Listing Rules of the UK
Listing Authority;

● to review the Company’s internal financial controls and internal
control and risk management systems, and to review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function and ensure that it is
adequately resourced;

● to make recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors and
their remuneration, following appointment or re-appointment by
the shareholders in general meeting, and to review the scope and
planning of the audit and be satisfied with the auditors’
independence, objectivity and effectiveness on an ongoing basis;
and

● to implement the policy relating to any non-audit services
performed by the external auditors.

Ian Percy, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, has wide
experience as Chairman of audit committees, was recently Chairman
of Companies House and was formerly Chairman of the Accounts
Commission for Scotland and President of the Institute of Chartered

Accountants of Scotland. He therefore has recent and relevant
experience. The other members of the Audit Committee, Michael
Harper and David Hall, who are both non-executive directors, have
gained wide experience in regulatory and risk issues. In October
2006, following the satisfactory induction of David Hall as a fourth
non-executive member of the Ricardo board, Marcus Beresford stood
down as a member of the Audit Committee, in line with the Code’s
guidance that the chairman of a company should not be a member of
its audit committee. Appointments to the Audit Committee are made
by the Board on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee
which takes into account the particular skills and attributes required
to fulfil particular roles. The Audit Committee is authorised by the
Board to seek and obtain any information it requires from any officer
or employee of the Company and to obtain external legal or other
independent professional advice as is deemed necessary by it. Audit
Committee meetings are attended by the Chairman, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Group Finance Director, where the
Chairman of the Audit Committee considers it appropriate.

Meetings of the Audit Committee are held at least three times a year
to coincide with the review of the scope of the external and internal
audit and observations arising from their work in relation to internal
control and to review the financial statements in September and
February each year. The external auditors are normally invited to all
meetings and meet with the Audit Committee without management
being present at least once a year. At the Audit Committee meeting in
September it carries out a full review of the year end financial
statements and of the audit, using as a basis the Report to the Audit
Committee prepared by the external auditors and taking into account
any significant accounting policies, any changes to them and any
significant estimates or judgments. Questions are asked of
management of any significant or unusual transactions where the
accounting treatment could be open to different interpretations. A
similar but less detailed review is carried out in February when the
Half Year Report is considered.

The Audit Committee receives reports from management and
internal audit on the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
and risk management systems. It also receives from the external
auditors a report of matters arising during the course of the audit
which the auditors deem to be of significance for the Audit
Committee’s attention. 

The external auditors are required to give the Audit Committee
information about policies and processes for maintaining their
independence and compliance with requirements regarding the
rotation of audit partners and staff. The Audit Committee considers
all relationships between the external auditors and the Company to
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ensure that they do not compromise the auditors’ judgement or
independence particularly with the provision of non-audit services
where a policy relating to these has been agreed by the Board.
Essentially the external auditors would be excluded from carrying out
non-audit services if they are put in the position of auditing their own
work, making management decisions for the Company, if a mutual
interest between the Company and the auditors is created or if the
auditors take on the role of an advocate for the Company. If the
external auditors carry out non-audit services and the cost of these
services is estimated to exceed £20,000, prior approval by the Audit
Committee is required.

The internal audit function is centrally managed. Internal audits are led
by suitably skilled staff from head office or parts of the business
independent from the business or function being audited, and are
resourced by staff from around the Group with suitable skills,
experience and independence for the area they are auditing. This
approach not only ensures independence in the process but also the
relevance of the recommendations and the sharing of best practice
around the Group. During the year a review of the internal audit
process was carried out. The audit plan for the year was reviewed as
was the staffing to carry out the audits. The resources were
considered adequate. The internal audit reports were reviewed as
was management’s response to the findings and recommendations.
The Audit Committee considers that the internal audit process is an
effective tool in the overall context of the Company’s risk
management system. The Audit Committee meets annually with the
head of Internal Audit without the management being present.

The 1998 Public Interest Disclosure Act (“the Act”) aims to promote
greater openness in the workplace and ensure that “whistle blowers”
are protected. The Company maintains a policy in accordance with
the Act which allows employees to raise concerns on a confidential
basis if they have reasonable grounds for believing that there is
serious malpractice within the Company. The policy is designed to
deal with concerns, which must be raised without malice and in good
faith, in relation to specific issues which are in the public interest and
which fall outside the scope of other Company policies and
procedures. There is a specific procedure laid down and action will
be taken in those cases where the concern is shown or considered to
be justified. The individual making the disclosure will be informed of
what action is to be taken and a formal written record will be kept of
each stage of the procedure. The whistle blowing policy is published
internally on the Company’s intranet site.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which is chaired by Michael Harper,
comprises the non-executive directors and is described in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 50 to 57.

The Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, having evaluated the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience on the Board, makes recommendations to
the Board of executive and non-executive appointments. Before such
recommendations are made, descriptions of the roles and skills
required in fulfilling these roles are prepared for particular
appointments. To attract suitable candidates, appropriate external
advice is taken and interviews conducted by at least two members of
the Nomination Committee to ensure a balanced view. Prior to her
appointment by the Board as Group Finance Director to replace

Andrew Goodburn when he retired in January 2007, Paula Bell along
with other potential candidates went through a rigorous interview
process with an external agency. When an appointment of a non-
executive director is made, a formal letter is sent setting out clearly
what is expected regarding time commitment, committee
membership and involvement outside Board meetings. The chosen
candidate is required to disclose to the Board any other significant
commitments before the appointment can be ratified. The
Committee has written terms of reference, and comprises Marcus
Beresford (Chairman), the other non-executive directors (Ian Percy,
Michael Harper and David Hall) and Dave Shemmans (Chief Executive
Officer) and meets at least once a year and at other times as
appropriate. The Chairman of the Committee is the Chairman of the
Board, Marcus Beresford, except when a new Chairman of the Board
is being sought, when it is the senior independent director, Ian Percy.
The leadership needs and succession planning of the Company are
regularly monitored as are the size and structure of the Board with
consideration being given to the training needs of the executive and
non-executive members. Non-executive directors are subject to
rigorous review when they are continuing to serve on the Board for
any term beyond six years.

Boards of subsidiary companies

The Group has a policy of appointing industry experts to participate in
its local operating boards, thus bringing broader global experience to
the Group. Sivert Hiljemark, formerly at Volvo Cars (UK), Walter
Aspatore of Amherst Partners, LLC, Professor Wallentowitz of
Aachen University and Akira Kijima, formerly at Mitsubishi Motor
Corporation, are members of the UK, US, German and Japanese local
operating boards respectively.

Shareholder communications

The Chief Executive Officer and the Group Finance Director regularly
meet with institutional shareholders to foster a mutual understanding
of objectives. Additionally the Chairman and the senior independent
director are available for discussions with major shareholders if
required. Surveys of shareholder opinion are normally carried out
following announcements of results and are circulated to the Board.

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) in November 2006 was
attended by all directors in office at the time of the meeting. The
directors encourage the participation of all shareholders, including
private investors, at the AGM and as a matter of policy the level of
proxy votes (for, against and vote withheld) lodged on each resolution
is declared at the meeting and displayed on the Company’s website.
The Annual Report and Accounts is mailed to shareholders and others
who request it and is published on our website www.ricardo.com.

Going Concern

After making enquiries, the directors have confidence that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Report and
Accounts.
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Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management systems and for reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Each part of the Group highlights potential financial and non-financial
risks which may impact on the business as part of the monthly
management reporting procedures. The Board receives these
monthly management reports and monitors the position at Board
meetings.

As part of the risk management process, directors and senior
managers are required to certify on a bi-annual basis that they have
established effective controls to manage risk and to comply with
legislation and Group procedures. Procedures are in place to ensure
that effective control and risk management is embedded in the Group
and that the Group is in a position to react as appropriate as new
risks arise. The Board confirms that there are ongoing processes for
identifying, evaluating and mitigating the significant risks faced by the
Group. The processes have been in place during the year under
review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and
Accounts, consistent with the most recent Turnbull Committee
guidance for directors on internal control.

The Group’s internal control and monitoring procedures include:

● clear responsibility on the part of line and financial management
for the maintenance of good financial controls and the production
of accurate and timely management information;

● the control of key financial risks through clearly laid down
authorisation levels and appropriate segregation of accounting
duties, the control of key project risks through project delivery
and review systems and the control of other key business risks via
a number of processes and activities recorded in the Group’s risk
register;

● detailed monthly budgeting and reporting of trading results,
balance sheets and cash flows, with regular review by
management of variances from budget;

● reporting on compliance with internal financial controls and
procedures by Group internal audit; and

● review of reports issued by the external auditors.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, reviews reports from
both the internal and external auditors together with management’s
response regarding proposed actions. In this manner they have
reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal controls for the
period covered by the Accounts.

Compliance with the Code

During the year ended 30 June 2007, the Company did not comply
with Section 1 of the Code with respect to:

● The Chairman’s membership of the Remuneration Committee:
the Code’s guidance has been that the Chairman should not sit on
the Remuneration Committee. However the Board takes the
view that his membership of the Remuneration Committee is
important. The Chairman does not chair this Committee. It is
noted that the June 2006 revision to the Code now states that
the Chairman where considered independent on appointment
may be a member of the Remuneration Committee provided he
is not also the chair of the Committee.

● The Chairman’s membership of the Audit Committee: it is
recognised that the Code does not treat the Chairman as
independent after appointment and therefore the Chairman
should not sit on the Audit Committee. As explained above, the
Chairman stepped down from the Audit Committee in October
2006, but attends where necessary at the request of the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

In all other respects the directors consider that the Company has
complied with the provisions of Section 1 of the Code during the year
ended 30 June 2007, and that the Company has been fully compliant
with Section 1 of the June 2006 version of the Code since October
2006.

On behalf of the Board

Marcus Beresford Ian Percy

Chairman Senior Independent Director and
Chairman of the Audit Committee

17 September 2007
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Introduction

This report describes the Group’s remuneration policy as it applies
both to directors and more generally to senior executives. Detailed
disclosures in relation to directors’ remuneration are provided. The
report explains how the Group has applied the principles of the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance in relation to the
remuneration of directors and has been prepared in accordance with
the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. These
regulations require that part of the information is subject to audit, and
this information is set out on pages 54 to 57. 

The Company will seek the approval of this report by shareholders at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 9 November 2007.

The Remuneration Committee

The Board of Directors is responsible for executive remuneration
policy. It has established a Remuneration Committee, which is chaired
by Michael Harper, and is comprised of the non-executive directors,
all of whom possess relevant and recent experience. The non-
executive directors have no personal financial interest other than as
shareholders in matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of
interest arising from cross directorships and no day-to-day
involvement in running the business. Biographical details of the
members of the committee are shown on pages 44 and 45, details of
attendance at the meetings of the committee during the year ended
30 June 2007 are shown on page 47, and directors’ shareholdings are
shown on page 57. The remuneration of the non-executive directors
other than the Chairman of the Board is the responsibility of the
Board members other than those non-executive directors.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference, which
are available at www.ricardo.com, and its responsibilities include:

● recommending to and agreeing with the Board the policy for
executive remuneration,

● agreeing the terms and conditions of employment for executive
directors, including their individual annual remuneration and
pension arrangements,

● agreeing the targets for any performance related bonus and share
schemes,

● agreeing the remuneration of the Chairman of the Board (which
is done in his absence), 

● ensuring that on termination, contractual terms and payments
made are fair both to the Company and the individual so that
failure is not rewarded and that the duty to mitigate loss is
recognised, and

● agreeing the terms of reference of any remuneration consultants
it appoints for the purpose of giving advice.

Deloitte & Touche LLP are appointed as independent remuneration
advisors to the Remuneration Committee. The Committee is also
supported by the Group Human Resources Director (Malcolm
Greenslade, who is retiring in September 2007 and has been replaced
by Sarah Murphy) and the Company Secretary, and during the year
has taken advice from New Bridge Street Consultants on an incentive
plan for Ricardo Strategic Consulting.

Executive Remuneration Policy

The objective of the executive remuneration policy is to provide
remuneration packages that will retain talented people in the business
and enable the recruitment of appropriately skilled and experienced
newcomers. Therefore Ricardo’s executive remuneration policy is to
set levels of salary and other remuneration package elements such
that in total they are competitive relative to similar roles in other
companies and consultancy organisations of Ricardo’s size, complexity
and international reach. Remuneration packages for each executive
director and their fixed and variable elements are reviewed annually.
A significant element of potential remuneration is performance linked,
both through the annual bonus scheme and through participation in
share incentive schemes. Share incentive schemes, coupled with the
share retention policy, ensure that executive directors’ interests are
closely aligned with shareholders’ interests. Through its Chairman, the
Remuneration Committee maintains contact with and seeks the views
of the Company’s principal shareholders as necessary.

During the year, the Committee reviewed the executive
remuneration policy. For 2007/08 and following years, only minor
changes to the annual performance related bonus are proposed and
these are covered in that section of this report. 

Basic salary
Basic salaries are normally reviewed annually on 1 July, and are based
on a number of factors including market rates together with the
individual director’s experience, responsibilities and performance. 

Annual performance related bonus – for the year ended 30 June 2007
The potential to earn bonus was based on benchmarked practice in
the prevailing market. For the Group Chief Executive Officer, Dave
Shemmans, and the Group Finance Director, Paula Bell, targets were
based on underlying EPS growth above the previous financial year. For
Paula Bell, the bonus achievement was pro rated according to the
proportion of the financial year for which she was employed. In the
case of the President of Ricardo, Inc., Jeremy Holt, and the Managing
Director of Ricardo Strategic Consulting, Steve Parker, the bonus
consisted of elements of Group and local business unit profit before
tax. One third of any bonus earned is deferred into shares that are
released after three years subject to continuing employment except
for Steve Parker where the deferral relates to 50% of the local
business unit element of bonus and the deferral period is two years.

In the year ended 30 June 2007, partly due to an unusually good
taxation result recognised in the income statement, earnings per
share increased sufficiently, if considered in isolation, to imply
maximum potential bonus for Dave Shemmans and Paula Bell.
However in the light of the overall underlying performance of the
business the Remuneration Committee determined that the actual
bonus awarded in both cases should be 60% of maximum potential
bonus, one third of which will be deferred into shares that will be
released after three years subject to continuing employment.

In the case of Steve Parker, no bonus based on Ricardo Strategic
Consulting performance was earned. In the case of Jeremy Holt,
bonus earned based on performance prior to his departure was
recognised within the overall settlement reported on pages 53 and
54.

Annual performance related bonus – for the year ending 30 June 2008
onwards 
For the year ending 30 June 2008, the following revisions have been
made to the bonus policy: 

50 Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology

Directors’ Remuneration Report

3. Front [97053]  21/9/07  10:24  Page 50



Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology

Directors’ Remuneration Report

● For participants in business units, bonus levels will be based upon
appropriate and varying mixes of Group and business unit results.
If Group performance targets are not met, the bonus element
based on business unit results may still be payable, subject to
Remuneration Committee discretion.

● Bonuses will be determined based on achievement of profit
before tax, cash and margin targets for all participants.

Deferred bonus
Ricardo introduced a compulsory deferral of bonus into shares
arrangement effective for the year ended 30 June 2007 and
subsequent years that applies to performance related bonuses for
executive directors and selected senior executives. This:

● provides for further alignment of executives’ and shareholders’
interests,

● provides an enhanced retention element, and 

● facilitates executive directors to attain a target shareholding to a
value of at least basic annual salary within 5 years of appointment.

No matching awards are provided in relation to the deferrals. Release
of deferred bonuses is subject to continued employment for a three
year period from the award date (or in the case of Steve Parker for a
two year period from the award date).

Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
The objective of making awards under the LTIP is to focus the efforts
of executive directors and other senior executives on the long term
performance of the Group in a way which aligns with the interests of
shareholders. 

Ricardo’s previous LTIP was approved by shareholders in November
1996 and expired in November 2006. Also in November 2006
shareholders approved the current LTIP to be effective from the date
of approval. No provisional awards have yet been made under the
current LTIP.

Under both LTIPs, a plan cycle lasting for three financial years may
start each year. Provisional awards of ordinary shares are made based
on a proportion of basic salary at the start of each plan cycle. The
eventual number of shares which participants in a plan cycle may
receive, if any, is dependent on Ricardo’s performance over the three
year period. Provisional awards under both the previous and current
LTIPs may not in any event exceed 100% of basic salary. 

Provisional share awards under plan cycles not yet complete for the
executive directors in service at 30 June 2007 under the previous
LTIP scheme are as follows:

Provisional awards in relation to basic salary at time of award
(actual amounts vesting Plan Cycle Plan Cycle
depending on performance) ending 2008 ending 2009

Dave Shemmans 75% 85%
Paula Bell – 50%

Under the previous LTIP, the amounts vesting were dependent upon
Ricardo plc’s Total Shareholder Return (share price movement plus

dividends reinvested – “TSR”) performance against FTSE 250
companies (excluding investment trusts and financial services
companies). Awards lapse at performance below median. 25% of the
award vests for median performance. Awards vest in full for upper
quartile performance. For levels of performance between median and
upper quartile, there is partial vesting on a sliding scale. 

With the exception of the performance conditions, the key features of
the current LTIP are similar to the previous arrangements, and award
levels are proposed to be similar to those under the previous
arrangements. Performance conditions of the current LTIP, as
previously advised to shareholders in a letter regarding resolutions to
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting in November 2006, are
planned as follows:

● 50% of any award will be subject to a relative TSR performance
condition with vesting on the same basis as the previous LTIP. The
TSR comparator group for the current LTIP will be the FTSE
Small Cap Index (excluding financial services companies and
investment trusts), as Ricardo is a constituent of this group; and

● 50% of any award will vest according to a normalised EPS growth
scale. The Company will set for each plan cycle scaled normalised
EPS performance targets, which will be suitably stretching, taking
into account the economic/market outlook, business plan and
investor expectations at the time of each provisional award.

The committee believes that the combination of these performance
conditions provides a suitable alignment between executive reward
and the creation of long term shareholder value.

It is planned that the following EPS and TSR performance
conditions/vesting schedules will apply to provisional awards in the
year ending 30 June 2008:

Real normalised EPS growth Vesting

Less than 3% per annum Nil
3% per annum 30% of grant
10% per annum 100% of grant
Between 3% and 10% per annum On a straight line basis

TSR performance compared to FTSE Small Cap Index Vesting

Below median Nil
At median 25% of grant
Upper quartile 100% of grant
Between median and upper quartile On a straight line basis

The Committee has reviewed these, and believes that this target
range for awards will be stretching, taking account of current business
forecasts and plans. Appropriate adjustments for significant
retrospective R&D tax credits and other claims of £5.2m credited to
the income statement will be determined in setting the normalised
earnings per share for the base year ended 30 June 2007 from which
growth is to be measured. Performance targets will be reviewed for
any subsequent awards taking account of prevailing conditions at the
time.

Basic annual salary and bonus levels For the year ended 30 June 2007 From 1 July 2007
Basic Maximum Basic Maximum

salary bonus Actual salary bonus
£’000 potential bonus £’000 potential

Dave Shemmans 300 90% 54% 330 90%
Paula Bell (from October 2006) 180 80% 35% 212 80%
Steve Parker 331 200% 13% 338 200%
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Share option schemes
During the year the following share option schemes were relevant to
this report:

● The 2004 Executive Approved/Unapproved Share Option Plan
(“the 2004 Plan”) which was adopted by shareholders in
November 2004;

● The 1994 Executive Approved/Unapproved Share Option
Scheme (“the 1994 Scheme”), which was adopted by
shareholders in November 1994 and which expired in November
2004, but under the terms of which a number of unexercised
grants continue to subsist; and

● The Ricardo plc 2000 Savings Related Share Option Scheme, a
standard HMRC-approved all employee SAYE scheme under the
terms of which a number of unexercised grants also continue to
subsist.

The 2004 Plan requires that the exercise of options granted is subject
to the achievement of demanding performance criteria. The
performance criteria attaching to options granted under this plan
historically require that as a minimum the cumulative growth in the
Group’s normalised EPS over the next three years, from a base point
of the average of the Group’s normalised EPS figures for the previous
two years, exceeds that of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) by 3% per
annum or more. Options can only be exercised in full if cumulative
growth in the Group’s normalised EPS from the base point exceeds
the growth in RPI by 6% per annum or more. For performance
between 3% per annum and 6% per annum, an option can be
exercised based on a sliding scale. If normalised EPS growth fails to
exceed that of RPI by at least 3% per annum cumulatively over the
three years, the option will lapse. Where relevant, normalised EPS
calculations will be consistent with those used in setting the
normalised EPS for the base year for the LTIP as referred to on page
51.

The maximum value of grants made to individual participants in any
one year may not exceed 100% of salary.

Options will not normally be granted in the same year to an individual
who is also in receipt of an LTIP award. However, the Company may
make executive share option grants from time to time in exceptional
circumstances such as in strategically important recruitment or
retention situations or to meet changing competitive market
pressures such as might exist in the various key geographies in which
Ricardo executives are based. Where such options are granted,
stretching performance conditions are attached, which are set at the
time of grant.

On commencement of service in October 2006, a grant was made of
options over 25,000 shares to the Group Finance Director, Paula Bell.
Following an excellent performance by the Ricardo Strategic
Consulting division in the year ended 30 June 2006, a grant was made
of options over 50,000 shares to the Managing Director of that
division, Steve Parker. The performance conditions attached to both
grants was 30% vesting at 3% real growth in normalised EPS per
annum and 100% vesting at 10% real growth in normalised EPS per
annum, and with options vesting on a straight line basis for
performance in between 3% and 10% real growth in normalised EPS
per annum. The Company did not grant any other options to
executive directors during the year.

Under the 1994 Scheme, no further options could be granted after 4

November 2004. The performance criteria attaching to subsisting
options granted under the 1994 Scheme require that the Group’s
normalised EPS must increase on average by at least 7.5% per annum
(adjusted for inflation), over the three year period after the grant
date, before the option may be exercised. If the Group’s normalised
EPS performance fails to meet this target, the period over which
performance is measured is extended to four years and if necessary
again to five years, in both cases still requiring the average growth in
normalised EPS over the period to exceed 7.5% per annum (adjusted
for inflation). If the Group’s performance fails to achieve this target
after five years, the option lapses.

All-employee share plans
At the AGM in November 2006 shareholder approval was given for
an HMRC-approved Share Incentive Plan (“SIP”), which has been
implemented to further encourage share ownership. The SIP provides
for partnership, matching and free shares, either by delivery of
market purchased or newly issued shares. The Company has initially
offered partnership shares only. Under the legislation, the tax
approved status of a SIP only applies to UK employees and therefore
the SIP does not apply to overseas employees at this stage, although
this position will be reviewed from time to time.

The Ricardo plc 2000 Savings Related Share Option Scheme is an
HMRC-approved, all employee savings contract based SAYE scheme.
No SAYE options have been granted since October 2002.

Transition to IFRS
The impact of conversion to International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) has been considered in determining whether any
share options originally granted before conversion to IFRS may be
exercisable, in order to ensure that performance is measured on a
consistent basis. The impact of IFRS on normalised earnings per share
for the relevant periods previously reported under UK GAAP is
minimal and has not made any difference to options exercisable to
date. Any adjustments necessary to the remaining affected share
options not yet exercisable are expected to be insignificant.

Dilution limits
The number of shares that may be issued under all Ricardo employee
share plans in any ten year rolling period will be restricted to 10% of
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company and 5% of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company for discretionary
employee share plans.

At the end of the year under review, the Company’s overall dilution
was 7.9%, of which 4.6% related to discretionary share plans.

Pensions
The Chief Executive Officer, Dave Shemmans, and Steve Parker are
members of the Ricardo Group Pension Fund (“RGPF”) at the
invitation of the Company. The RGPF is established under trust,
contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme and
approved by HMRC under the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
1988. The Company will continue to apply a notional HMRC cap in its
UK defined benefit pension scheme from 6 April 2006. At retirement,
members may commute a portion of their pension for a cash sum.
Under the rules of the RGPF, performance related bonuses do not
form part of pensionable earnings. The RGPF is now closed to new
employees.

The RGPF provides Dave Shemmans with a pension of up to two
thirds of basic salary (up to the cap) on retirement at age 65 after 25
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or more years’ service. Retirement before the pension age is subject
to actuarial reduction. Members’ contributions are based on an age-
related scale and are currently required at the rate of 6.35% of
pensionable earnings. 

The RGPF provides Steve Parker with a pension of up to two thirds
of basic salary (up to the cap) on retirement at age 62 after 20 or
more years’ service. Retirement before the pension age is subject to
actuarial reduction except that no actuarial deduction is made if he
retires between the ages of 60 and 62. Members’ contributions are
required at the rate of 8% of pensionable earnings. In addition,
employer pension contributions for Steve Parker are made on a
defined contribution basis with investment at the discretion of Steve
Parker. Total employer contributions in respect of Steve Parker
(including the funding of the RGPF company contributions) are
capped at £125,000.

The right to a pension from the RGPF on early retirement is available
with the consent of the Company and the Trustees if the individual is
over 50 or retiring due to ill health. The total pension paid by the
fund in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension will increase
annually at the rate of 5% compound or by the rise in the Retail
Prices Index if lower. On death after retirement, a spouse’s pension is
paid at 50% of the member’s pre-commutation pension and if death
occurs within five years after retirement a lump sum equal to the
member’s monthly rate of pensionable pay by the fund at the date of
death multiplied by the number of unpaid monthly instalments to the
end of that five year period.

On death in service, Dave Shemmans and Steve Parker are entitled,
subject to the medical requirements of the insurance company, to a
lump sum of four times annual salary at date of death, together with a
spouse’s pension of 35% of annual salary and a pension per child of
12.5% of annual salary, subject to a maximum limit of 25%, until the
child attains the age of 18 (or 21 if in full time education). 

Paula Bell is a member of the Ricardo International Pension Scheme
(“RIPS”), a defined contribution pension scheme. The RIPS is also
established under trust, not contracted out of the State Earnings
Related Pension Scheme and approved by HMRC under the Income
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. At retirement, members may
commute a portion of their pension for a cash sum. Early retirement
is available with the consent of the Company and the Trustees if the
individual is over 50 or retiring due to ill health. Employer’s
contributions for Paula Bell were made at the rate of 15% of basic
salary over the Lower Earnings Limit for the period to 30 June 2007,
and will be made at the rate of 20% thereafter. On death in service,
Paula Bell, subject to the medical requirements of the insurance
company, is entitled to a lump sum of four times annual salary at date
of death.

Other benefits
The Company provides other cash benefits and benefits in kind in line
with market practice. These include a company car or cash
alternative, private fuel, private medical insurance and life assurance.
For Dave Shemmans, payment in lieu of pension provision for UK
earnings over the notional cap is made at the rate of 15% of basic
salary over the cap. The Company also pays or reimburses non-
executive directors in respect of taxable travel expenses.

Service agreements
The Board’s policy on setting notice periods for directors is that these
should not exceed one year. It recognises, however, that it may be

necessary in the case of new executive appointments to offer an initial
longer notice period, which would subsequently reduce to one year
after the expiry of that period. All future appointments to the Board
will comply with this requirement. 

All current executive directors have service agreements terminable
on one year’s notice. The dates of the service contracts of the
executive directors are as follows:

Date of
service contract

Dave Shemmans 7 April 2005
Paula Bell 9 October 2006
Steve Parker 2 November 2005

The contractual termination provision is payment in lieu of notice
equal to one year’s basic salary and benefits or the amount of any
unexpired notice and any accrued bonus to the date of termination. If
the Company terminates a director’s service contract, not in
accordance with its terms, there is an obligation on the director to
mitigate any loss which they may suffer and this will be taken into
account by the Committee when determining what compensation, if
any, should be paid to the departing director. In the case of Dave
Shemmans’ and Paula Bell’s contracts, specific mitigation provisions
are included. No compensation is paid for summary dismissal.

On 16 May 2007 Jeremy Holt stepped down from the Board. In
accordance with the above mentioned contractual obligations and
legal advice on the current interpretation of those contractual
obligations in Detroit, a payment of $625,000 was made to him in July
2007 for liquidation of his service agreement, consideration for a
separation agreement and bonus entitlement. In addition he has been
awarded 26,214 shares under the LTIP and the Company has agreed
to pay costs of approximately $60,000 for outplacement fees, legal
fees and health insurance. 

Share retention policy
The Board operates a share retention policy for the executive
directors. Each is required within 5 years of the later of the date of
appointment and any award under any of the share plans subsequent
to the adoption of the policy in November 2004 to own shares in the
Company with a value at least equal to one times basic annual salary.
Executive directors are not required to purchase shares to fulfil this
requirement but are expected to retain all shares earned under
various share plans until the requirement is met.

External appointments
The Board recognises the benefit that Ricardo can obtain if executive
directors of Ricardo serve as non-executive directors of other
companies. Subject to review in each case, the Remuneration
Committee’s general policy is that executive directors may accept
non-executive directorships with other companies, so long as there is
no conflict of interest and their effectiveness is not impaired.
Directors may retain any fees in respect of such appointments.

Non-executive directors
The Board determines the fees paid to non-executive directors other
than the Chairman. The fees are set in line with prevailing market
conditions and at a level which will attract individuals with the
necessary experience and ability to make a significant contribution to
the Group’s affairs. The fees were reviewed during the year and have
been set from I July 2007 to comprise a basic fee for non-executive
directors other than the Chairman of £33,500 per annum with an
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additional amount of £3,000 paid to each of the Chairmen of the
Audit and Remuneration Committees and an additional amount of
£5,000 paid to Ian Percy in his role as the senior independent
director. The Chairman’s total fees are £115,000 from 1 July 2007.
Non-executive directors are not involved in any discussion or decision
about their own remuneration. The same applies to the Chairman of
the Board whose remuneration is determined by the Remuneration
Committee in his absence. The aggregate limit for fees paid to non-
executive directors is laid down in the Articles of Association.

The non-executive directors do not participate in any of the
Company’s share schemes, pension schemes or bonus arrangements
nor do they have service agreements. They are appointed for a
period of two or three years by letter of appointment and are
entitled to one month’s notice of early termination for which no
compensation is payable. The unexpired terms of the non-executive
directors at 30 June 2007 are:

Marcus Beresford 3 months
(renewed since the year end for a further three years)

Ian Percy 24 months
Michael Harper 36 months
David Hall 30 months

Performance graph

The graph on this page based on data from Hemscott shows, for a
notional amount invested of £100, the Company’s TSR (share price 
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Auditable part

The auditable part of the directors’ remuneration report is set out below on pages 54 to 57.

Directors’ emoluments

Totals for the period ended 30 June 2007:

Basic salary Performance Other cash Benefits Termination
and fees related bonus benefits (d) in kind (e) payments Total 2007 Total 2006

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive directors
Dave Shemmans 300 162 43 5 – 510 311
Paula Bell (a) 132 62 9 3 – 206 –
Steve Parker 331 44 15 10 – 400 815
Andrew Goodburn (b) 111 30 32 7 – 180 300
Jeremy Holt (c) 182 – – 10 342 534 213

Non-executive directors
Marcus Beresford 105 – – 11 – 116 113
Ian Percy 39 – 9 – – 48 45
Michael Harper 35 – 1 – – 36 37
David Hall 30 – 1 – – 31 12

Directors not serving in the year – – – – – – 442

1,265 298 110 46 342 2,061 2,288

(a) Paula Bell was appointed on 9 October 2006. 

(b) Andrew Goodburn resigned from the Board and retired on 5 January 2007.

(c) Jeremy Holt resigned from the Board on 16 May 2007. His termination payments amount to $685,000 (£342,000 translated at 2.00) and his
US dollar based remuneration other than termination payments has been translated at a dollar/sterling exchange rate of 1.93 (2006: 1.78).

(d) Other cash benefits include company car allowances, payments in lieu of pension provision for UK earnings over the notional HMRC cap,
payments for life assurance and payment to Andrew Goodburn for a final FURBS pension liability. The Company also reimburses non-
executive directors in respect of taxable travel expenses.

(e) Benefits in kind include company cars, private fuel, private medical insurance, life assurance cover and taxable travel costs paid on behalf of
Marcus Beresford.

movement plus dividends reinvested) over the last five financial years
compared to the performance of the FTSE Small Cap and FTSE 250
indices, using the average data for the three months prior to each
data point. In the directors’ opinion, the Small Cap index represents
an appropriate index against which the TSR should be measured
when considering the Company’s size, and is used for performance
criteria under the current LTIP. The FTSE 250 index has been used
for LTIP performance criteria under the previous LTIP.
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Directors’ pensions

(a) With respect to defined benefit pension schemes

Additional Additional Transfer value
accrued pension of additional
pension benefits Transfer Transfer Increase in accrued
benefits earned in the Accrued value Value transfer value pension

earned in year (excluding pension at 30 June at 30 June less members’ (excluding
the year inflation) entitlement 2007 2006 contributions inflation)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Dave Shemmans 4 3 13 60 37 21 15
Steve Parker 4 4 18 216 143 64 44
Andrew Goodburn 2 1 47 831 704 118 17

The increase in the accrued pension entitlement is the difference
between the accrued benefit at the year-end and that at the previous
year-end. All transfer values have been calculated on the basis of
actuarial advice consistent with Actuarial Guidance Notice GN11. The
increase in the transfer value less directors’ contributions is the
increase in the value of accrued benefits during the year after
deducting the director’s personal contributions. The transfer value of
the increase in accrued benefits, required by the Listing Rules,
discloses the current value of the increase in accrued benefits that the
director has earned in the period, whereas the change in his transfer
value, required by the Companies Act, discloses the absolute increase
or decrease in his transfer value and includes the change in value of
the accrued benefits that results from market volatility affecting the

transfer value at the beginning of the year, as well as the additional
value earned in the year.

(b) With respect to defined contribution pension schemes

Contributions paid or payable 2007
£’000

Paula Bell 18
Steve Parker 85
Andrew Goodburn 97
Jeremy Holt 42

In respect of Dave Shemmans, a cash benefit amount of £29,000 was
paid in lieu of pension provision for UK earnings over the notional
cap, as reported on page 54.

Directors’ interests in shares provisionally awarded under the Long Term Incentive Plan
Share
price Number of provisional shares Value

at award of shares
Cycle Award date At 1 July At 30 June vested Vesting

ending date in pence 2006 Allocated Lapsed Vested 2007 £’000 date

Dave Shemmans Jun 06 Sep 03 372.5 6,304 – 6,304 – – – –
Jun 07 Dec 04 185.0 31,517 – 16,074 15,443 – 53 30.06.07
Jun 08 Dec 05 301.0 53,571 – – – 53,571 – –
Jun 09 Oct 06 303.3 – 85,801 – – 85,801 – –

Paula Bell Jun 09 Oct 06 303.3 – 30,283 – – 30,283 – –

Steve Parker Jun 06 Sep 03 372.5 33,246 – 33,246 – – – –
Jun 07 Dec 04 185.0 55,769 – 28,532 27,237 – 94 30.06.07

Andrew Goodburn Jun 06 Sep 03 372.5 27,344 – 27,344 – – – –
Jun 07 Dec 04 185.0 45,673 – 45,673 – – – –
Jun 08 Dec 05 301.0 32,890 – 32,890 – – – –

Jeremy Holt Jun 06 Sep 03 372.5 28,156 – 28,156 – – – –
Jun 07 Dec 04 185.0 43,100 – 22,568 20,532 – 79 16.05.07
Jun 08 Dec 05 301.0 31,107 – 31,107 – – – –
Jun 09 Oct 06 303.3 – 32,060 26,378 5,682 – 22 16.05.07

The mid-market closing price of the Company’s shares on 30 June 2007 was 345.75p and on 16 May 2007 was 384.00p.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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For the Plan Cycles ending 30 June 2007, 2008 and 2009 amounts
vesting depend on Ricardo plc’s TSR performance for the three
financial years ending on those dates against FTSE 250 companies,
excluding investment trusts and financial services companies. Awards
lapse at performance below median. 25% of the award vests for
median performance. Awards vest in full for upper quartile

performance. For levels of performance between median and upper
quartile, there is partial vesting on a sliding scale.

For the Plan Cycle ended 30 June 2007, Ricardo plc’s TSR performance
was between the median and upper quartile, at the 58th percentile,
and accordingly 49% of the awards have vested.
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The options granted to Jeremy Holt, as shown above, did not meet the
performance conditions and therefore lapsed. The performance
criteria attaching to subsisting options granted under the 1994 Scheme
require that the Group’s normalised EPS must increase on average by
at least 7.5% per annum (adjusted for inflation), over the three year
period after the grant date, before the options may be exercised. If the

Group’s adjusted EPS performance fails to meet this target, the period
over which performance is measured is extended to four years and if
necessary again to five years, in both cases still requiring the average
growth in adjusted EPS over the period to exceed 7.5% per annum
(adjusted for inflation). If the Group’s performance fails to achieve this
target after five years, the options will lapse.

The Ricardo plc 2000 Savings Related Share Option Scheme

Number of share options Exercise
At At price Date from

1 July 20 June per share which Expiry
2006 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2007 in pence exercisable date

Dave Shemmans 2,814 – – – 2,814 233.4 1.12.07 31.05.08

The mid-market closing price of the Company’s shares on 30 June
2007 was 345.75p. The highest price of the Company’s shares during

the financial year was 392.00p. The lowest price of the Company’s
shares during the financial year was 260.25p.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Directors’ interests in share options

The 2004 Executive Share Option Scheme

Number of share options Exercise
At At price Date from

1 July 30 June per share which Expiry
2006 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2007 in pence exercisable date

Dave Shemmans 80,000 – – – 80,000 267.5 22.02.08 21.02.15
Steve Parker 60,000 – – – 60,000 267.5 22.02.08 21.02.15
Steve Parker – 50,000 – – 50,000 300.0 20.10.09 19.10.16
Paula Bell – 25,000 – – 25,000 300.0 20.10.09 19.10.16

For the share options already granted at 1 July 2006, the performance
criteria attaching to these options require that as a minimum the
cumulative growth in the Group’s normalised EPS over the next three
financial years, from a base point of the average of the Group’s
normalised EPS figures for the previous two financial years, exceeds that
of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) by 3% per annum or more. Options can
only be exercised in full if cumulative growth in the Group’s normalised
EPS from the base point exceeds the growth in RPI by 6% per annum or
more. For performance between 3% per annum and 6% per annum, an
option can be exercised based on a sliding scale. If normalised EPS
growth fails to exceed that of RPI by at least 3% per annum cumulatively
over the three years, the option will lapse.

For the share options granted during the year, the performance criteria
attaching to these options require that as a minimum the cumulative
growth in the Group’s normalised EPS over the next three financial
years, from a base point of the Group’s normalised EPS figures for the
previous financial year, exceeds that of the Retail Price Index (“RPI”) by
3% per annum or more. Options can only be exercised in full if
cumulative growth in the Group’s normalised EPS from the base point
exceeds the growth in RPI by 10% per annum or more. For
performance between 3% per annum and 10% per annum, an option
can be exercised based on a sliding scale. If normalised EPS growth fails
to exceed that of RPI by at least 3% per annum cumulatively over the
three years, the option will lapse.

The 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme

Number of share options Exercise
At At price Date from

1 July 30 June per share which Expiry
2006 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2007 in pence exercisable date

Dave Shemmans 45,000 – – – 45,000 185.0 25.06.07 21.02.15
Steve Parker 100,000 – – – 100,000 186.5 21.09.07 21.02.15
Jeremy Holt 50,000 – – 50,000 – 381.0 – –
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Directors’ interests in shares

The interests of directors and their connected persons in shares, excluding any interests in share options and shares provisionally awarded under
the Long Term Incentive Plan, are all beneficial interests and are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares
At At

30 June 1 July
2007 2006

Dave Shemmans 960 960
Paula Bell – –*
Steve Parker 16,195 16,195
Marcus Beresford 20,000 20,000
Ian Percy – –
Michael Harper 20,000 20,000
David Hall 5,000 –

* at date of appointment.

At 17 September 2007 the interests in shares of the directors still in office were unchanged from those at 30 June 2007. 

On behalf of the Board

Michael Harper
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

17 September 2007

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Directors’ Report 

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2007.

Business Review

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of technical and
strategic consulting to industry, commerce and other agencies.

The directors have prepared a Business Review which is set out on
pages 19 to 41 and amongst other things covers:

● a review of the Group’s marketplace, strategy, research and
development and principal risks;

● business operations, performance and prospects;

● employee involvement and diversity; and

● corporate social responsibility.

In addition a segmental analysis is given in note 2 to the financial
statements, and financial risks and policies are given in note 22 to the
financial statements.

Directors

The directors who served on the Board during the year were:

Non-executive directors:
Marcus Beresford, CBE, M.A.Mech.Sc., FIET, Chairman
Professor Ian Percy, CBE, LLD, CA
Michael Harper, MSc, CCMI, FRAeS
David Hall, MA, MSc

Executive directors:
Dave Shemmans, BEng
Paula Bell, FCMA (appointed 9 October 2006)
Steve Parker 
Andrew Goodburn, FCA (resigned 5 January 2007)
Jeremy Holt, BEng, MBA (resigned 16 May 2007)

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, shareholders have
the right to appoint directors by ordinary resolution, either to fill a
vacancy or as an additional member of the board. In addition, the
board has the power to appoint new directors, but a director
appointed in this way may only then hold office until the conclusion of
the next Annual General Meeting following their appointment unless
they are re-appointed by shareholders during the course of that
meeting. At each Annual General Meeting (subject to certain
additional requirements) one third of the directors must retire from
office and may, if they so wish, offer themselves for reappointment by
shareholders. In addition to powers of removal of a director
conferred by legislation from time to time, the Articles of Association
also allow shareholders to remove a director from office by ordinary
resolution of which special notice has been given.

The directors are responsible for the management of the business of
the Company, and they may (subject to specific restrictions as may be
imposed by law and the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company) exercise all powers of the Company whether relating
to the management of the business or not. The Board is specifically
empowered to delegate any of its powers and authorities to
Directors holding executive offices and to committees, local
management and agents, in each case on such terms as it thinks fit.

Board Committees

The directors who served on Board Committees during the year were:

Audit Committee: Ian Percy (Chairman); Michael Harper; David Hall;
Marcus Beresford (until 19 October 2006).

Remuneration: Michael Harper (Chairman); Marcus Beresford; Ian
Percy; David Hall.

Nomination: Marcus Beresford (Chairman); Ian Percy; Michael
Harper; David Hall; Dave Shemmans.

Details of the roles of the Board of Directors and Board Committees
can be found on pages 46 to 48 and of the role of the Remuneration
Committee on page 50.

Directors’ interests and indemnity arrangements

At no time during the year did any director hold a material interest in
any contract of significance with the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings other than a third party indemnity provision between
each director and the Company and service contracts between each
executive director and the Company.

The Company has purchased and maintained throughout the year
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its
directors. The directors also have the benefit of the indemnity
provisions in the Company’s Articles of Association. The Company
has entered into letter agreements for the benefit of current directors
of the Company in respect of liabilities which may attach to them in
their capacity as directors of the Company or associated companies.
These provisions are qualifying third party indemnity provisions as
defined in section 309A of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”).

Details of directors’ remuneration, service contracts and interests in
the shares of the Company are set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 50 to 57.

Supplier payment policy

It is the Company’s policy to settle the terms of payment with
suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, to ensure that
those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment, and to
abide by the terms of payment. Creditor days for the year ended 
30 June 2007 were 36 (2006: 30).

Disclosure of information

So far as the directors in service at the date of approval of this report
are aware, there is no information needed by the Company’s auditors
in connection with preparing their report of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.

Change of control provisions

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or terminate
upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid,
such as commercial contracts, bank loan agreements, property lease
arrangements and employees’ share plans. None of these are
considered to be significant in terms of their likely impact on the
business of the Group as a whole.
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Share transfers and dealings
On a transfer of shares, the directors may only refuse to register the
transfer concerned in certain limited and standard circumstances,
including where the share concerned is not fully paid or where the
form of transfer has not been properly stamped (where required).  

There are no general requirements in existence for shareholders to
obtain the approval of either the Company or other shareholders for
a transfer of the Company's securities. However, in accordance with
the Listing Rules, the Company operates a share dealings code, which
restricts the ability of directors and certain other employees from
dealing in the Company's securities.  In particular, the code requires
that restricted persons must not deal in any securities of the
Company without obtaining clearance in advance.

Subject to such specific authorities as are required by companies
legislation, the Articles of Association give the Board general and
unconditional authority to allot, grant options over and otherwise deal
with or dispose of shares in the Company. At the 2006 Annual
General Meeting, shareholder resolutions were passed authorising the
directors to allot relevant securities of the Company up to a
maximum nominal amount of £4,182,645. In addition, at the same
meeting shareholders authorised the Company to make market
purchases of its own ordinary shares up to a maximum of 5,069,873
shares (although as at the date hereof this authority has not been
used). As described below, it is proposed that both of these
authorities be renewed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The 2007 Annual General Meeting of the Company will take place at
11.00 a.m. on 9 November 2007 at the London Stock Exchange. A
separate notice of meeting will be sent to shareholders.

Dividends (resolution 2)
The directors propose a final dividend of 7.1p (2006 - 6.7p) per share,
amounting to £3,599,610 (2006 - £3,396,815) payable on 23
November 2007 to shareholders on the register at close of business
on 26 October 2007. The final dividend proposed will make a total of
10.0p (2006 - 9.4p) per share for the year.

Re-election of directors (resolutions 3 to 5)
Professor Ian Percy, David Hall and Dave Shemmans will be subject to
retirement by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and will be
proposed for re-election. Biographical details of these directors and
the other directors on the Board are shown on pages 44 to 45.

All the directors and the Board as a whole are subject to rigorous
performance evaluation. All the directors continue to be effective and
are committed to their roles. All directors will be present at the
Annual General Meeting and welcome that opportunity to meet with
Shareholders.

Auditors (resolution 6)
The directors propose that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be re-
appointed as auditors of the Company, and a resolution to that effect
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Sections 80 and 95 authorities (resolutions 8 and 9)
The directors will seek to renew authorities under Sections 80 and 95
of the Act at the Annual General Meeting, empowering them
respectively to allot shares and to allot shares for cash other than pro
rata to existing shareholders (as would otherwise be required by
Section 89 of the Act), in both cases subject to specified limits and
periods as stated in the notice. The authority to allot shares will, if
passed, be in respect of ordinary shares with a maximum nominal

value of £4,182,645, which represents 33% of the issued ordinary
share capital at the date hereof and will expire 15 months following
the date of passing of the resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of
the 2008 Annual General Meeting. The directors have no present
intention to exercise this authority, but would then have the flexibility
to issue new shares up to this limit should they decide that it would
be in the interests of the Company to do so.

The maximum nominal value of shares which may be allotted for cash
otherwise than pro rata to existing shareholders would be £633,734,
equivalent to 5% of the issued share capital at the date hereof.

No issue will be made which would effectively alter the control of the
Company, or the nature of its business, without the prior approval of
the shareholders in general meeting.

Purchase of own shares (resolution 10)
The Company’s Articles permit the Company to buy back its own
shares with authority from its members and a resolution to this effect
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. The directors are
seeking to renew the authority to buy back up to 10% of its issued
shares, which has not been exercised since the previous Annual
General Meeting, and which they will exercise only if circumstances
arise in which they consider such purchases to be in the interests of
shareholders generally and earnings per share (“EPS”) can be
improved further. Performance targets based on EPS attaching to
employee incentive schemes will be adjusted accordingly if the
authority is exercised.

The Company can either cancel shares which have been purchased or
hold them as treasury shares or a combination of both. Treasury shares
are shares which have been repurchased by the Company and which
the Company is allowed to hold pending either reselling them for cash,
cancelling them or using them for the purposes of employee share
plans. The directors believe that it is desirable for the Company to have
that choice. The Company holds no treasury shares at the date hereof.

Companies Act 2006
The directors consider that no changes to the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association need to be proposed to
members at the November 2007 Annual General Meeting, and expect
to make recommendations for changes at the November 2008 Annual
General Meeting. In view of the number of shareholders being less
than two thousand, the directors do not consider it necessary to take
advantage of the provisions enabling electronic communications with
shareholders in advance of this date.

The Company's Articles of Association may either be amended or
may be replaced in their entirety by special resolution passed by
shareholders.

Voting rights
The Company's share capital is divided into ordinary shares of 25
pence each. At general meetings of the Company, each member who
is present (in person, by proxy or by representative) is entitled to one
vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, to one vote per share. With
respect to shares held on behalf of participants in the all employee
Share Incentive Plan, the trustees are required to vote as the
participants direct them to do so in respect of their plan shares.

Electronic voting
This year the Company is again offering those members who wish to
do so the choice of recording a proxy vote electronically. Details of
how to do this are to be found in the notice of the Annual General
Meeting and on the proxy form. Recording a proxy vote, either
electronically or by filling in the form by hand, does not preclude
members from attending and voting at the meeting should they so wish.

Directors’ Report
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in
respect of the Annual Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared
the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union. The financial statements are required by law to
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

● select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

● make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

● state whether the financial statements comply with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union; and

● prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in
business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration
Report comply with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

David Oglethorpe
Secretary

17 September 2007

60

Substantial shareholders
The Company is informed that, at 1 September 2007, the following are holders of more than 3% of the Company’s issued share capital, all of
which are non-beneficial interests:

Number % of issued
of shares share capital

Legal & General Investment Management 4,241,891 8.4
JP Morgan Asset Management 3,957,798 7.8
Scottish Widows Investment Partnership 3,740,047 7.4
Morley Fund Management 2,930,203 5.8
Baillie Gifford & Co 2,633,300 5.2
Standard Life 2,063,429 4.1
Montanaro Investment Management 1,958,235 3.9
BlackRock Merrill Lynch Investment Managers 1,642,055 3.2

By order of the Board

David Oglethorpe
Secretary

17 September 2007
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report to the
Members of Ricardo plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements
(the “financial statements’’) of Ricardo plc for the year ended 30 June
2007 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Recognised Income
and Expense, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets,
the Consolidated and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements and the
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in
the statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has
been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We report to you whether in our
opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements. The information given in the Directors’
Report includes that specific information presented in the Business
Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report. In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our
audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the statement of Corporate Governance in
Practice reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions
of the 2003 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
The other information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement, the
Financial Highlights, the Features, the Business Review, the statement
of Corporate Governance in Practice, the Directors’ Report and the

unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and
Parent Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

● the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 June 2007 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

● the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 June
2007 and cash flows for the year then ended;

● the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

● the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Southampton

17 September 2007
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Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2007

64 Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology

2007 2006
Continuing operations Notes £m £m

Revenue 2 171.5 171.9

Operating profit 4 13.2 15.8

Operating profit excluding pensions credit (underlying) 13.2 12.1
Pensions credit 23 – 3.7

Finance income 7 2.0 1.4
Finance costs 7 (3.0) (2.7)

Profit before taxation 12.2 14.5

Profit before tax excluding pensions credit (underlying) 12.2 10.8
Pensions credit 23 – 3.7

Taxation 8 2.9 (2.3)

Profit for the year 15.1 12.2

Profit for the year excluding pensions credit (underlying) 15.1 9.6
Pensions credit 23 – 2.6

Profit attributable to minority interest 0.1 0.1
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 15.0 12.1

Earnings per ordinary share 10
Basic 29.6p 24.0p
Diluted 29.5p 23.9p
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expense  for the year ended 30 June 2007

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Notes £m £m £m £m

Currency translation differences on net investment in 
foreign operations 29 (1.5) (0.2) (1.1) –

Fair value gain/(loss) on net investment hedge 29 0.4 (0.4) 0.4 (0.4)
Actuarial gains on the defined benefit pension scheme 30 4.2 6.7 4.2 6.7
Tax on actuarial gains on the defined 

benefit pension scheme 8 (1.7) (2.0) (1.7) (2.0)

Net income and expense recognised directly in equity 1.4 4.1 1.8 4.3

Profit for the financial year 15.1 12.2 5.8 15.3

Total recognised income and expense for the year 16.5 16.3 7.6 19.6

Attributable to minority interest 0.1 0.1 – –
Attributable to equity shareholders 16.4 16.2 7.6 19.6
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Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2007

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Notes £m £m £m £m

Assets
Non current assets
Goodwill 12 15.6 15.9 – –
Other intangible assets 13 1.9 1.5 – –
Property, plant and equipment 14 44.5 45.2 9.5 9.8
Investments 15 – – 18.0 18.0
Deferred tax assets 24 9.9 8.7 5.4 7.7

71.9 71.3 32.9 35.5

Current assets
Inventories 16 7.5 7.0 – –
Trade and other receivables 17 55.6 47.3 63.4 42.7
Current taxation 19 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.2
Deferred tax assets 24 1.7 0.6 0.5 –
Cash and cash equivalents 15.4 49.8 3.8 28.7
Assets classified as held for sale 11 – 7.5 – –

80.7 112.4 67.8 71.6

Total assets 152.6 183.7 100.7 107.1

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts 20 (9.1) (45.0) (2.0) (7.6)
Trade and other payables 18 (43.9) (38.9) (15.1) (14.9)
Current tax liabilities 19 (2.1) (2.5) – –
Deferred tax liabilities 24 (0.4) (0.6) – –
Provisions 25 (0.5) (0.5) – –
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 11 – (7.5) – –

(56.0) (95.0) (17.1) (22.5)

Net current assets 24.7 17.4 50.7 49.1

Non current liabilities
Bank loans 20 (13.5) (10.6) (11.4) (8.3)
Retirement benefit obligations 23 (16.7) (23.6) (16.7) (23.6)
Deferred tax liabilities 24 (4.7) (4.4) (0.8) (0.8)

(34.9) (38.6) (28.9) (32.7)

Total liabilities (90.9) (133.6) (46.0) (55.2)

Net assets 61.7 50.1 54.7 51.9

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 26 12.7 12.7 12.7 12.7
Share premium 28 13.3 13.3 13.3 13.3
Other reserves 29 (0.5) 0.6 (1.1) (0.4)
Retained earnings 30 35.7 22.9 29.8 26.3

Total shareholders’ equity 61.2 49.5 54.7 51.9
Minority interest in equity 31 0.5 0.6 – –

Total equity 61.7 50.1 54.7 51.9

The financial statements on pages 63 to 91 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 September 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Dave Shemmans, Chief Executive Officer

Paula Bell, Group Finance Director
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Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Notes £m £m £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated/(used by) operations 32 15.6 20.0 (24.3) (2.6)
Interest received 7 2.0 1.4 2.5 2.0
Interest paid 7 (3.0) (2.7) (1.3) (1.2)
Tax (paid)/refunded (1.6) (1.4) 0.2 –

Net cash generated/(used) by operating activities 13.0 17.3 (22.9) (1.8)

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds of sale of property, plant and equipment – 0.3 – –
Purchase of intangible assets (1.0) (1.1) – –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (8.5) (7.3) – (0.1)
Intra group transfers of fixed assets – – – 0.1

Net cash used by investing activities (9.5) (8.1) – –

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital – 1.3 – 1.3
Net proceeds from issue of new bank loan 3.9 – – –
Repayment of borrowings (2.1) (0.5) (2.1) –
Dividends paid to shareholders 9 (4.9) (4.6) (4.9) (4.6)
Dividends paid to minority interests 31 (0.1) – – –
Dividends received from subsidiaries – – 5.0 12.9

Net cash generated/(used) by financing activities (3.2) (3.8) (2.0) 9.6

Effect of exchange rate changes (0.3) (0.5) – 0.6

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents – 4.9 (24.9) 8.4
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 12.7 7.8 28.7 20.3

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 12.7 12.7 3.8 28.7

At 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents 49.8 28.8 28.7 22.4
Bank overdrafts (37.1) (21.0) – (2.1)

12.7 7.8 28.7 20.3

At 30 June
Cash and cash equivalents 15.4 49.8 3.8 28.7
Bank overdrafts 20 (2.7) (37.1) – –

12.7 12.7 3.8 28.7

Cash Flow Statements for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to the two years ended 30 June 2007.

(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)
interpretations endorsed by the European Union (“EU”) and with
those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, with the following exceptions:

● equity-settled share based payments, derivative financial
instruments and defined benefit pension assets are measured at
fair value, and 

● defined benefit pension liabilities are measured at present value,
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of Ricardo plc (“the Company”) and all of its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) made up to the end of the financial period.
Businesses acquired are accounted for as acquisitions with effect from
the date the power to control passes. Those disposed of are
accounted for up until the power to control passes at the date of
disposal. All intra group transactions and balances are eliminated on
consolidation. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from the parent shareholders’
equity. Minority interests in the profit or loss of the Group are also
separately disclosed.

(c) Additional performance measures
The directors consider that adjusted income statement and earnings
per share measures provide additional useful information on the
underlying performance of the business. These measures are
consistent with how business performance is measured internally.
However they are not defined under IFRS and may not be directly
comparable with additional performance measures used by other
companies, and exclude the impact of exceptional one off profits and
losses such as those arising from pensions curtailments and
impairments.

(d) Management judgements and key accounting estimates
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to
exercise judgement in making estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. The following accounting policies have been
identified as being particularly sensitive to complex or subjective
judgements or estimates.

Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme that provides
benefits to a number of current and former employees. This scheme
is closed to new entrants. The value of the deficit is particularly
sensitive to the market value of the scheme’s assets, discount rates
and actuarial assumptions related to mortality. Further details are
given in note 23.

Revenue recognition for fixed price contracts
The Group derives revenue from the supply of professional services
under contracts, most of which are normally fixed price contracts that
may extend for a significant period of time. While fixed price
contracts are in progress, revenue is recognised based on their
expected profitability and extent of completion. Profit is only taken
once the outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably, however
unforeseen future events may adversely impact the accuracy of those
estimates. Further details are given in note 16.

Current and deferred taxation
Legislation related to taxation is complex and its impact on the Group
may be uncertain. In preparing the Group’s financial statements
management estimates its taxation liability having taken appropriate
professional advice. Determination of an agreed amount of taxation
payable may take several years, and the final amounts paid may differ
from the liabilities recorded in these financial statements.

The recognition of assets and liabilities related to deferred taxation
also requires the exercise of management judgment, in particular the
extent to which assets should be recognised.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is not amortised but
is tested annually for impairment. The impairment test employs
estimates related to the future ability of the acquired business to
generate cash. Further details are given in note 12.

(e) Segmental Reporting
The Group considers its primary reporting format for segmental
reporting should be reporting by business segments, and considers
the relevant segments to be Technical Consulting and Strategic
Consulting. Inter-segmental revenue is charged at prevailing market
prices. The Group considers its geographical segments by location of
assets to be the United Kingdom, North America, Germany and Rest
of the World, and its geographical segments by location of customer
to be Europe, North America, Asia and Rest of the World.

(f) Revenue
The Group earns revenue through the supply of professional services
and products to customers. Revenue is stated net of value added and
other sales taxes.

Professional services
The majority of the Group’s revenue is earned from contracts for
professional services. Of these contracts, most are normally fixed
price contracts, but the mix of fixed price and time and materials
projects varies as projects close and new orders are received.

Where the outcome can be estimated reliably, contract revenue
recognition is based on the extent to which the services have been
performed. For fixed price contracts, performance is measured based
on costs incurred to date as a percentage of total expected costs. For
contracts awarded on a time and materials basis, performance is
measured based on the expected sales value of the time worked and
costs incurred to date.

Profit is not recognised on a contract, and revenue is not recognised
in excess of recoverable costs, unless its outcome can be estimated
reliably. A loss on a contract is recognised immediately it becomes
probable that the contract costs will exceed the total contract
revenue.
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Revenue from contract variations closely linked to underlying fixed
price contracts is recognised based on our performance under the
contract as a whole, but only to the extent that it can be reliably
measured and it is probable that the customer will approve both the
variation and the amount of additional revenue. Contract variations
not closely linked to underlying contracts are treated as separate
contracts. 

Revenue derived from leasing of software and supply of related
services is recognised on a straight line basis over the period during
which the service is supplied.

Assets arising from the recognition of revenue are recorded in trade
and other receivables, initially as amounts recoverable on contracts
and transferred to trade receivables when invoiced. Amounts
receivable from customers not yet recognised as revenue are initially
classified as payments in advance within trade and other payables, and
transferred to revenue as the related revenue is recognised.

Supply of products
Revenue is recognised when control and all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets have been transferred to the
customer, when the amount of revenue and costs can be measured
reliably, and when it is probable that the Group will receive the
economic benefits associated with the sale.

The Group’s product revenue is principally derived from the outright
sale of tangible goods such as high-performance transmissions and
exhaust systems based on contractually determined prices. In
practice, revenue is recognised for such sales when the goods have
been delivered to the customer because, except for normal warranty
terms on some products, no substantive obligations exist and there
are no substantive return risks after that point in time.

A small proportion of product revenue is derived from the sale of
software licences. The Group’s software products are standard
version controlled products available for general sale. Normally there
are no substantive obligations to fulfil following sale and revenue is
recognised on delivery.

(g) Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred, except when
development expenditure meets the criteria for recognition as an
asset. Research and development expenditure expensed in the
income statement and disclosed in note 5 includes all directly
attributable costs.

(h) Government grants
The Group receives income-related grants from various national and
supranational government agencies, principally as part funding of
research and development projects. A grant is not recognised in the
income statement until there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with its conditions and that the grant will be received.
Grants are presented in the income statement as a deduction from
the related expenses.

In the previous year’s financial statements income from government
grants was included within revenue. This has been changed in order
to more clearly recognise grants differently to revenue from work
carried out on normal commercial terms. This has resulted in £1.2m
being reclassified from revenue to cost of sales in the year ended 
30 June 2006.

Grants are not normally received until after qualification conditions
have been met and the related expenditure has been incurred. Where

this is not the case, they are recorded within trade and other payables
as a payment in advance.

(i) Retirement benefit costs 
The Group operates one defined benefit and several defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. Payments to defined
contribution schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.
Payments to state-managed schemes are dealt with as payments to
defined contribution schemes as the Group’s obligations under the
schemes are similar in nature.

For the defined benefit retirement benefit scheme, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance
sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the
period in which they occur. Gains and losses are reported in the
statement of recognised income and expense except where they
result from settlements or curtailments, in which case they are
reported in the income statement. 

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the
benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight
line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet
represent the present value of the defined benefit obligations as
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair
value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is
limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds
and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

(j) Share based payments
Equity settled share based payments are measured at fair value at the
date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed
on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of participants eligible to receive shares at the point of
vesting.

Fair value is measured by use of a Black Scholes model for share
options, and a Monte Carlo model for the Long Term Incentive Plans
(“LTIP”). The expected life used in the model is adjusted for the
effects of exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group has elected not to apply this accounting policy to options
granted before 7 November 2002, and no cost has been recognised
in the income statement for those options.

(k) Leases
The costs of operating leases and amortisation of operating lease
incentives are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease.

(l) Foreign currency
Transactions
The functional currency of the Company and the Group is pounds
sterling. The functional currency of each subsidiary is determined by
its individual circumstances. Transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the transaction
occurred. Gains and losses arising on retranslation and settlements
are included in the income statement for the period.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Consolidation
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments are translated at
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates of the
period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange
differences arising from 1 July 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, are
classified as equity and recognised in the translation reserve. Exchange
differences arising before that date are not separately reported. On
disposal of an operation or part thereof, the related cumulative
translation differences are recognised in the income statement as a
component of the gain or loss arising on disposal.

(m)Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(n) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are
fully authorised, or in the case of interim dividends when paid.

(o) Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired. As permitted by IFRS, goodwill arising on
acquisitions prior to 1 July 2004 has not been restated, but is

retranslated using exchange rates prevailing at each balance sheet
date.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset, and is not subject to amortisation,
but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is
recognised immediately in the income statement and is not
subsequently reversed. On disposal of an operation, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal.

(p) Other intangible assets
The cost of a purchased intangible asset is the purchase price and any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended. 

Certain directly attributable costs which are incurred in the
development of an intangible asset are capitalised. These costs are
recognised as an asset once the Group has determined that 

● it has the intention and the necessary resources to complete the
relevant project, 

● it is probable that the resulting asset will generate economic
benefits for the Group, and

● the attributable expenditure can be measured reliably.

These criteria have been met for the development costs of certain
software products, which have finite useful lives. 

Amortisation is provided to write off the amortisable amount (being
cost less residual value estimated at the latest balance sheet date) of
intangible assets over estimated useful lives as follows:

Purchased software Between 2 and 10 years
Capitalised software development Between 2 and 5 years

(q) Property, Plant and Equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase
price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended.

Depreciation is provided to write off the depreciable amount (being
cost less residual value estimated at the latest balance sheet date) of
items of property, plant and equipment over estimated useful lives as
follows:

Freehold buildings Between 25 and 50 years
Long and short leasehold property Over the term of the lease
Plant and machinery Between 4 and 10 years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment Between 2 and 10 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.

(r) Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment in
value.

(s) Impairment of non-current assets
Goodwill arising is allocated to the cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the business combination. Its carrying value is tested
annually, regardless of whether there is any indication of impairment,
as part of the impairment testing of the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs.

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives and items of property,
plant and equipment are tested whenever there is an indication that
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its carrying value may exceed its recoverable amount. The Group
assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication of
impairment or reversal of impairments recognised in prior years. 

Where assets do not generate cash flows independently from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses arising on goodwill are not reversed. Where an
impairment loss on other assets subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

(t) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, including attributable
overheads, and net realisable value. Work in progress is stated at cost,
including attributable overheads, less any foreseeable losses and
progress payments received and receivable.

(u) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments
The group’s non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade
receivables, trade payables, cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and
overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and
deposits with maturities of three months or less at inception. Bank
overdrafts repayable on demand are included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statements.

Trade receivables and payables are measured initially at fair value, and
subsequently at amortised cost. Trade receivables are stated net of
allowances for irrecoverable amounts. 

Bank loans are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequently bank loans are recorded at amortised
cost using the effective rate method. Differences between initial value
and redemption value are recorded in the income statement over the
period of the loan.

The fair values of non-derivative financial instruments other than loans
due for repayment after more than one year are approximately equal
to their book values. The fair value of loans due for repayment after
more than one year is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.

The Group has financed its net investment in Germany using a Euro
loan. Hedge accounting has been applied to the exchange differences
arising on this loan.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and measured
at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and
subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on re-
measurement is taken to the income statement except where the

derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument as
described below.

The group employs derivative financial instruments, generally forward
foreign exchange contracts, to mitigate currency exposures on trading
transactions. Fair values of derivative financial instruments are based
on the market values of similar instruments at the balance sheet date.

Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are recognised
separately as derivative financial instruments where their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract.
Changes in the fair value of separately-recognised embedded
derivatives are reported in the income statement.

Hedge accounting
In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to
document in advance the relationship between the item being hedged
and the hedging instrument. The Group is also required to document
and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge
will be highly effective on an on-going basis. This effectiveness testing
is re-performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge remains
highly effective.

Gains or losses on cash flow hedges that are highly effective are
recognised in equity. When the hedged item is recognised in the
financial statements, the accumulated gains and losses recognised in
equity are recycled to the income statement. The group does not
hedge forecast transactions that will result in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability. 

The Group hedges net investments in certain foreign entities through
currency borrowings that qualify for hedge accounting; accordingly
gains or losses on retranslation are recognised in equity. Accumulated
gains and losses are recycled to the income statement when the
foreign operation is disposed of.

The ineffective portion of any hedges is recognised immediately in the
income statement. Where a hedge no longer meets the effectiveness
criteria, any gains or losses previously deferred in equity are only
transferred to the income statement when the committed or
forecasted transaction is recognised in the income statement. 

Where hedge accounting has been applied to a cash flow hedge for a
forecasted or committed transaction that is no longer expected to
occur, then the cumulative gain or loss that has been recorded in
equity is transferred to the income statement. When a hedging
instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss existing in
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement.

(v) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

(w) Provisions
A provision is required when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that settlement will be required of an
amount that can be reliably estimated. Provisions for warranty costs
are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group’s liability.
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(x) New standards and interpretations
At 30 June 2007, the International Accounting Standards Board and
IFRIC had issued the following standards and interpretations that are
effective for accounting periods commencing later than 1 July 2006.

International Financial Reporting Standards Effective Date
(periods commencing)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments 1 January 2007 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 

Statements (Capital Disclosures) 1 January 2007
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009

International Financial Reporting Interpretations
IFRIC 9 Re-assessment of embedded derivatives
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 11 IFRS2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC 14 IAS19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

The Group has not elected to adopt any of these standards and
interpretations early. Upon adoption of the amended IAS1, IFRS 7 and
IFRS 8, the Group will need to make additional or amended
disclosures in its financial statements, but there will be no impact on
reported income or net assets. Apart from this the directors do not
anticipate that adoption of these standards and interpretations will
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2 Segmental reporting

Business Segments
Continuing operations – revenue and results Technical Consulting Strategic Consulting Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue earned 163.6 158.0 7.9 13.9 171.5 171.9
Adjustment for inter-segmental revenue (0.6) (3.8) 0.6 3.8 – –

Revenue from third parties 163.0 154.2 8.5 17.7 171.5 171.9

Segment result (before pensions credit) 11.9 9.5 1.3 2.6 13.2 12.1
Pensions credit – 3.7

Operating profit 13.2 15.8
Finance income 2.0 1.4
Finance costs (3.0) (2.7)

Profit before tax 12.2 14.5
Tax 2.9 (2.3)

Profit for the year 15.1 12.2

Continuing operations – assets & liabilities Technical Consulting Strategic Consulting Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Segment assets 138.0 174.0 2.5 0.2 140.5 174.2
Unallocated assets 12.1 9.5

Consolidated total assets 152.6 183.7

Segment liabilities 82.1 121.6 1.6 4.5 83.7 126.1
Unallocated liabilities 7.2 7.5

Consolidated total liabilities 90.9 133.6

Capital expenditure – Intangible assets 1.0 1.1 – – 1.0 1.1
Capital expenditure – Property, plant and equipment 8.5 7.3 – – 8.5 7.3
Depreciation and amortisation 8.8 9.0 – – 8.8 9.0

Geographical Segments
Continuing operations by location of customer Revenue

2007 2006
£m £m

Europe 105.0 83.6
North America 38.6 49.3
Asia 27.5 35.4
Rest of the World 0.4 3.6

171.5 171.9

Continuing operations by location of assets Capital Spend Assets
2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m

UK 4.2 3.6 79.6 125.1
North America 2.0 1.4 21.2 20.0
Germany 3.1 3.1 37.3 27.9
Rest of the World 0.2 0.3 2.4 1.2

9.5 8.4 140.5 174.2

Unallocated assets 12.1 9.5

152.6 183.7
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3 Revenue
2007 2006

£m £m

Rendering of services 142.4 140.9
Sale of goods 29.1 31.0

171.5 171.9

4 Operating Profit
2007 2006

£m £m

Revenue 171.5 171.9
Cost of sales (114.0) (116.5)

Cost of sales excluding pension credit (underlying) (114.0) (118.6)
Pensions credit – 2.1

Gross profit 57.5 55.4
Gross profit excluding pension credit (underlying) 57.5 53.3
Pensions credit – 2.1

Administration expenses (44.3) (39.6)
Administration expenses excluding pension credit (underlying) (44.3) (41.2)
Pensions credit – 1.6

Operating profit 13.2 15.8
Operating profit excluding pension credit (underlying) 13.2 12.1
Pensions credit – 3.7

5 Profit before tax
2007 2006

£m £m

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at operating profit:
Amortisation of intangible assets recognised as expense in cost of sales 0.6 0.6
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
– recognised as an expense in cost of sales 6.3 6.5
– recognised as an expense in administration expenses 1.9 1.9
Inventories
– consumed and recognised as expense in cost of sales 28.5 26.5
Other operating lease rentals payable
– plant and machinery 0.8 0.6
– property 3.0 3.2
Repairs and maintenance on property, plant and equipment 2.6 2.1
Trade receivables impairment 0.2 0.1
Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings – 0.1
Pensions credit – (3.7)

2007 2006
£m £m

With respect to the Group research and development activities (other than normal client projects) the following items 
have been charged/(credited) in arriving at operating profit:
Research and development expenditure in the period 8.9 8.7
Government grant income received in respect of part of this expenditure (1.1) (1.2)

7.8 7.5

2007 2006
£m £m

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors and network firms: 
Fees payable to parent company auditor for the audit of the parent and consolidated financial statements 0.3 0.3
Other services pursuant to legislation – 0.1

0.3 0.4
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6 Employees
2007 2006

£m £m

Staff costs for the Group during the year (excluding pensions credit)
Wages and salaries 68.1 67.1
Social security costs 8.5 8.5
Other pension costs (note 23) 2.7 2.9

79.3 78.5

2007 2006
Number Number

Average number of employees (including executive directors) during the year
Management, administration and sales 283 268
Production and engineering staff 1,363 1,320

1,646 1,588

2007 2006
£m £m

Key Management Compensation
Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2.3 2.5
Post-employment benefits 0.5 0.5
Termination benefits 0.3 0.3
Share based payments 0.4 0.2

3.5 3.5

The key management personnel are the board of directors, the Managing Directors of the UK, US and German businesses and the Global
Product and Engineering Director. Details of the directors’ remuneration, pensions contributions and share based payments are provided in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

7 Finance income and costs
2007 2006

£m £m

Finance income
Bank interest receivable 2.0 1.4

2.0 1.4

Finance costs
Interest payable on bank borrowings 2.6 2.0
Defined benefit pension scheme net finance costs (note 23) 0.4 0.7

3.0 2.7

Notes to the Financial Statements

Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology 75

5. Notes [97053]  20/9/07  16:45  Page 75



8 Taxation
2007 2006

£m £m

Current tax
UK corporation tax at 30% – 1.1
Adjustments in respect of prior years (1.3) (2.0)

Total UK tax (1.3) (0.9)
Foreign corporation tax 2.3 1.1

Total current tax 1.0 0.2

Deferred tax
Charge for year relating to temporary differences excluding tax on pensions credit 0.9 0.7
Credit for year relating to changes in tax rates (0.2) –
Tax charge on pensions credit – 1.1
Adjustment in respect of prior years (4.6) 0.3

Total deferred tax (3.9) 2.1

Taxation (2.9) 2.3

Taxation excluding tax charge on pensions credit (2.9) 1.2
Tax charge on pensions credit – 1.1
Tax on items charged to equity
Deferred tax on movement in defined benefit pension scheme obligations 1.7 2.0

Total current tax charge 1.0 0.2
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge (2.2) 4.1

The tax charge for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are set out below.

2007 2006
% £m % £m

Profit for the year before tax 12.2 14.5

Profit for the year multiplied by rate of corporation tax in the UK(1) 30.0 3.7 30.0 4.4

Effects of:
Losses not recognised 0.7 0.8
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.5 1.4
Government tax incentives (17.0) (8.8)
Irrecoverable overseas tax 7.3 6.4
Adjustments to taxation in respect of prior years(2) (46.9) (11.9)
Change in UK Corporation Tax rates from April 08 (1.8) –
Other differences in tax rate/other 1.0 (2.0)

Total taxation (24.2) (2.9) 15.9 2.3

(1) The UK corporation tax rate will be changed from 30% to 28% from April 2008.

(2) Including 38.6% regarding £4.7m of retrospective R&D tax credits (2006: 5.7% regarding £0.7m)
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9 Dividends
2007 2006

£m £m

Final paid 6.7p per share (2006 : 6.3p) 3.4 3.2
Interim paid 2.9p per share (2006 : 2.7p) 1.5 1.4

Equity dividends paid 4.9 4.6

Dividend paid to minority shareholders 0.1 –

Total dividend paid 5.0 4.6

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2007 of 7.1p per share which will absorb
£3.6m of retained profits. It will be paid on 23 November 2007 to shareholders who are on the register of members at the close of business on
26 October 2007, subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting on 9 November 2007. 

10 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year, excluding those held by an employee benefit trust for the LTIP which are treated as cancelled for the purposes of the
calculation.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has one class of dilutive potential ordinary shares: those options granted to employees where the exercise price 
is less than the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year. Where it is not possible to determine whether or not the
performance criteria for the award to vest have been met until the end of the performance period, the shares are excluded from the 
calculation.

Reconciliations of the earnings and the weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below.

2007 2006
£m £m

Earnings attributable to equity shareholders 15.0 12.1
Pensions credit (net of tax charge) – (2.6)

Underlying earnings 15.0 9.5

Average number of shares in issue
Number of Number of 

shares shares 
millions millions

Basic average number of shares in issue 50.7 50.4
Effect of dilutive options 0.1 0.1

Diluted average number of shares in issue 50.8 50.5

Per share Per share
amount amount

pence pence

Earnings per share
Basic 29.6 24.0
Diluted 29.5 23.9

Underlying earnings per share
Basic 29.6 18.8
Diluted 29.5 18.8
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11 Ricardo (2010) Consultants Ltd (“Ricardo 2010”)

Ricardo 2010 was a wholly-owned subsidiary created in May 2005 under an agreement with Shanghai Automotive Industry Corporation 
(“SAIC”) and provided technical consulting services. Under the agreement SAIC had an option to acquire Ricardo 2010 for £1 by giving three
months notice from 1 July 2006 onwards. This option was exercised within the financial year ended 30 June 2007, and the sale was completed 
in May 2007. Therefore, prior to sale, Ricardo 2010 was classified as an asset held for sale and a discontinued operation under IFRS 5 
‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’. There was no profit or loss on disposal. 

The results of Ricardo 2010 for the period up to sale and position at the date of sale were as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Revenue from third parties 27.6 23.3
Operating profit 0.2 0.5

Finance costs (0.2) (0.1)
Profit before taxation – 0.4

Taxation – (0.4)

Profit for the year – –

Earnings per share from discontinued activities – –

Revenue from third parties includes invoicing to SAIC in respect of the payroll cost of the Ricardo 2010 engineering team, fees charged by Ricardo
UK for facilities, management and administration and also engineering projects subcontracted to third parties including Ricardo UK.

At date of sale
2007 2006

£m £m

Deferred tax assets – 0.2
Trade and other receivables 4.2 7.3
Cash at bank and in hand 2.0 –

Total assets classified as held for sale 6.2 7.5

Bank overdrafts – (3.2)
Trade and other payables (6.2) (4.1)
Deferred tax liabilities – (0.2)

Total liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (6.2) (7.5)

Net assets – –

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 0.2 0.5
Movement in trade and other receivables 3.1 (5.3)
Movement in trade and other payables 2.1 2.1
Interest paid (0.2) (0.1)
Tax paid – (0.4)

Net cash received/(used) in operating activities 5.2 (3.2)
Net cash received/(used) in investing activities – –
Net cash received/(used) in financing activities – –

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2.0 (3.2)
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12 Goodwill
Group £m

Deemed cost at 1 July 2005 15.6
Exchange adjustments 0.3

At 30 June 2006 15.9
Exchange adjustments (0.3)

At 30 June 2007 15.6

£12.9m of the net book amounts at 30 June 2007 (2006: £13.2m) relates to the German business. The recoverable amounts were based on 
value in use. The key assumptions in the value in use calculations for the German business are those regarding the discount rates and growth
rates. The discount rate assumed is at 9.0% (2006: 8.3%) using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the German business. The growth rates are based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by management for the next five years. Growth rates for the sixth and following years at 3% (2006: 3%) are based on the estimated
nominal Gross Domestic Product for the market in which the German business operates. Potential variances to cash flow forecasts and discount
rates were evaluated. The remaining £2.7m (2006: £2.7m) of the net book amount relates to two businesses within the UK: Gemini and
Tarragon. The same approach was taken as with Germany however using a higher discount rate, mainly due to the differences in the relative risk-
free rates. For all three elements of goodwill the recoverable amounts exceeded the carrying values. No reasonable possible changes in key
assumptions for these businesses have been identified that would cause the carrying values of recognised goodwill to exceed their recoverable
amounts.

13 Other intangible assets
Capitalised

Purchased software
software development Total

Group £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 July 2005 5.9 0.1 6.0
Additions 0.9 0.2 1.1
Disposals – – –
Foreign exchange adjustment – – –

At 30 June 2006 6.8 0.3 7.1

Additions 0.9 0.1 1.0
Disposals (0.2) – (0.2)
Foreign exchange adjustment – – –

At 30 June 2007 7.5 0.4 7.9

Amortisation
At 1 July 2005 5.0 – 5.0
Charge for the year 0.6 – 0.6
Disposals – – –

At 30 June 2006 5.6 – 5.6

Charge for the year 0.6 – 0.6
Disposals (0.2) – (0.2)

At 30 June 2007 6.0 – 6.0

Net book amounts
At 30 June 2007 1.5 0.4 1.9

At 30 June 2006 1.2 0.3 1.5

At 30 June 2005 0.9 0.1 1.0
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14 Property, plant and equipment
Land and Buildings Plant Fixtures,

Short and fittings and
Freehold leasehold machinery equipment Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 July 2005 10.6 6.8 74.1 16.5 108.0
Additions 0.1 0.3 3.3 3.6 7.3
Disposals – – – (0.3) (0.3)
Foreign exchange adjustment 0.1 – (0.5) 0.2 (0.2)

At 30 June 2006 10.8 7.1 76.9 20.0 114.8

Additions 1.9 0.1 4.8 1.7 8.5
Reclassifications 0.7 – 2.3 (3.0) –
Disposals – – (0.5) (5.0) (5.5)
Foreign exchange adjustment (0.1) (0.1) (1.5) (0.4) (2.1)

At 30 June 2007 13.3 7.1 82.0 13.3 115.7

Depreciation
At 1 July 2005 1.4 1.1 45.8 13.0 61.3
Charge for the year 0.2 0.4 6.2 1.6 8.4
Disposals – – (0.3) 0.2 (0.1)

At 30 June 2006 1.6 1.5 51.7 14.8 69.6

Charge for the year 0.2 0.4 6.2 1.4 8.2
Reclassifications 0.2 0.4 (0.6) –
Disposals (0.5) (5.0) (5.5)
Foreign exchange adjustment (0.9) (0.2) (1.1)

At 30 June 2007 2.0 1.9 56.9 10.4 71.2

Net book amounts
At 30 June 2007 11.3 5.2 25.1 2.9 44.5

At 30 June 2006 9.2 5.6 25.2 5.2 45.2

At 30 June 2005 9.2 5.7 28.3 3.5 46.7

The additions within freehold land and buildings include £0.4m (2006: nil) in respect of assets under construction.

Land and Buildings Fixtures,
Short fittings and

Freehold leasehold equipment Total
Company £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 July 2005 5.6 6.0 0.1 11.7
Additions – 0.1 – 0.1
Intra Group transfer – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2006 and 2007 5.6 6.1 – 11.7

Depreciation
At 1 July 2005 1.0 0.6 – 1.6
Charge for the year – 0.3 – 0.3

At 30 June 2006 1.0 0.9 – 1.9
Charge for the year – 0.3 – 0.3

At 30 June 2007 1.0 1.2 – 2.2

Net book amounts –
At 30 June 2007 4.6 4.9 – 9.5

At 30 June 2006 4.6 5.2 – 9.8

At 30 June 2005 4.6 5.4 0.1 10.1

The gross carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are measured using a historic cost basis. 
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15 Investments
2007 2006

Unlisted trade Shares in Unlisted trade Shares in
investments subsidiaries investments subsidiaries

Company £m £m £m £m

Cost at 1 July – 33.4 0.2 36.5
Disposals – – (0.2) (3.1)

Cost at 30 June – 33.4 – 33.4

Provisions at 1 July – 15.4 0.2 15.4
Disposals – – (0.2) –

Provisions at 30 June – 15.4 – 15.4

Net book value at 30 June – 18.0 – 18.0

Net book value at 1 July – 18.0 – 21.1

16 Inventories
2007 2006

Group £m £m

Raw materials and consumables 6.1 6.3
Work in progress 1.4 0.7

7.5 7.0

In respect of contracts in progress at the year end the aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profits (less recognised losses) to date
was £161.0m (2006: £173.0m). Progress billings in respect of this amount to £155.2m (2006: £165.6m). Contract revenue in the year for
contracts designated under IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’ as construction contracts amounted to £138.9m (2006: £139.1m).

17 Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Trade receivables 32.8 26.4 – –
Less : provision for impairment of receivables (0.2) (0.2) – –

Trade receivables – net 32.6 26.2 – –
Amounts recoverable on contracts 19.3 17.0 – –
Amounts owed by Group undertakings – – 62.9 42.0
Prepayments and accrued income 2.2 2.4 0.3 0.2
Other receivables 1.5 1.7 0.2 0.5

55.6 47.3 63.4 42.7

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated. Due to
this, the directors believe there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of any normal provision for doubtful receivables.

In respect of the Company, amounts owed by Group undertakings are interest-bearing at normal commercial rates.

18 Trade and other payables
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 12.5 11.0 0.3 0.7
Other tax and social security payable 3.0 1.5 0.2 0.1
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 11.2 11.1
Accruals 11.6 15.0 1.4 1.3
Payments received in advance 13.1 8.4 – –
Other payables 3.7 3.0 2.0 1.7

43.9 38.9 15.1 14.9

In respect of the Company, amounts owed to Group undertakings are interest-free.
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19 Current tax liabilities
2007 2006

Group £m £m

UK corporation tax (0.1) 1.4
Overseas taxes (net) 1.7 0.9

1.6 2.3

2007 2006
Group £m £m

Current tax asset (0.5) (0.2)
Current tax liability 2.1 2.5

1.6 2.3

20 Bank loans and overdrafts
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts 2.7 37.1 – –
Current bank loans 6.4 7.9 2.0 7.6

Total current borrowings 9.1 45.0 2.0 7.6

2007 2006 2007 2006
Maturity of non current debt (bank loans): £m £m £m £m

Between one and two years 7.7 2.4 7.4 2.1
Between two and five years 5.3 7.5 4.0 6.2
In five years or more 0.5 0.7 – –

13.5 10.6 11.4 8.3

The bank loans are denominated in Euros and Swiss Francs. There are both variable and fixed rate Euro and Swiss Franc loans. The variable
interest rates vary from 0.8% above Euribor to 0.85% above LIBOR. There are also two Euro loans which attract interest at a variable rate,
which are normally fixed monthly, and are currently 4.67%. There are fixed rate loans which are denominated both in Euros and Swiss Francs.
Interest rates on these loans vary from 2.05% to 5.6%. Loan balances include £2.9m (2006: £4.8m) of loans in respect of Ricardo GmbH which
are secured on buildings belonging to the Company.

The Group has banking facilities for its UK companies which together have a net overdraft limit. The balances are shown gross in the financial
statements as cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts.

21 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate to their carrying values as follows:
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group £m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 15.4 49.8 3.8 28.7
Bank overdrafts (2.7) (37.1) – –
Loans repayable within one year (6.4) (7.9) (2.0) (7.6)
Loans repayable after more than one year (13.5) (10.6) (11.4) (8.3)
Trade receivables 32.6 26.2 – –
Trade payables (12.5) (11.0) 0.3 (0.7)

12.9 9.4 (9.3) 12.1

Summary of methods and assumptions
Short term borrowing and deposits – The fair value of short term deposits, loans and overdrafts approximates to the carrying

amount because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Long term borrowings – The fair value of bank loans approximates to the carrying value in the balance sheet as they
are mainly floating rate loans where payments are reset to market rates at regular intervals.
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22 Financial risks

Objectives, policies and strategies
The financial risks faced by the Group comprise interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign exchange risk. The Board reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

The Group’s financial instruments comprise fixed and floating rate borrowings, the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations and forward foreign exchange contracts used to manage currency risks.

Interest rate risk
The Group borrowings and cash balances are principally at floating interest rates and are therefore exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group does not currently hedge its exposure to interest rate movements as its exposures are relatively small, although the policy is reviewed on
an ongoing basis.

Financial assets and liabilities by interest type:

2007 2006
£m £m

Floating rate financial liabilities (20.4) (38.2)
No interest financial liabilities (12.5) (11.0)
Fixed rate financial liabilities (2.2) (17.4)
Floating rate financial assets 15.4 49.8
No interest financial assets 32.6 26.2

Total 12.9 9.4

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy towards managing its liquidity risk is to maintain a mix of short and medium term borrowing facilities with its bankers. Short
term flexibility is provided by bank overdraft facilities. In addition, the Group maintains term borrowing facilities in order to provide the
appropriate level of finance to support the current and future requirements of its businesses. At the year end, the Group had facilities of £39.0m
(2006: £37.0m) with its banks, 51% (2006: 56%) of which, net of credit balances where appropriate, was drawn down. These facilities are
subject to periodic review.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade receivables, which are stated net of provision for estimated doubtful receivables.
Exposure to this risk is mitigated by careful evaluation of the granting of credit and credit insurance where practicable.

In addition, the Group is exposed to bank credit risk in respect of money held on deposit and certain derivative hedging transactions entered into
with banks. Exposure to this form of risk is mitigated as material transactions are only undertaken with bank counterparties that have high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group further limits risk in this area by setting an overall credit limit for all
transactions with each bank counterparty in accordance the institution’s credit standing.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group faces currency exposures on trading transactions undertaken by its subsidiaries in foreign currencies and balances arising therefrom,
and on the translation of profits earned in and net assets of overseas subsidiaries, primarily in the US and in Germany.

The Group hedges transactional exposures relating to its foreign currency exposures on contracts by taking out forward foreign exchange
contracts or other derivative financial instruments. The Group hedges all significant forecast profits from its overseas businesses by taking out
forward foreign exchange contracts or other derivative financial instruments. 

The Group has financed its net investment in the German business using Euro denominated borrowings to which hedge accounting has been
applied.

It is the Group’s policy not to undertake any speculative currency transactions using derivatives.

Commodity price risk
The Group has no material exposure to commodity price fluctuations, and this situation is not expected to change in the foreseeable future.

Embedded Derivatives
In accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, management have reviewed all contracts for embedded
derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the standard. There are some
contracts within Ricardo UK denominated in Euros and US$ which fail to meet the requirements outlined by IAS 39, and so the derivative related
to the contract currency is accounted for separately to the rest of the contract. As at 30 June 2007, the fair value of this embedded derivative was
a liability of £nil (2006: £0.1m). This derivative is recorded at fair value based on discounted future cash flows with gains and losses passing
through the income statement. A gain of £0.1m (2006: £0.3m) is recorded in the income statement.
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23 Retirement benefit obligations 

Group and Company
The Group operates various defined contribution pension schemes, the assets of which are held in separately administered funds. The Group also
operates a defined benefit pension scheme, the Ricardo Group Pension Fund (“RGPF”). The scheme is closed to new entrants. The pension costs
relating to the RGPF are assessed in accordance with the advice of Watson Wyatt Limited, qualified actuaries, using the Projected Unit Credit
method. 

The latest triennial valuation of the RGPF was at 5 April 2005. At that date, the assets of the fund had a market value of £47 million and were
sufficient to cover 66% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in earnings. On the alternative
minimum funding requirement valuation basis, which was required under the Pensions Act 1995 as part of the triennial valuation of the scheme,
the ratio of assets to liabilities was 86%. The next triennial valuation is scheduled to be carried out as at a date no later than 5 April 2008. The
principal assumptions made by the actuaries in 2005 were that investment returns in the long term would comprise 4.9% per annum post
retirement and 7.9% pre retirement. Pensionable salaries would be capped to future price inflation and therefore rise by 2.7% per annum.
Pensions would rise at 3.25% per annum in respect of benefits accrued prior to 1 July 2002 and 2.7% per annum in respect of benefits accrued
after 30 June 2002. It was assumed that future price inflation would rise at a rate of 2.7% per annum.

The capping of pensionable salaries to future price inflation led to a credit to the income statement in the year to 30 June 2006 of £3.7m (£2.6m
net of tax). Current contribution rates expected to be payable by the Company for the foreseeable future are 15.2% of pensionable salaries for
active members plus a monthly lump sum increased to £277,000 to make good previous deficits over a nine year period.

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ valuations were completed as at 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007 by Watson Wyatt LLP, qualified actuaries. 

The post-retirement mortality assumptions at 30 June 2007 have been updated to the standard “00” series tables published by the Continuous
Mortality Investigation (“CMI”), projected using medium cohort improvement rate with reference to each individual’s year of birth. Under these
mortality assumptions, the expected future lifetime at age 65 for a current male pensioner is 20.2 years. For a male pensioner currently aged 45,
the expected future lifetime at age 65 is 22.2. years. In the year to 20 June 2006, the standard PA92 tables were used with allowance made for
future improvements in mortality.

The other major assumptions made were:

At 30 June At 30 June
2007 2006

Discount rate 5.8% 5.3%
Expected return on plan assets 7.3% 7.2%
Inflation 3.3% 2.9%
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 3.3% 2.9%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment

Pre 1 July 2002 accrual 3.3% 3.0%
Post 1 July 2002 accrual 3.3% 2.9%

Rate of increase in pension in deferment 3.3% 2.9%

The expected return on plan assets is based on market expectation at the beginning of the period for returns over the entire life of the benefit
obligation, and the return assumption is a net rate after expenses.

The assets of the scheme and the expected rate of return were:

Long term Value at Long term Value at
rate of return 30 June rate of return 30 June

expected at 2007 expected at 2006
30 June 2007 £m 30 June 2006 £m

Equities 8.2% 45.4 8.1% 41.5
Bonds 5.3% 16.2 4.8% 12.0
Cash 4.3% 0.4 3.9% 0.5
Property 6.8% 4.9 6.5% 3.5

Total assets 7.3% 66.9 7.2% 57.5

The expected rate of return on the assets of the scheme is the weighted average of the long term rate of return expected on the individual asset
classes.
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Movements in the fair value of scheme assets and present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2007 2006
Assets Obligations Net total Assets Obligations Net total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 57.5 (81.1) (23.6) 49.4 (84.1) (34.7)

Current service cost – (1.1) (1.1) – (1.4) (1.4)
Past service cost – – – – (0.1) (0.1)
Expected return/(interest cost) 3.8 (4.2) (0.4) 3.4 (4.1) (0.7)

Credit/(charge) excluding pensions credit 3.8 (5.3) (1.5) 3.4 (5.6) (2.2)

Pensions credit – – – – 3.7 3.7

Credit/(charge) to the income statement 3.8 (5.3) (1.5) 3.4 (1.9) 1.5

Actuarial gains charged to the 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 4.1 0.1 4.2 3.9 2.8 6.7

Contributions from sponsoring companies 4.2 – 4.2 2.9 – 2.9
Contributions from scheme members 0.2 (0.2) – 0.3 (0.3) –
Benefits paid (2.8) 2.8 – (2.4) 2.4 –

Total movements 9.5 (2.6) 6.9 8.1 3.0 11.1

At 30 June 67.0 (83.7) (16.7) 57.5 (81.1) (23.6)

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity are as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

At 1 July (1.2) (7.9)
Net actuarial gains recognised in the year 4.2 6.7

At 30 June 3.0 (1.2)

The five year history of experience adjustments contributing to achieving gains and losses is as follows:

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (83.7) (81.1) (84.1) (69.2) (70.4)
Fair value of scheme assets 67.0 57.5 49.4 41.9 38.6
Deficit in the scheme (16.7) (23.6) (34.7) (27.3) (31.8)
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities

Amount (£m) 0.1 2.8 (11.8) 0.3 0.5
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) 0.1% 3.5% 14.0% 0.4% 0.7%

Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amounts (£m) 4.1 3.9 3.9 1.4 (4.2)
Percentage of scheme assets (%) 6.1% 6.8% 7.9% 3.3% (10.9%)

Note that historical data for 2003 and 2004 is as stated under UK GAAP, FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’.

Amounts charged in the income statement in respect of pensions (excluding the pensions credit) are as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

In respect of defined contribution schemes 1.6 1.4
In respect of defined benefit schemes 1.5 2.2

3.1 3.6

Included within:
Staff costs 2.7 2.9
Finance costs 0.4 0.7

3.1 3.6
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24 Deferred tax

(a) Deferred tax analysis by balance sheet category
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Deferred tax assets
Current 1.7 0.6 0.5 –
Non-current 9.9 8.7 5.4 7.7

11.6 9.3 5.9 7.7

Deferred tax liabilities
Current (0.4) (0.6) – –
Non-current (4.7) (4.4) (0.8) (0.8)

(5.1) (5.0) (0.8) (0.8)

Net deferred tax asset 6.5 4.3 5.1 6.9

(b) Movements in net deferred tax assets and liabilities

Accelerated Retirement Tax Unrealised
capital benefit losses and capital

allowances obligations credits gains Other Total
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2005 (3.9) 10.3 2.1 (0.8) 0.7 8.4
(Charged)/credited to the income statement (1.4) (1.1) 0.3 – 0.1 (2.1)
Charged to Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense – (2.0) – – – (2.0)

At 30 June 2006 (5.3) 7.2 2.4 (0.8) 0.8 4.3
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 1.0 (0.6) 2.8 0.1 0.6 3.9
Charged to Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense – (1.7) – – – (1.7)

At 30 June 2007 (4.3) 4.9 5.2 (0.7) 1.4 6.5

The change in UK Corporation Tax rates from April 2008 from 30% to 28% has resulted in a credit of £0.2m to the income statement and
£0.3m to the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

At the balance sheet date there were no temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities has been recognised (2006: nil). No liability would be recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Accelerated Retirement Unrealised
capital benefit Tax capital

allowances obligations losses gains Other Total
Company £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2005 – 10.4 – (0.8) 0.5 10.1
(Charged)/credited to the income statement (0.1) (1.3) 0.1 – 0.1 (1.2)
(Charged)/credited to Statement of Recognised
Income and Expense – (2.0) – – – (2.0)

At 30 June 2006 (0.1) 7.1 0.1 (0.8) 0.6 6.9
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 0.1 (0.6) 0.3 0.1 – (0.1)
(Charged)/credited to Statement of Recognised 
Income and Expense – (1.7) – – – (1.7)

At 30 June 2007 – 4.8 0.4 (0.7) 0.6 5.1
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25 Provisions
Short term

Warranty
Provision

Group £m

At 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007 0.5

The warranty provision reflects the directors’ best estimate of the cost needed to fulfil its warranty obligations within a number of contracts. This
is expected to unwind over the life of the products to which they relate, which is expected to be a period of less than five years.

26 Called up share capital
Group and Company

2007 2006
£m £m

Authorised
80,000,000 (2006: 80,000,000) Ordinary shares of 25p each 20.0 20.0

Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 July – 50,698,733 shares (2005 : 50,018,275) 12.7 12.5
Allotted under share option schemes – no shares (2006 : 664,566) – 0.2
Allotted under LTIP scheme – no shares (2006: 15,892) – –

At 30 June 2007 – 50,698,733 shares (2006: 50,698,733) 12.7 12.7

The consideration received for shares allotted under the share option schemes and LTIP during the year ended 30 June 2007 was £nil (2006:
£1.3m).

Dividends were paid at the reduced rate of 0.01p per share for interim and final dividends in respect of shares held by an employee benefit trust
in relation to the LTIP. There were 3,826 such shares at 30 June 2007 (5,000 at 30 June 2006).

Potential issues of shares
The Company currently has two HMRC-approved employee share option schemes under which options to subscribe for shares may be granted;
the 2004 Ricardo plc Executive Share Option Plan (the “2004 Plan”) and the Ricardo plc 2000 Savings Related Share Option Scheme (the “SAYE
Scheme”). During the year ended 30 June 2007 no options over shares were exercised and 50,000 options lapsed under the previous 1994 Share
Option Scheme (the “1994 Scheme”). Options over 125,000 shares were also granted under the 2004 Plan with an exercise price of 300.0p and
366.5p and which are exercisable between 2009 and 2017. No options were granted under the SAYE Scheme. Under this scheme no options
over shares were exercised and no options lapsed during the year. 

The number of shares subject to options, the periods in which they were granted and the periods in which they may be exercised are given
below:

Exercise price Exercise 2007 2006
Calendar year of grant Scheme Pence Period Numbers Numbers

2000 SAYE Scheme 416.0 2004-2008 883 883
2001 1994 Scheme 381.0 2004-2011 – 50,000
2002 SAYE Scheme 233.4 2005-2010 165,106 165,106
2004 1994 Scheme 185.0 2007-2014 45,000 45,000
2004 1994 Scheme 186.5 2007-2014 100,000 100,000
2005 2004 Plan 267.5 2008-2015 140,000 140,000
2006 2004 Plan 307.0 2009-2016 27,761 27,761
2006 2004 Plan 300.0 2009-2016 75,000 –
2007 2004 Plan 366.5 2010-2017 50,000 –

603,750 528,750

Under the Group’s LTIP, awards may be made to beneficiaries under the scheme which may result in the issue of up to 676,181 ordinary shares
vesting by 30 June 2009.
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27 Share based payments
2007 2006

Group £m £m

Cost of equity-settled share-based payments in the period 0.5 0.3

Equity-settled Executive Share Options
The Group plans include the 2004 Plan and the 1994 Scheme, which are described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and provide for an
exercise price equal to the average quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is generally three
years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, options are normally
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.

Movements in Executive Share Options
2007 2006

Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise

Options price Options price

Outstanding at beginning of year 362,761 254p 619,000 207p
Granted during the year 125,000 327p 27,761 307p
Forfeited during the year (50,000) 381p (115,000) 220p
Exercised during the year – – (169,000) 114p

Outstanding at the end of the year 437,761 260p 362,761 254p

Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

There were no Executive Share Options exercised in the year. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options
exercised during the year ended 30 June 2006 was 288p. The options outstanding at 30 June 2007 had a weighted average exercise of 260p
(2006: 254p) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.1 years (2006: 8.1 years).

For those options granted after 7 November 2002 for which the performance criteria are expected to be met, the Black Scholes model has been
used to calculate the charge to the income statement. The inputs into the model are as follows:

2007 2006

Number of employees 5 3
Shares under option 392,761 267,761
Weighted average option price nil nil
Weighted average exercise price 268p 241p
Expected volatility 32% 32%
Expected life from date of grant 5 yrs 5 yrs
Risk free rate 4% 4%
Dividend yield 3.7% 3.7%
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting nil nil
Expectations of meeting performance criteria 98% 98%
Weighted average fair value per option 59p 58p

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the five years preceding the date of
grant. The expected life used in the model is based on management’s best estimate, taking into account the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions, and behavioural considerations.
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Equity-settled Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
The current LTIP is described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Awards are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the awards
are given.

2007 2006
Shares Shares

allocated allocated

Outstanding at beginning of year 810,005 798,864
Provisionally awarded during the year 207,367 351,182
Forfeited during the year (169,428) (34,657)
Expired during the year (144,375) (289,492)
Vested during the year (216,811) (15,892)

Outstanding at the end of the year 486,758 810,005

Shares allocated and vested in the year of 216,811 include 189,423 shares vesting for the plan cycle ended 30 June 2007, for which shares were
not yet issued at 30 June 2007.

For the LTIP plan cycles outstanding at the start of the year where the performance criteria are based on the Group’s Total Shareholder Return
(“TSR”) performance relative to the comparator group, as the TSR is dependent on the future market price of shares, the charge to the income
statement has been calculated using the Monte Carlo model, using the following assumptions for the plan cycles commencing in these years:

2007 2006

Number of employees 7 42
Number of shares provisionally awarded 207,367 351,182
Weighted average share price of date of award 297p 301p
Expected volatility 37% 37%
Expected life 2.5 yrs 2.5 yrs
Risk free rate 5.0% 4.3%
Dividend yield 3.5% 3.7%
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting 10% 10%
Fair value per LTIP as a % of a share at date of award 51% 44%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the three financial years preceding the
date of the award.

SAYE Scheme
No options have been granted under this scheme since 7 November 2002 and therefore no charge is required under IFRS 2.

28 Share premium account
Group and Company

£m

At 1 July 2005 12.2
Arising on shares issued in 2006 1.1

At 30 June 2006 13.3
Arising on shares issued in 2007 –

At 30 June 2007 13.3

29 Other reserves
Hedging Merger Translation
Reserve Reserve reserve Total

Group £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2005 – 1.0 0.2 1.2
Movement in year (0.4) – – (0.4)
Exchange adjustments net of tax – – (0.2) (0.2)

At 30 June 2006 (0.4) 1.0 – 0.6
Movement in year 0.4 – – 0.4
Exchange adjustments net of tax – – (1.5) (1.5)

At 30 June 2007 – 1.0 (1.5) (0.5)

The hedging reserve movement is the fair value gain/(loss) on a net investment hedge and is shown in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
It was not shown in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense in the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006.
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Hedging Translation
Reserve reserve Total

Company £m £m £m

At 1 July 2005 – – –
Movement in year (0.4) – (0.4)
Exchange adjustments net of tax – – –

At 30 June 2006 (0.4) – (0.4)
Movement in year 0.4 – 0.4
Exchange adjustments net of tax – (1.1) (1.1)

At 30 June 2007 – (1.1) (1.1)

30 Retained earnings
Group Company

£m £m

At 1 July 2005 10.3 12.2
Profit for the year 12.1 13.7
Actuarial gains on the defined benefit pension scheme 6.7 6.7
Tax on actuarial gains on the defined benefit pension scheme (2.0) (2.0)
Dividends paid (4.6) (4.6)
Value of employee service 0.4 0.3

At 30 June 2006 22.9 26.3
Profit for the year 15.0 5.8
Actuarial gains on the defined benefit pension scheme 4.2 4.2
Tax on actuarial gains on the defined benefit pension scheme (1.7) (1.7)
Dividends paid (4.9) (4.9)
Value of employee service 0.2 0.1

At 30 June 2007 35.7 29.8

The cumulative goodwill relating to acquisitions made prior to 1998, which has been eliminated against reserves, is £12.1m (2006: £12.1m).

The Company has not presented its own income statement as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The Company’s
distributable reserves at 30 June 2007 are £22.0m (2006: £18.5m).

31 Minority Interests
Group £m

At 1 July 2005 0.5
Share of net profit 0.1

At 30 June 2006 0.6
Share of net profit 0.1
Dividend paid to minority shareholding (0.1)
Exchange movements (0.1)

At 30 June 2007 0.5

32 Cash flow from operating activities
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
Profit/(loss) from operations before pensions credit 13.2 12.1 (0.2) (0.9)
Adjustments for:

Share based payments adjustment 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.3
Depreciation and amortisation 8.8 9.0 0.3 0.3

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 22.2 21.4 0.2 (0.3)
Increase in inventory (0.5) – – –
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (9.3) (4.3) 0.2 (0.3)
Increase in inter company balances – – (22.1) (1.9)
Increase in payables 5.9 3.5 0.1 0.6
Increase in provisions – 0.1 – –
Pension payments in excess of pension costs (2.7) (0.7) (2.7) (0.7)

Cash used by operations 15.6 20.0 (24.3) (2.6)
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33 Operating leases
By date of commitments 2007 2006
Group £m £m

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Within one year 2.4 1.1
Between one and five years 6.8 1.2
After five years 18.0 26.0

27.2 28.3

By nature of commitments 2007 2006
Group £m £m

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:
Plant and machinery 16.3 17.0
Land and buildings 10.3 10.7
Other 0.6 0.6

27.2 28.3

34 Contingent Liabilities

The directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities which require separate disclosure under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’.

35 Capital commitments
2007 2006

Group £m £m

Contracts placed for future capital
expenditure not provided for in the financial statements 0.5 0.4

36 Related party transactions

During the year the Company paid administrative expenses of £0.2m (2006: £0.2m) on behalf of the Group’s pension schemes.

37 Post balance sheet events

There have been no events between the balance sheet date and the date of authorisation of the financial statements that qualify as post balance
sheet events under IAS 10 ‘Events after the Balance Sheet Date’.

38 Principal operating subsidiaries

Each subsidiary company operates principally in the country in which it is incorporated, and undertakes technology and strategic consulting.

The Company owns directly(*), or indirectly, 100% of the issued share capital of the following principal operating subsidiaries which are included
in the consolidated accounts:

Incorporated in Great Britain
(and registered in England and Wales)
Ricardo UK Limited*

Incorporated in the USA
Ricardo, Inc.*

Incorporated in Germany
Ricardo GmbH
Ricardo Deutschland GmbH
Ricardo Strategic Consulting GmbH

Incorporated in the Czech Republic
Ricardo Prague S.R.O.

Incorporated in Japan
Ricardo Japan K.K.*

Ricardo, Inc. owns a 55% share in Ricardo MEDA Technical Services, LLC.

Notes to the Financial Statements

Delivering Value Through Innovation & Technology 91

5. Notes [97053]  20/9/07  16:45  Page 91



Company Secretary and Registered Office
David Oglethorpe, BA, ACA
Ricardo plc
Shoreham Technical Centre
Shoreham-by-Sea
West Sussex
BN43 5FG

Ricardo plc company number 222915
Website: www.ricardo.com
A pdf version of the Report and Accounts can be 
downloaded from the Investors page of the website.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Savannah House
3 Ocean Way
Ocean Village
Southampton
SO14 3TJ

Stockbrokers
Hoare Govett Ltd
250 Bishopsgate
London
EC2M 4AA
Tel 020 7678 8000

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London
E14 5JJ

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire
HD8 0LA

Shareholder enquiries
Tel: 0870 162 3131
or from outside the UK: +44 20 8639 3131
Fax: 01484 600911
Email: shareholder.services@capitaregistrars.com 
Website: www.capitaregistrars.com

Financial Advisers
NM Rothschild & Sons
New Court
St Swithin’s Lane
London
EC4P 4DU

Principal Bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
55 Corn Street
Bristol
BS99 7LE

HSBC Bank plc
Global House
High Street
Crawley
West Sussex
RH10 1DL
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